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The CHAIRMAN. The committee will come to order.
This hearing is on the nomination of Elliot L. Richardson, of A [as-

sachusetts, to be Attorney General. Notice of the hearing appeared in
the Congressional Record on MIay 2, 1973. By blue slip. Senator Ken-
nedv and Senator Brooke approved the nomination.

The Chair will recognize you, Senator Kennedy.

STATEMENT OF HON. EDWARD M. KENNEDY, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM MASSACHUSETTS

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
If I ma y, with the indulgence of the committee, I will mention a

story of what is taking place in Washington these days. It is a bit
facetious but, to a great extent, it has truth to it. It is that every
morning all the limousines that are assigned to members of the Cabinet
travel out to Elliot Richardson's house and see which limousine he
gets into. This has truth to it becau. e Secretary Richardson has shown,
over a really distinguished career, from his days at Harvard College
and the Harvard Law School in hi. pursuit of the study of law, a very
extraordinary ability and, of course, an unmatched integrity. From
the time that he first servcd President Eisenhower as Assi ,tait Secre-
tary of HEW and his service to a distinguished Senator, Leverett
Saltonstall, to the time he was called upon by the people of Mias-
saehusetts as Lieutenant Governor and as attorney general, and later
as Under Secretary of State and Secretary of HEW and Secretary of
Defense, and now with the confidence of the President as the designate
as Attorney General, his career has been a distinguished one.

The citizens of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts have expressed
their support and confidence when he has gone to them to seek public
support and public confidence, and their judgment has been shared



by manyv of those w'Iho have been in the highe-t poitions of govern-
ment in the national -cene. -o I am indeed proud to present a man of
such ability ind fundamental integrity as the SecretarY of Defense,
Elliot Riclardson, and look forward to the exchange that he will have
here this morning as thi5 committee inquires into matters of greAt
importtince.

He understands that this committee has explored issues with other
nominees and pursued its responsibility in a full and complete manier.
and I am completely -atisfied that he recognizes our responsibility in
this area and welcomes it. So it is really a great plea ure for me to ha(Ve
the opportunity as the Senator from the State to present a person that
M\Jassachusetts is indeed proud of.

The CHAIRMAN. Thank you.
Senator Brooke.

STATEMENT OF HON. EDWARD M. BROOKE, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM MASSACHUSETTS

Senator BROOKE. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I
am indeed pleased to present Elliot L. Richardson as the nominee for
the high position of Attorney General of the United States.

I will not repeat all that my senior colleague has said about Elliot
Richardson. Suffice it to say that he has the legal scholarship. He was
editor in chief of the Harvard Law Review. He practiced law in one of
the most prestigious law firms in the Commonwealth of \ [assachu-
setts, Ropes & Gray. He has served, as has been said, as Lieutenant
Governor, and as my successor as attorney general of Massachusetts.
He has had legislative experience serving in the office of the distin-
guished Leverett Saltonstall. He served with many of you here for
many years. He has served in many high places in government, in
State and in Federal Government. This is the fourth time that I have
had the high privilege of introducing him to committees of the Senate
for his confirmation: first before the Foreign Relations Committee
when he was named as Under Secretary of State, and before the con-
mittees for HEW, the Defense Department, and now, of course, for
the position as Attorney General.

Elliot Richardson comes before you at a lime of crisis in confidence
in our Government and he is a man not only who has the legal scholar-
ship and the legal ability, as he has proved, but he has the integrity
and he has independence of judgment. The times call for that integrity.
The times demand that independence of judgment.
He has already stated before the Nation his intentions in this very

serious matter which will be gix en high priority as the Attorney Gen-
eral of the Nation. 1 think, in his testimony before you, you will be
convinced not only is he uniquely equipped by academic training and
by legal experience to take this position at this time but also because
of his independent judna,'ut.

The times also call for a toughness of mind and Elliot possesses that
toughness of mind. He ha, been called a man for all occasions. There
is certainly no occasion that is, more im)ortant to our Nation's history
than the occasion which l)reents itself at this time and over whichl
he will have to exercise independent judgment.



So it is my l)leasure and honor that I introduce him to you with full
confidence in his abilit v t) ,s'rve his Nation in this important 1)ost at
this important time.

I thank you, ?0r. Chairman and members of the committee.
The CHAIRMAN. Will you stand up, p1leae, sir?
Do you solemnly swear that the testimionv von are about to

give is the trath, the whole truth, and nothing iba the truth, so hel l)
you God?

uc:.0etarV RICHARDSON. I do.
The (CHAIRMAN.Mr. Richardson, you have a biograplhy there before

, ou. If it is correct, we will place it in the record.

TESTIMONY OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON, SECRETARY OF DEFENSE,
NOMINEE TO BE ATTORNEY GENERAL

Secretary RICHARD-uSO,. I do not see it here, but I understand one
la, been furnished to the committee.

Yes, Mr. Chairman, this is coTect-a correct biographical summary.
The CHAIRMAN. It will be placed in the record.
[The biographical data referred to follows:]

ELLIOT LiE RICHARDSON

Born: July 20, 1920, Bo()ton, Mas.
Legal residence: Massachusetts.
Marital status: married; three children.
Education:

1937-41, Harvard College, Cambridge, \Ia,s. A.B. degree, cum laude.
1941-42 Harvard Law School.
1946-47 LL.B., cum laude.

Bar: 1950, Massachusetts.
Militarv Service: August 1942-December 1945, (active duty) U.S. Army,

first Lieutenant.
1,mployment:

October 1947-July 1948, law clerk to Judge Learned Hand, U.S. Court of
Appeals, New York City.

July 1948-July 1949, law clerk to A-qociate Justice of the Supreme Court,
Felix Frankfurter.

1949-53, Ropes, Gray, Best, Coolidge & Rugg; Boston, Mass., Associate.
1953-54, Assistant clerk to Senator Leverett Saltonstall of Ma- achli-ett-.
1.7.5-56, Assistant to Gov. Christian A. Herter, of Massachusetts.
1957-1959, Assistant Secretary for Legislation, Department of Health,

Education and Welfare, Washington, D.C.; April to Jhly 1958, Acting
Secretary.

1959-61, Department of Justice, U.S. attorney, di.triet of Massachusetts.
1961, 1963, and 1964, Rope, & (Gray, Boston, Mass., attrnev; partner.
1964-67, Lieutenant Governor of the State of Masachuset t.
1967-69, attorney general for the State of Masachuett .
1969-70, Under Secretary of State, Department of State.
1970-February 1973, Secretary of Health, Education, and Welfare.
February 1973 to l)resent, Secretary of Defense.

Office: Pentagon, Washington, D.C. 20301 (room 3E830).
Home: 1100 Crest Lane, McLean, Va. 22010; and 56 Sargent Crossway, Brook-

line, M'-.
The CHAIRMIAN. Did you ever hear of the Watergate affair?[Laughter.]
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, \Ir. Chairman.
The CHAIRMAN. All right. Now, if you are Attorney General, what

are you going to do about it? [Laughter.]



Secretary RICHARDSON. If, Mr. Chairman. I am confirmed by the
Senate of the United State--and I am deeply conscious of the griavit v
of that responsibility at this time and, I may add, deeply grateful, al>o,
for the generous words that have just been uttered by both the very
distinguished Senator- of my native State-I would undertake that
responsibility determined to pursue the truth wherever it may lead. I
have examined my conscience on that score. I am satisfied that 1 am
prepared to do that without fear or favor, and with regard solely to
the public interest.

The CHAIRMAN. What about a special prosecutor?
Secretary RICHARDSON. I believe, AMr. Chairman and members (f

the committee, that in the interest, first of all, of vesting the active
direction of these investigations and pro..ecutions in the hands of the
most capable possible person, and in the interest, also, of creating the
maximum possible degree of public confidence in the integrity of the
process, I should designate a highly qualified and experienced individ-
ual of high character and broad experience for the role of special
prosecutor in the Watergate case and related matters.

The CHAIRMAN. Now, do you expect the Judiciary Committee of
the Senate to check this individual?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I think it would be
desirable in order to establish as firm a basis of confidence as possible,
that the individual whom I select be of the character and qualifications
I just mentioned; and that he appear before this committee, if invited
to appear, to be interrogated at whatever length the committee felt
appropriate in order to satisfy itself that he is such a person.

The CHAIRMAN. Then, if he did not get the endorsement of the
committee, of course, he would not erwe, would he?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No. I would feel that the very purpose of
his selection insofar as it was designed to create confidence in the
integrity of the investigative and probative process would in that case
have been demonstrated not to be fulfilled. I would, therefore, feel
obliged to select another individual.

Perhaps, Mr. Chairman, however, it would be useful at this point
if I described the process that I am pursuing in seeking such an
individual, because I firmly believe that by the time that proce,, has
been completed and the individual has been named, he will be a person
who, after being interrogated by this committee, will satisfy it that he
is a man of great probity, character, courage, and ability.

Since it became clear to me that the right cour-e would be to name a
special prosecutor, I have been seeking recommendations for t his in(i-
vidual from a great many sources. I have consulted the president of
the American Bar Association and asked him to submit ntmes,. which
he has done. We have consulted also the president of the American
College of Trial Lawyers and other organizations of the bar, judges,
prosecuting attorneys, and practicing lawyers. Suggestions have come
to me from Members of the Senate and the I-louse and from varliols
individuals in private life. Altogether, to date, some 80 to 100 indivi d-
uals have been consulted and a large number of names has ],co-

z'-embled. There is a good deal of overlap among the~e names.
iMvy contemplated next step, which I hope to be able to take v ery

soon, is to draw up a list in order of priority among the~e individual.>,
to submit that lit for further comment to the lresident of the Amer-
lcan Bar Association, to the president of the American College of Trial



0

Lawyers, ail t) certain other individuals, ainonu, whom I would expect
to include, with his permission, the former Chief Jiitice, Earl Warren.
I would ask them for their further comment on these indiViduask, and
I woulh then adopt an order in which to proceed to ask these individ-
uals to accept what will uidoubtedly be a ry demanding rIpolibil-
itv. On that ba-is, I would .elect the first ind'ividual on the list who is
willing to undertake the responsibility and lien announce the name
and request that this committee invite him to be heard.

The CHAIRMAN. Then if the committee decided to report that name
to the Senate for a resolution of the sense of the Senate that he qualifies-,
You wouhl favor that course, too, would you not?

Secretar, RICHARDSON. I would welcome that course, 'Mr. Chairmn.
The CHAIRMAN. In fact, then, it is really the Senate's problem, is it

not?
Secretary RICHAROSON. In the sense that the Senate would be

exercising its own independent judgment a, to his qualities and
qualifications, and in the sense also that if the Senate should not concur
in this recommendation, I would respect that judgment and feel
obligated to pose another s;election.

The CHAIRMAN. Senator Ervin?
Senator ERVIN. Senator Stevenson of Illinois has introduced a

resolution which would request you to appoint an independent
special prosecutor. This resolution recites that in order to have a
special prosecutor with the desirable independence, you should confer
upon the special prosecutor these powers: First, final authority over
questions of convening and conducting proceedings before grand
juries, subpenaing witnesses, initiating prosecutions, framing indict-
ments, and seeking in court grants and immunity from prosecution for
wittnesse .

Would you confer upon a special prosecutor such power?
Secretary RICHARDSON. I would expect, Senator Ervin, to delegate

to him responsibility for the investigation and prosecution of the
Watergate case and related matters. Exactly what the related matters
are would have to be left open in order to delegate to him specifically
responsibility for things that may prove to be related but as to whicl
neither he nor I would have information at the outset.

My understanding of the law is that the Attorney General must
retain ultimate responsibility for all matters falling within the juris-
diction of his department. I would expect to do that. Indeed, it would
not seem to me to serve the primary purpose of my designation as
Attorney General at this stage if I did not do so.

On the other hand, in selecting a special prosecutor of the caliber I
have tried briefly to sketch, I would be selecting an individual in whom
I had total confidence and I would make clear to him that he was
exercising, con-istent only with my ultimate responsibility as Attorney
General, independent authority to take the necessary action.

Senator ERVIN. I do not believe that this would result in the inde-
pendence of the special prosecutor. It might tempt Congress to follow
the precedent that it adopted in respect to the Teapot Dome matter
when it took the entire matter out of the hands of the Department of
Justice and put it in a special prosecutor nominated by the President
subject to Senate confirmation.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think it is a question, Senator Ervin, for
this committee and the Senate to consider whether the course I have



described is on balance wi>er than the alternative of creating, in effect,
a wholly independent agency. It is not clear to me how >11(h all ageicv
would function. It is unclear in the first in>tance exactly what the -cope
of responsibility would be and what would be the interrelation-hip
between an area of investigation conferred by law upon that individual
and other matters later emerging. I believe he should be in a position
where, as an individual with the title, I would exp ect, of Special A>-
sistant Attorney General, he could call upon the full resources of the
Department of Justice: and he could, thereby, do the job better than
could be done if, in effect, a new agency were created, with all the
problems of staffing and jurisdiction that that would entail. In any
event, from my own standpoint, the position of Attorney General
mandatorily requires the acceptance of ultimate responsibility. I would
expect, in beino willing to delegate re.-ponsibility to a Specizl Asit ant
Attorney General for this purpose, not only to have confidence in him
but to back him up, and I would hope that tlat combination-both
whatever confidence the Semte may have in my own integrity plus
its confidence in the integrity of the individual given authority by
me-would prove sufficint. If in the wisdom of the Sonte it is
determined that this combination is not sufficient, I would feel tht
no sufficient purpose woulh be served by uny becoming Attorney
General to justify my resignation as Secretary of Defense.

Senator ERVIN. Well, I will just read and you can make comments
to the extent you wish to on the other things which Senator Stevenion '<
resolution contemplates as essential to the independence of the special
prosecutor. He says the special prosecutor should have final authority
over the selection of an adequate staff of attorneys; investigators and
other personnel answerable only to himself; that he should have
assurance that the investigatory; and other resources of the Depart-
ment of Justice and funds to defray all expenes incurred in connection
with the activities of the special prosecutor will remain available for
the time necessary to complete the invetigation and prosecute any
offenders.

He should have assurance that he would not be subject to removal
from his position except for malfeasance in office.

He should receive assurance that he will enjoy full access to relevant
documents and personnel of the Department of Justice and all other
officials and agencies of the exectitive branch, and a-,urance that the
-pecial prosecutor can freely, and upon their reque-t, appear before,
consult with, and cooperate in other re- pects with all congressional
committees having jurisdiction over any aspect of the 4pecial prose-
cutor's activities.

Would you care to comment on any of those? I would be glad to
have you do so.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I believe that the special prosecutor should
have all of the responsibility and all of the tupport that is set forth
in that series of propositions in Senator Stevenson's resolution. The
one thing that does seem to me important to maintain, as I have said,
is the proposition that the Attorney General retains ultimate respon-
sibility. But in practice, the individual chosen would have to be a
person of such stature, character, courage and inteogrity that I would,
in the first instance, want to give him the respoibiility, for this
investigation and he should undertake that job only with that undcr-
standing. Neverthele->, inofar as he would be acting under a Depart-



ment appointment, he should have also whatevir reinforcement I can
give b retaining ultimate responsibility for whatever he does.

Seator EiNv.,. I would like to ask ' ou a few questions with reference
to immiunity of witnesses. As yot undoubtedly know, under the
('on,4ituti toll, it is the duty of the Fedceral procemlltuor\ alithotie, to
prosecute in the Federal .o>irts person, who are c'harg'e(l with .'rime1s
for the purpose of determining their guilt and for the purpose of ,iia-
bling the court to iml)ose punishment on those who are convicte(d.

Also, pursuant to its constitutional authority, Congre,, hba, e tab-
lilie(d a congressiolal committee-the Senate Sclect Conmmittee on
Presidential Acli\iti(s, Presidential ('aunpaign Activiti--\which hats
authority to conduct an investigation to determine whether exsting
laws are adequate to cope \witli lhings that happened \N-hich may be
revealed by testimony before the committee or for the purpoe of
determining \hether these law s should be strengthened or new la\-
should be eniacted. As I see it, the authority of the courts to deternime,
gulilt an( innocence and the authority of the Senate committee as an
arm of the Senate to determine whether new lawNs should be (nated
and to conduct the necessary investigation to shed light on that
subject are coequal.

The committee has to have witnesses and section 6002 of title 18 of
the United States Code provides that: "Whenever a witness refuses on
the basis of his privilege against self-incrimination, to testifv or
provide other information in a proceeding before"-and I leave ourt
some agencies not concerned- "either House of Congress, a joint
committee of the two Houses, or a committee or subcommittee- of
either House, and the person presiding over the proceeding corn-
municates to the witness an order issued un(ler this part, the witness
may not refuse to comply w ith the order on the basis of his privilege,
against self-incrimination--but no testimony or other information
compelled under the order (or any information directly or indirectly
derived from iuch testimony or other information) may be u-ed
against the witness in any criminal case, except a prosecution for
perjury, giving a false statement, or otherwise failing to comply w ith
the order."

As I construe the statute, if the person presiding over a congres-
sional committee, conducting an authorized investigation, communi-
cates to a NN-itness who pleads the fifth amendment, an order, which I
wiill call attention to in just a moment, then the witness has to testify,
and neither the evidence he gives before the congressional committee
nor the fruits thereof can be used against him in the prosecution of a
criminal case except for perjury in these excepted instances.

As I construe the statute further, the g-ranting of the immunity by
a congressional committee by this statute does not prevent the
Department of Justice or the District Attorncy from prosecuting the
witness on the basis of any information he has outside of what the
witness communicates to the congressional committee. In other words,
the immunity is a use immunity and not an immunity from prosecu-
tion. So it would not handicap the Department of Justice in prosecuting
the criminal cae subsequently against that witiness.

The order that i referred to in section 6002 is set forth in section
6005 of title 18 of the United States Code and it provides as follows:
"(a) In the case of any indixidual who has been or may be called to
testify or provide other information in any proceeding before either



House of (oni're.- or iny committee or any -ubcoiMuittee of citlher
House or any Joint committee of the two Houses, a U.S. (i,Iri(t cout
liall i-,iie in accordan-ce with subsection (b) of this section. upon tle

re(quet of a duly authorized representa tive of the Ito, e of (Con',e-, or
the committee concerned, an order requiring such individual to give
testimony or provide other information which he refu-es to give or
provide on the basis of his privilege against self-incrimination, slch
order to become effective as provided in section 6002 of this part."

Then, reading subsection (b)-I am going to leave out the part
under the (1) becaue it. i not relevant to my purpose-"(b) Before
issuing an order under subsection (a) of this ection, a U.S. district
court, shall find that in the cae of a proceeding before a committee
or a subcommittee of either House of Congress or a joint committee
of both Houses, the reqie,t for such an order has been approved by an
affirmative vote of two-thirds of the members of the full committee."

Then, the statute provide,: "Ten days or more prior to the day upon
which the request for such an order was made, the Attorney General
will serve with a notice of intention to request the order." And (c),
"Upon application to the Attorney General, the U.S. district court
shall defer the issuance of any order under subsection (a) of this
section for such period not longer than 20 days from the day of the
re(uest for such order as the Attorney General may specify."

Now, my interpretation of that section is this: It is the mandatory
dut of the district judge to issue this order if he finds that two
conditions exist. The first is that two-thirds of the members of the
congressional committee have voted to request the immunity; and
second, that the congressional committee has notified the Attorney
General-given him notice of their intention to apply to the district
court for such order. Then it is the mandatory duty of the district
judge to grant that request for order for immunity subject only to
the fact that the Attornoy General can request him to delay acting
on it for an additional period not to exceed 20 days.
As I construe this statute, there is no discretion reposed in the

district judge whatever. He has to issue the order ultimately; and
there is no discretion reposed in the Attorney General except to tell
the committee that it ought not to request it. lie cannot veto the
action of the committee.

I would like to know what the attitude of the Department of
Justice in cases where the Senate Select Committee on Presidential
Campaign Activities has acted would be in respect to waiving this
10-day notice and the 20-day period of possible delay?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Senator Ervin, you have touched on what
could be an area of considerable difficulty not only in the context of
granting immunity, but in general in terms of indictment and sub-
sequent trial as between the responsibilities and jurisdiction of 'your
committee on the one side and the Department of Justice, special
prosecutor, and U.S. attorneys, with law enforcement responsibilities,
on the other. The only possible way to achieve a fair and constructive
outcome, it seems to me, is through full and fair communication
between the special prosecutor and you and the ranking member of
your committee.

Now, it would give me considerable trouble and I think it ought to
give the special prosecutor considerable trouble if you proceeded



under .ection 6002, which doe, not even contin a notice provision,
which I take it you could do if the withes.; were willing to testify
subject to the grout of immunitv. I take it \-ou onhy reach section
6005 if the witnes,, notwithstanding an offer of immunity, hi, refused
to testifv so that you then need to go to court and get an order direct-
ing him to testify.

It would give ie (on.ie'able p)roblemn ir tl e committee xxre to
l)roceed withQul in ,v notice to the sl)ecizl l)rose..titor unider sction 6002
even if the witnes were willing. Under section 6005, the ony\ question
you have asked me is with respect to (')1i re,-iuu the time involved
anl asd to that, itice I \ ould expoct to itll on the special proscitor
in the whole matter of grants and immiit\y so far as the Department
of Justice is concerned, I would rely on him on this que tion a]ko.

Senator ERvIN. You dto not mean that yoii think th I the committee
ought to give a notice to the ])ro-)eu;tor or the Attorney General that
on a certain day, it is going to vote on the question of" whether t\\ o-
thirds of its members want to make the request of the district judge?

Secrctnrv RICHARDSON. Well, I (o not think it needs to be 10 dz'ys.
I think there ought to be notice.

You made the point earlier, Senator Ervin, that, since section 6002
says that the informtion ma1v not be used in the 1)rosecution of the
indtividual, this would not hamper lrosecution, because the prosecu-
tion could use information to the same effect derived from some other
source.

If I were defensf, counsel for an individual in that itnation, I would
endeavor mightily to show that the Government's evidence was
tainted by the coincidence that the same information will be given to a
congressional committee and that it could not legitimately be used.
This kind of 1)roblem arises often with respect to soure. of evidence
and I do not believe, therefore, that it would be deirable for one hand
not to let the other know what it was doing with respect to an action
that could have the consequen-e of immunizing an individual against
prosecution.

Senator ERVIN. We hax e tried thus far to cooperate with the
Department of Justice. The Department of Justice has mani'eted a
willingness to waive these requirements in the case of insignificant
witnesses, but has informed us that it will not waive the 30 days
notice in the case of two witnesses that we consider very significant.
And as I construe this statute, the only requirement i, that txxwo-thirds
of the committee iall vote to reque.,t the order and it shall appeal to
the court at 10 days notice to the Attorney General that they are
going to apl)ly for the order. Then it is the mandatory duty of the
judge to is.,ue the order subject only to the fact that the Attorney
General can delay the entry of the order for 30 days. In other words,
this statute gives the Attorney General only power to obstruct the
work of the committee and to postl)one the committee's access to this
witness for 30 days.

Secretary RIcHARDSON. To be sure, Senator. But what is involved
here could be a very serious )roblem with respect to a given individual.
Suppose that a special prosecutor believed that this witness, if named
as a defendant in an indictment as a co-conspirator, would testify on
the understanding that his willingness to testify would be taken into
consideration at the point of disposition of the case, and that it was i



therefore, not necessary to immunize that person from prosecution. If
in the meanwhile, the committee, in order to obtain his testimony,
had immunized him, the practical possibility then of proceeding
against him in a criminal case could well be foreclosed.

In the circumstances, therefore, it seems to me that, first of all,
there should, of course, be cooperation, but that the question of
whether or not in that case to delay under the statute is a question
that the special prosecutor should have the opportuniVT to consider
in the event that a grand jury might be on the point of indicting the
given individual in the meanwhile.

Senator ERVIN. But under the statute as I construe it, even if the
prosecutor entertained that opinion, the only thing he can do is to
obstruct for 30 days-rather, obstruct for 20 days, really-the decision
of the committee to take such action, or for the judge to enter an
order and the committee to take such action as he sees fit. He has no
power to do anything except to delay it.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I appreciate that and I am not trying to
anticipate in advance what the special prosecutor might decide to do.
I am merely calling attention to what seem to me to be significant
issues in this situation and to say to you that I do not believe that I
can appropriately and in advance, on behalf of an unnamed individual,
not yet vested with this responsibility, say in blank that he would not
under any circumstances invoke whatever powers of delay are per-
mitted by this statute.

Senator ERVIN. Of course, the power is not given by the law to the
unnamed prosecutor. The power is given to the Attorney General.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes; but we are assuming for this purpose
that I would have delegated to him responsibilities involving im-
munization of witnesses from the standpoint of the Department of
Justice.

Senator ERVIN. Well, frankly, the Department of Justice has had
this matter ever since the morning of the 18th day of June of last year
and I think it is more important to this country for this whole subject
to be clarified, without any of the limitations and restrictions that
apply to the court which can only receive evidence which tends to
prove or disprove the allegations in a bill of indictment, than it is for
one or two or three people to go to jail. That is my attitude toward the
matter. I think that is more important and I hope we will get coop-
eration. For the life of me, I cannot understand why we can get a
waiver of the time limitation in respect to insignificant witnesses but
are unable to get a waiver of the time limitation with respect to
witnesses who according to the information we have are of great
importance.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I can only say that in general, Senator, as
I am sure you are perhaps better aware than I, prosecutors do not like
to immunize witnesses from whom they can get the same testimony in
some other way if they can also be named, prosecuted, and sentenced.

Senator ERVIN. My point does not deal with immunization of
witnesses by prosecutors, but only with the use of immunity for a
congressional committee.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes; but there is a practical problem, as I
said earlier, and I think it is a serious practical problem, that if an
individual has been immunized by a congressional committee it may



lie imipossible to show that he Governmeit has obtained tlhat infor-
mation in ,OIe other way. The imnli ]idual at t lIat point has no incen-
tixe at all to be a Governmient witne-s in the act al trial of the case,
because as far as he is (.omed, , he has gi veii iniformation and now
the Government, in effect, has no basis on which it could possibly
convict him of :III vtling.

Senator ERVIN. I (10 not see that the difficult.v is so great, becaio
this would prevent the Government in the criiinial action merely
from presenting the testiiony that the witness gives before the con-
g'essional committee and ich evidence as it g-es as a result of that
information. If they have wvitnesse., who know of their own knowledge,
independent of these iiiatters, facts which show the guilt of the witness
who has been immunized by the congressional committee, there is no
problem at all.

Secretary RICHAimso-\. And the hooker in that, Senator, of course,
is the word "merely." The Government could get the information by
immunizing him, perhaps, too, in which case there would be no prob-
lem as to who did it, the committee or the prosecution. But the
Government's position niay be, we can get this testimony from this
man as a witne-, without immunizing him at all if we name him as a
defendant and proceed against him.

He may be willing to te,tifv solely in the hope that if he is a coopera-
tive witness the judge at the point, of disposition will take that into
account in sentcin '. In that event, the Government, if left to itself,
would not immunize the witne-s at all. If he has been immunized, then
he has, in effect, li,,.losed the information under circumstances inwhich the Government may in effect be barred from proceeding against
him.

Senator ERVIN. But the executive branch of the Government-
that is, the Department of Justice and Attonie' General-cannot
keep the commit tee from getting this immunization order from the
judge. All it can do is delay it for a few day. Frankly, I think it is
e.-ential for the S;enate committee to proceed with dispatch on this
and I am not willing-I am speaking just a; one individual member
of the select committee-I a~n not willing for us to postpone this until
the Department of Justic'e has proceeded with all of its activities. The
last lingering echo of Gabriel's horn may tremble into ultimate silence
before that i-z done because justice often travels on leaden feet.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Senator, I think we have been dealing per-
haps a little bit too much in abstractions. I am not Attorney General.
I have no direct authority over the Department of Justice. If I am
confirmed and take office and appoint the special prosecutor I would
delegate responsibilitie, to him in this area and at that point he would
be dealing with yoti on this issue. I am sure that he would want to be
as cooperative a, possible and I cannot, obviously, predict what his
position would be in a particular situation.

Senator ERVIN. Well, I hope we get good cooperation because my
observation and tudv of history convinces me that the Government
functions much better when its several branches pour a little oil of
helpfulness and cooperation on the joints of the law and the joints of
the Constitution. I hope that this will occur after your confirmation as
Attorneyv General.

Se.retarv RICHARDSON. I fully share that view, Senator Ervin, and
in this particular situation, I xw-ould fully agree, also, that there i a



larger l)ublic interest at take than that simply of indicting, prosecut-
ing, and sentencinog any given individual.

Senator HART. Mr. Secretary, welcome to the committee, and con-
gratulations, I suppose, are in order.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Thank you, Senator iart. I can understand
your doubt on that question.

Senator HART. I Suppose I view it. with mixed feelings.
The eloquent testimony provided us by our two colleagues from

Massachusetts with respect to your ability and integrity, I am sure, is
richly earned. Though we have never been closely associated, every-
one I know who has associated with you speaks with equal eloquence
as to your integrity and your legal knowledge. and at least this member
of the committee is not shaken by your earlier association with such
libertarians as Learned Hand and Felix Frankfurter. [Laughter.]

Secretary RICHARDSON. They have come to be regarded as "con-
servatives" with respect to judicial philosophy in the course of time
and, whatever the applicability of the label, it is certainly true that my
own viewpoint was heavily influenced by their teaching.

Senator HART. I am sure the hearings will deal with various aspects
of the Department of Justice and the fashion in which you would an-
ticipate directing it, but as our chairman indicated there is a looming
preoccupation with one feature and that, I take it, is the thing we
should first address ourselves to: the Watergate.

I think that until we have an agreement on the ground rules eS-
tablishing the independence of this special prosecutor we ought not to
move to confirmation.

Normally, I hesitate putting any such kind of precondition on any
nomination because it suggests a lack of confidence in the nominee. I
think I voted to advise and consent to every Cabinet nomination that
has come before this committee, whoever the President, after having
satisfied myself as to the intelligence and integrity of the nominee. I
have consistently taken the position that the President is charged with
the execution of the laws and if he says this is the man I need, that is
the man he should have. But thi-, indeed, is not the normal moment.
We are concerned with more than giving a President his man. We are
concerned with giving the people a reason to believe that all the facts
of Watergate and its associated events will be made public. We are
concerned with restoring public confidence in the government neces-
sary to make our system work and, if possible, in the administration
currently in office.

If the polls are correct, more than 50 percent of Americans believe
the President's ability to govern has been damaged as a result of
Watergate. Regardless of how one views the policies and the programs
of this administration, one should not pretend that 3, years of govern-
ment drift would be a very good thing. Under these circumstances,
we face a sort of Hobson's choice. If we are to regain the faith of the
public, an unfettered investigation of Watergate must be pursued,
even with the knowledge that such an investigation could develop
information that would damage the confidence of the public, the
confidence that we seek to restore. That is one reason we call our
system fragile. It is one of the many things that those who took part
in Watergate never understood.



But we must press ahead with this development of the facts and in a
way in which the public will believe that it is being done and ul-
timatelv has been done. So appearance becomes as important as facts
and appearance requires that the investigation be insulated as much
as possible from any hint of coverup through control by thiS admninis-
tration, and from an ' tainted partisanship through influence from the
democratically controlled Congress, too.

Now it is easier to call for than to insure the independence of a
prosecutor, but certain steps can be taken toward that end, and just
as did Senator Ervin, I would like to visit with you on certain of the
means that seem to me likely to achieve that.

You said that you would have to have ultimate responsibility for the
action of this independent prosecutor, final responsibilit'. How can he
have that independence if you have the final responsibility for an
investigation that involves your administration?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think the answer to that, Senator Hart,
rests first upon the terms of the responsibility delegated to the inde-
pendent prosecutor; second, on the confidence that is placed in his
own character and integrity; third, on whatever confidence this
committee and the American people feel is appropriately placed
in my assurances that he will be acting independently. The final
clause of the insurance policy, I suppose, is the awarenes that having
undertaken solemn obligations as Attorney General, having ,elected
an individual possessing the characteristics that I know we would
all want to see in a special prosecutor, having delegated to him a
defined area of responsibility, if then and despite all of this, I as
Attorney General should in any way exercise to the slightet degree
any improper influence in the course of this handling of these matters,
it would be understood and should be understood that he would im-
mediately and publicly make that known. I cannot imagine a person
of the kind that I am presently seeking undertaking thi responsibility
without having this kind of assurance and without being the kind of
person who would so act.

Senator HART. But that is to say that he can air disputes in public,
which is sort of like saying we will have oversight from the under-
ground, we will surface it, and we will be back in the daily news-
papers-and doing what to the confidence of the people of the country
with respect to the pursuit of truth?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Senator, I feel very clear that this is not a
situation in which it is practical to create what is in effect a separate
statutory agency.

Senator HART. Mr. Secretary, I will say that I tend to reject that
approach, too. I prefer to see the assistant in the Justice Department,
but I want to see him there without final decision in your hands.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, I do not think you can have it both
ways, with due respect, Senator Hart. The law requires that the
Attorney General have ultimate responsibility.

Senator HART. President Nixon just publicly commended Attorney
General Kleindienst for recusing himself in the matter of so many
personal friends. Why cannot you do that with respect to Watergate?

Secretary RICHARDSON. If I felt, Senator Hart, there were any
basis for my recusing myself or dis .ualifying myself for my responsi-
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bility in this or related matters, it would make no sense for me to be
here.

Senator HART. I think there is both a personal and an institutional
basis for recusing one's self.

Secretary RICHARDSON. In that event, my nomination should be
rejected.

Senator HART. Not at all; indeed, you can permit the special
assistant to function as is the case with an assistant who assumes full
responsibility because the chief recuses himself.

Secretary RICHARDSON. No; I do not think the situation-let me
put it this way. If I were to undertake the attorney generalship on a
basis that made me feel that I could not accept ultimate responsibility
for matters in which the authority to take the necessary action will be
delegated, then it would seem to me that in the circumstances, it
would not be appropriate for me to undertake the Attorney General-
ship at all. It is not simply a matter of needing to have someone in the
position of Attorney General who will mind the store with respect to
all other matters; it is a question of whether or not-

Senator HART. Mr. Secretary, I am not able to hear your answer.
Secretary RICHARDSON. I was trying to think out an answer,

Senator Hart, and I paused on the proposition that if I were suffi-
ciently in this situation with individuals alleged or suspected to be
involved in it in such a way that I would not be in a position and did
not feel that I was in a position to accept ultimate responsibility, then
it would seem to me to serve little purpose at this stage in the history
of the Department of Justice for me to undertake the Attorney
Generalship at all. I think this is a question that is, in effect, before
this committee. I would not wish to go over there without accepting
the responsibilities of the office.

That does not mean that I am not prepared to delegate independent
authority to a special prosecutor. I am and I would. But I feel that as
Attorney General of the United States, I must ultimately be answer-
able for what the Department of Justice does, including being answer-
able for what the special prosecutor does.

Senator HART. The office of the Attorney General i, an important
one to the Nation quite apart from Watergate and I have every reason
to believe, and do believe, that you could bring to that office great
strength and talent. The problem of Watergate, perhaps not equally
important in the long run, is critically important at the moment, and
I believe that it could more effectively be resolved by a special assist-
ant whose decisions would be final with respect to that one subject.
That is my opinion, my point, my concern.

I do not know to what extent you have worked with some of the
individuals in the White House during the period you were in HEW;
certainly to some extent on policy, on budget. I am not suggesting
that you know Mr. Maridan or Mr. Mitchell as closely as Mr. Klein-
dienst, did, but they are not unknown to you. But regardless of the
personal relationships which might be the basis for a decision to recuse,
you will become the head of the Department of Justice by appointment
of the President, which Department would be investigating itself,
in the final judgment, if you retain final judgment. This is the hangup.
It is for that reason that I suggest that you would be institutionally
suspect or that there is institutional grounds for recusing.



If the speeizil pro,e 1or doe, not have the 1ltin e say with rep1, ecl
to Watergate, why should he take thlie job or N\ 11v should vou appoilt

ec('etary RICHAi)SON. It is a qles,,tlii, I think, Senator Hart,
of the def'nition of a respotisibility exercis(,(I bY soi eone to whom
independent nuthor lv to do a job 1 hee i delegaited, versus, ill ffecl ,
the creation of ,it nation in which I a, Attorney General would from
the outset be sayingo I abdicate all respoiisibi litv in tl-i matter. Tml1
I would not be prepared to (1o. On the other hamd, I would be prepared
and would intend to give the individual selectedt a, special prosecutor
tie authority to (1o the job given to him. The confidence of the Senale
and the public that he wo ild (to that and that he had that power
would have to re-t, as far a, I am concerned, on whatever confidence
it placed in me on the omie side and beyond that, and more especially,
the confidence it placed in him.

Senator HART. If we cain place ourselves-and we kid ourselves
thinking that we do it v well sometimes-but if we can place
ourselves in the shoes of the public of this country: suppose that you
see it differently from the special prosecutor on some a-pect of the
conduct of Watergate, and there are bona fides on both sides, in that
situation, how do yon think the public will see it? Who i5 the adminis-
tration's man and who i, their man? Is that not the way the- are
going to look at this thing? And do they not have a right, given the
experiencs we have had, to look at it that way?

Secretar'v RICHARDSON. I have only two comments on that.
in the first, il,>tan(e, I would expect, having delegated responsibility

on the ba-, I have tried to ,iggest, I would not exl)ect, in a matter of
judgmenLt, simply to interpose m own Judgment. The judgment of
the special prosecutor would have to have great momentum for
rel)e( t so far as I was concerned and becau,,e the special prosecutor
would have been given delegated responsibilities, and because he
would be the man dealing from day to daxy with the-e mat te,, he
wx ould for practical )urloses be in a position to (1o what he thought
needed to be done.

The only other comment I have is fhit, of cour-,e, any Attorney
General 1, in one sense of the word, "the administration's man,
having been nominated by the President and serving as ))t of the
administration. In my ow n case, I could be regarded as the "admini.-
tration's man" iinofar as I have been a part of this administration
from the beginning. On the other hand, in the fundamental sense, I
do not regard myself as anyone's man.

Senator IART. lr. Secretary, I am a-, uncomfortable pursuing
that theme as you are. I can testify that I believe you wo,!ld be --our
man. I bux tiat. But thcre are a couple of hundred million l)eol)le
who do not know you and me from Adam's off ox and what are they
going to do? I hax o that responsibility as-, Senator of this committee.

Secretary RICHARD sO. I understand that and I am not trying to
influence the committee's judgment with re.,pect to what course to
pursue with respect to this nomination. I am simpl*N saying to you
that if I felt I could not a(cept the Attorney Generalship except on
a basis which, from the outset, disqualified me from any ultimate
responsibility whatever in these matters, then I should not accept
the appointment at all.



Senator ERVIN [presiding]. There i. a roll call vote on the Snte
floor now. The chairman asked that when we rec'es, I re+,ss the com-
mittee until 3 o'clock. I do not think there would be miieh use in
coming back before then, so the committee will now stand in reces
until 3 o'clock.

[Whereupon, at 12 noon, the committee wvas recessed until 3 p.m.
of the same day.]

AFTERNOON SESSION

Senator HART (presiding). The committee will be in order.
Xr. Secretary, we apologize to you. I am authorized by the chaiir-

man, -Mr. Eastiand, to explain that while he is unable to be here, we
should resume and continue until about 5 o'clock. We will then return
at 10:30 tomorrow morning. The reason for this interruption, as I am
sure you understand, has been a series of votes on the Senate floor.

The chairman also properly commented that he and Senator Ervin
and the Senator from 'Michigan, all Democrats, have had an oppor-
tunity to participate and that, just as soon as possible, opportunity
shoufl be given the minority membership, and I intend that it shall.
Yet our own di-e.ussion, perhaps to the disservice of both of us, was
left hanging in midair at noon.

Let me see if I can wrap it up at least for the time being where which
stood at noon You intend to select and appoint, a special prosecutor
po-;-eed of all of the desirable characteristics, and having done that,
voii and we and the public can repose trust and confidence in his
activities and decisions, and that, really, we should not be alarmed or
have concern about the reservation which you feel an obligation to
attach. namely, that while you never expect to have to exercise it,
given the character of the special prosecutor, nonethelesz, that there
should be reserved to you as the Attorney General the right to make
final decision which might or might not constitute overriding his.

If we are in fact going to have that kind of eminent figure conducting
the Watergate matter, why not give him final authority and discretion
in the area?

At lunch, or shortly after hnch, one of my colleagues, whom I
respect very much, suggested that the special prosecutor could go off
the deep end and conduct an investigation in a blatantly improper
way, or plumber it tip, foul it up. He was concerned that that kind of
special prosecutor would be free of any check. But, if, in the unlikely
event he performed in that fashion, you would be able to replace
him-at least, you could displace him-just as the President can re-
place you if he feels that you are going haywire in some manner.

It is true that you would be constrained in removing him, just as
the President would be constrained in removing his own Attorney
General, by the need to have a persuasive reason which the public
would accept. But there would be no lack of authority to remove him.

So I would conclude our interrupted discit-,ion by inquiring if you
could not agree to the conditions of the Stevenson resolution, which
I think would remove all shadow of doubt about the appearance of the
administration controlling the investigation. I repeat, it is the appear-
ance that worries me, not the fact.



TESTIMONY OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON-Resumed
Secretary RicniW r )>N . Le't me first sav, Semointor Hart, tlhat I

appreciate tbhe claritv and 'aii-e,-; with whi<ch yoti lhve summarized
the situnation as of the cmicliuitiou of our colloqi i ti ti, morning. I
think I can )eq comment on that -iminar \, i r1 icti Ian y the coin-
clusion vou derive from it, by going mck to the point at which vou
remarked, 'Now, if we are going to have the kind of eminent figure
conducting this matter in the way that we would expect him to (1o ,o,
why not, then give him final authorit"?" It is Inte, "oni went on to
point out, qtoting someone w ith whom you (iiis Wit this at lunch,
that he might go haywire, but the protection again- that is that he
could be removed for a lersiuisive reason.

I would, a+ I perceive it, going back to that same point, ask instead
if we are going to have a person of that kind of eminence and with the
qualities that we can, I am sure, agree he ought to have, then for the
Attorney General to retan the ultimate responsibility which that
post ve,-ts in him by law would not seem to threaten the confidence
that again, I am sure, we both agree is a major objective, both of my
appointment and of thi, appointment.

We touched this morning on the fact that since the law does
repose ultimate re.sponsibility for the affairs of the Department of
Ju..tice in the Attorney General and that the only way, without
changing the law-and that would not seem, on its face, desirable-of
avoiding that problem would be for the Attorney General to dis-
qualify hini-elf. I will not repeat now the reasons why I do not believe
that would be a wise course.

So we have a situation that really, I suppose, comes down to quite
a narrow difference. It may even be characterized as a difference of
expressing the kind of authority and independence reposed in this
man. I would feel that even though he were given full or complete
authority-and I would not object to that kind of characterization-
that to deal in terms of a finality of authority in which I had no
ultimate responsibility at all would imply that there was no communi-
cation, no consultive relationship, no opportunity for the exercise of
any judgment whatever so far as I was concerned. I would think that
the individual in that position, dealing as he would be with matters,
some perhaps obviously falling within his jurisdiction and clearly
subject to his delegated authority, would find still others-for example,
in the field of campaign contributions-that ought to remain within
the ordinary processes of the Criminal Division, but which were the
kinds of things in which there ought to be communication.

There is mentioned, for example, in the language of the Stevenson
resolution, cooperation with congressional committees. I think from
the standpoint of the Department of Justice, there are very real
considerations that could arise along the lines that were touched on
thi, morning by Senator Ervin, in which, as Attorney General,
dealing in a range of matters with the Congress, it is important that
I have some voice. It seems to me that the confidence of the Congress
and the public can rest, really, on the fact that there is a sort of double
guarantee inherent in my exercise of the responsibilities as Attorney
'General subject to the clear delegation of authority to an individual



who, both by virtue of that delegation and by virtue of his Vn qiizil-
ities as a human being, adds an element that I coul not provide alone,
p)articularly given my own participation in this administration. Andit seems to me there is an element of strength in that combination
which can provide the degree of reassurance that I think you rightly
emphasize is a common objective.

Senator HART. Mr. Secretary, I am comfortable, and others can
speak for themselves on this, but I have no trouble anticipating and
expecting that there would be the very broadest consultation a- thecircumnstances would in(liciate, and excfanlge of information, the offer-
ing of counsel and suggestions. But after all of that has occurred, there
will be instances when a decision must be made, whether it relates to aclaim of privilege, or indeed the question of who shall and who ,hall
not be indicted, and all of this, there will be occasions when a (lerision
mut be reached, and it is at this point that I think the approac.1
that I have exprese(l a desire to see followed g'iN-es us sort of an added
bonus that when that deciion is made, if it is made in final fashion
b the outside special, you have removed from public deba'te and
concern any ap)prehensions that it is a decision, if you will, Ibv the
administration.

I again assure you that this is not intenled in an offensive fahion.
Secretary RICHARDSON. I understand.
Senator HART. I am talking about the appearance.
Well, we can get back to this.
Senator Fong?
Senator FONG. Thank you, '.\r. Chairman.
1r. Secretary, I want to congratulate you upon your nominationand say that you are really in a very unique position. You have been

nominated for this position as Attorney General and you still hold the
position of Secretary of Defense, is that not correct?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes; that 1, correct, Senator.
Senator Foxc. You have stated that you will continue to regard

yourself as having the ultimate responsibility of the ations of the
special prosecutor, as he is called, when he is appointed. 1, that not
true?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator FONG. Now, when we talk about an independent prosecul-tor, you are really referring to his actions and what he doe,. I under-stand you tc have said you will give him a, lot of leeway, but that you,

as Attorney General, still consider that y ou have ultimate responsi-
bility of supervision over him, is that correct?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, in the sense that anyone who delegates
responsibility does not thereby abdicate it. Senator Hart, I think very
fairly, pointed out that the likelihood in fact that I would second-,-i(,.-;
or interpose an independent judgment or overrule a decision b\ a
special prosecutor is extremely remote.

Senator FONG. Ye,.
Secretary RICHARDSON. At the same time, however, the law doesvest ultimate responsibility for matters within the jurisdiction of theDepartment of Justice in the Attonnev General. What I am saving ineffect is if I am to be Attorney General and if the Senate sees fit to

confirm me in that job, then it is that job I should take subject to the
achievement of understandings with the .I)ecial prosecutor that will in



fNo give him all the independent authority he nees(s to do the job that
I am asking him to do, which this committee would expect him to do,
and which the public interest re(uires.

Senator FONG. In other words, the job carries with it the rcsponsi-
bilil x of being responsible for your indepeiolenht sleini p rosecutior?

Secretary RCHARDSON. Yes, it does. And I woulh be, e\'ei though
the Senate, for examnple, should, as I hope it will, vote to express its
confidence in him, I woul(l not expect by virtue of that that the
Seual e had taken re,-ponsibility for the selection. I would have.

Senator FONG. As the statute now staiids, do you' have the ultimate
repon.,ibilitv for him?

Secretary RICHASRDSON. Yes.
Senator Fox(\. To change that, Congre,-s would have to enact a

new law, i, that correct?
Secretarv RICHARDSON. That is my understanding, Senator Fon.
Senator FONG. Yes. Wilhout such a new statute to take awav that

responsibility from you, you maintain that ultimate responsibility?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator FoN-'. Now, this prosecutor, although you call him an

independent special prosecutor, from your standpoint and from the
w ay you view it, he will be subject to I-ou?Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, in this ultimate sense.

Senator FoN-G. Well, you have given us assurances that you will
give him wide scope of authority. Undoubtedly, yon will select a man
who will have the capacity, the ability and the integrity to do the
right thing?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator FONG. And the approval of the Senate?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator FONG. So that when he is appointed, there will be no ques-

tion as to his ability, as to his integrity, as to his character, and as to
what he will do as a prosecutor?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That, I think, is a very accurate summary,
Senator Fong.

Senator iF ONG. Now, suppose you selected such a man and he
were to appoint a very partisan man, say from the Democratic Party,
that vou know is very, veryv partisan. You would have the ultimate
responsibility to say "no," would you not?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes; although I think that one respect
in which I would be prepared to agree that he could have final an-
thority would be in the selection of his own staff. I might in that case
raise some question, but I will be prepared in this respect to accept
the terms of Senator Stevenson's resolution subject to some practical
understanding that there were limits on his ability to draft people
from other key jobs in the Department.

Senator FONG. Knowing the type of man whom you would appoint
and knowing the type of man the Senate committee would approve,
are you saying that you do not feel that there i, any possibility that
he would appoint a very partisan assistant?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No; I do not really think so. This is, I
think, illustrative of the remoteness of the likelihood that in any
repect, I would in fact intervene.



Senat' r FoNG. M[r. Secretar3-, I worked with Nou in the Health,
Education, and Welfare Appropriations Committee. I worked with
you on !e Defense Appropriations Committee. I am ' atified that you
can do a very fine job as Attorney General and that you will (to ever*-
thing po.,sibie to uncover the whole truth in what lia, been known a1
"the Watergate case." I have listened to your responses to my col-
leagues and I am .ati--Eed that you are able to do the job.

I ha -e no further questions.
Secretary RICHARDSON. Thank you very much. I appreciate that

v ery generous expression of confidence.
eator HART. The Senator from Mazs-acbu.etts.

SeNIaluv KENNEDY. Mr. Secretary, we have a time problem because
there i., a-,ihr vote on the Senate floor. I will be glad to do whatever
the Chair would like. We (an either get started or go over until
tomorrow.

If we do have time, I hav-e some questions. There are two very brief
matters, that I am interested in. One is the Krogh affair reported
in the Washington Po-t this morning. I wonder if you had any im-
mediate reaction to that? If that will take some time we have another
4 or 5 minutes and then we will have to leave.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I could make a brief statement on it.
Senator KENNEDY. Whatever you think.
Secretary RiCHARD.SON. Would Senator Hart, in his capacity a,

acting chairman, like firt to decide what you want to (1o? Any way
of pro()eeing is agreeable to me.

Selator HikRT. r am reaching for a coin and can't find it. [Laughter.]
I would suggest that Senator Kennedy proceed until the 5-minute

warning, at which point we will adjourn for the day and Senator
Kennedy can resume in the morning.

Secretary RICHARDSoN. That is all right with me.
On the matter of Egil-if that is how you pronounce it-Krogli,

he is a person whom I have known primarily in connection with matteis
involvin the coordination of Government-wide activities in the
area of drug abuse before the Special Action Office was set up. He, at
his request, came to see me a week ago yesterday. He, it turned out,
wanted to inform me that he had had responsibility for the so-called
plumbing operation in the White House and had direct responsibility
for actions involving the break-in in the office of the psychiatrist of
Mr. Ellsberg. I told him that as Attorney General-designate, I did
not feel that it was appropriate for him to tell me anything that he
had not already told others or that was inconsistent with any advice
of counsel that he may have had. What concerned him apparentlv
was the question of whether he should file an affidavit with the judg-e
presiding over the Ellsberg case who had been seeking information
about the Ellsberg break-in insofar as this might bear upon prejudicing
the case.

In brief, I told him th:it while I could not advise him personally, I
belip\ ed that it would be in the public interest for all the information
that bore on that episode that could help the judge to reach a decision
to be made available to him.

Senator KENNEDY. There was just one more part of that I would
like to get into. We are going to have to vote, so we will come back
and complete that question. The Chair lia, announced that we will
go into other area- and then we will adjourn.

[Re.eS.J



Senator KENNEDY [presiding]. The (olmittee will come to order.
MIr. Secretary, tho Krogh mat ter that we were talking about jtust

prior to the vote, I think you indicated to the committee that a week
ago, approximately, Mr. Krogh came and talked with you about, as
I understand, the impact of his te-timonv ulon the prosecution of
the case. Could you indicate to the committee why fIr. Krogh came
to see you? Did he indicate that when he came?

Secretary RICIiAIMSON. I had ju,-t been de,-ignated as Attorney
General. The impression had been (reated, I think in part by the
President's statement of the night before, that I would imrnediately,
in effect, a ,-ume responsibilities for thi5 matter. 1 have in fact been
only in a position to begin to become informed. I have not undertaken
to exercise direct responsibility in the Jutice Department. But I
think it was on this basis, at any rate, that he came to me anticipating
that I would have responsibility in the matter. I felt that,. subject to
his understanding that I was not giving him personal advice, I could
express an overall point of view. That point of view was that the only
course to be pursued in this connection was that of responding fully
to questions by the judge about responsibility for the Ellsberg break-in.
The bearing on the Ellsberg ease, of course, was that had information
been obtained from that break-in, it might have in turn become the
basis for evidence presented by the Government in the course of the
prosecution and this would have been tainted evidence. This would be
for the judge's inquiry and Mr. Krogh was clearly in a position to
provide information about the break-in.

Senator KENNEDY. As I gather from your conversation x% ith him,
then, you urged him to be frank and open and candid and to tell what
he knew?

Secretary RIcHARDSON. This was certainly the point of view I
tried to express, although, as I say, I was attempting to draw a line
between an expression of a personal point of view and a matter whivh
fell short of advising him.

After all, his disclosure would amount, in effect, to -t confession by
him of complicity in a criminal act and, as a potential Attorney
General, it seemed to me improper for me to give him aivi(e. I .'ay
that only in qualification of the wvord "urged.'

Senator KENNEDY. Well, did you think that he was coming to talk
to you because you were a friend of his or zisaociate or knew of him, or
because you were going to head up the investigation? Or beca,t-e V011
were, in effect, the President's lawyer?

Secretary RICHARDSON. It was clear he was coming to me as the
Attorney General-designate with responsibility for investigations and
prosecution. He was interested in what was the right thing to do, no
question about that. I am sure he would not have come to me other-
wise. We have never had any discussions of any personal matters of
any kind before that and he was not an individual with wvhom I have
had many dealings. As I said, those I had had were principally in
connection with coordination of drug abuse prevention and rehabilita-
tion.

Senator KENNEDY. At any time in the conversation, did he indicate
to you that he had been advised not to tell the full story?

,Secretary RICHARDSON. He was concerned with what he understood
to be a general injunction with respect to the di;closure of the matters
involvin', national security. Actually, as he, I think, did not know at
the time, John Ehilichman had already, on the preceding Friday, filed



an affidavit or memorandum wx ith Judge Byrne which, in general, did
disclo-e certain tfling with respect to the break-in and which ga ve
specific circumstance, and which specifically named Krogh. lie ob-
viously did not know that zit the time he talked to me, and I did not
know it, either.

I Nva, awa; c that the President had directed or at least approved the
disclosure of information to the court.

Senator KENNEDY. Do you know which infoiriation he directed be
disclosed?

Secretarv RICHARDSON. The President was advi-ed bY the Attorney
General thast the

Senator KENNEDY. Mr. Kleindienst?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Mr. Kleindienst, and the Chief of the

Criminal Division, -Mr. Petersen, that information bearing on the
break-in was relevant to the Ellsberg case, and he directed that the
court be i-iformed of actions by White House personnel in connection
with the break-in.

Senator KENNL)X. If this wa- the President's position, then why
would Mr. Krogh have felt an- kind of restraint by the general in-
Junction, that he would have to come and talk to you?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think he was proceeding on the basis of an
understanding which by then had become obsolete. He did not know
that at the time he came to me.

Senator KENNEDY. Were you a part of the decision to make avail-
able the information or did you urge the President to take that step?

Secretarv RICHARDSON. No, he had already taken that step before
I had any idea that I would be involved in this. I was a participant in
discu,,ion, following the discussion with Krogh, which dealt generally
with the further implementation of this policy as it applied to any in-
dividuals who had any information bearing on the Ellsberg break-in.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, what does that mean? Was there still a
debate at that time as to what was going to be made available?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think the best way to put it would be to
>av that thlere were a number of individuals involved, and while the
Aitorney General's office had been directed to furnish information
to the court, the application of this policy in individual cases had not
yet reached all those who were, in one way or another, involved. My
only part in this wa, that I was consulted with respect to the follow-
through, in effect, of thi- policy.

Senator KENNEDY. In the newspaper story, and I would ask consent
that the full story appear in the record, it was indicated that John
Ehrlichman attempted to persuade Mr. Krogh not to disclose what he
knew about the break-in of the psychiatrist's office. Did Mr. Krogh at
any time during that conversation indicate that Mr. Ehrlichman
attempted to persuade him not to disclose that information?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Not that I recall.
[The article referred to follows:]

"HORRIFIED" AIDEs BALKED: NIXON ASKED DATA WITtIHELD

(By Carl Bernstein and Bob Woodward)
Prc-ident Nixon attempted to prevent the Justice Department from providing

information on the burglary of the office of Daniel Ellsberg's psychiatrist to the
Los Angele, court where Ellsberg i- on trial, according to -olirce,> cloe to the
\Vatergate investigation.



The sources reported that the President ur,d Attorney (veneral-desitrnate
Elliot Richardson and l )eputv s-ist-nt Attorney General Henry E. lPetersetn.
who had been supervi-ing the WVat er-ite probe, not to I)ro, ide the information on
groii unds that, it. might adl(,rlely affect "tuiional securit v."

The P'reident's adviee xN as rejected hy both men, one o)f whom was described
as "horrified" and the other as "deell shaken" vix Mr. Nixon's :ietion.

One source said Richardson was disbelieving of the President's psition at firstand that the Attorne General-designte reacted 'as if he were struck by a
thunderbolt . . . His internal reaction was that it is inconceivable for him to think
that there can be any covertip of any kind."

leter eson, another source reported, "didn't, know what to do he was so upset.
lie had to get this strightened out so lie co uld live with his own children "

In addition to the President's action, the sources reported that \Ir. Nixon's
former principal deput y for domestic policy, John Ehrlichman, attempted to
persuade Egil Krogh Jr. no t to disclose what he knew about the break-in at the
[,,ychiatrit's office. Several souree, yesterday quoted Ehrlichman as telling
l nugh: "The President doesn't want any more of this to surface for national
-eeurity reasons."

The account of the President',, alleged attempt to prevent release (of the Justice
l)epartment information on the Ellsberg burglars', first reported by The New
York Times yesterday, was confirmed by five sources, among them officials at the
White House and the Justice Department, as well as lawyers involved in the
W\'atergate case

All the sources provided essentially the same account and variousixy described
the Pre,-ident's action as "an attenipt to keep the lid on" and "a message that he
didn't want this thing to surface." All confirmed Ehrlichman's action as well.

One White House official, who said he was not familiar with all the facts sur-
rounding the matter, said he believed the President acted out of "genuine concern
about national security.'"

The Post's sources said the President's interest in the matter began on April 15,
when he was informed by l)eputy Assistant Attorney General Petersen that the
Watergate prosecutors had prepared a memorandum detailing the involvement of
txxo of the convicted Watergate conspirators in the Ellsberg break-in. The memo-
randum was to be submitted to the judge in the Pentagon Papers trial.

At that time, the sources reported, Mr. Nixon urged Petersen for "national
security reasons" not to forward the memorandum to the Los Angeles court
where Ellsberg is on trial for leaking the Pentagon Papers to the press.

Petersen, in the words of one source, "knew he couldn't live with the situation"
if he withheld information that the psy chiatri-t's office had been broken into by a
team supervised by Watergate conslpirators E. Howard Hunt Jr. and G. Gordon
Liddy.

After two days, all the source, reported, Petersen, a career civil servant praised
hy colleagues for his record of inteurity, sought assistance and advice from then
Attornev General Richard (. Kleindienst.

Kleindlienst, the sources said, agreed with Petersen that it would be improper to
follow the President's recommendation and said he would personally take the
matter to Mr. Nixon.

When Mr. Nixon was confronted with Kleindienst's arguments that the material
m,,-t be forwarded to the judge in the Ellsberg trial, the President relented and
the memo was sent, the sources said.

On April 26, the government pro-ecutor in the Ellsberg ease submitted the
memorandum to Federal Judge W. Matt B rnoe Jr. The next day, the judge
released the information about the burglary at the psychiatrist's office, causing
a furor at the Ellsberg trial. The judge also ordered immediate government in-
cquiry into the circunutance, of the burglary, which reportedly angered some
officials at the White Hou.e and the Justice Department.

That afternoon, Ehrlichman was interviewed by the FBI at his White House
office and told agents lie had been re-ponsible for ordering a secret White House
iove-tigation into the background of Ellsberg. Ehrlichtnan also told the agents
that the investigation wa headed by his deputy, Egil Krogh, and David Young,
who resigned three weeks ago from his position as a National Security Council
aide assigned to Ehrliehman's office.

On Sunday, April 29, President Nixon asked Richardson to replace resigning
Attornev General Kleindienst as a means of restoring confidence in the Justice
Department and to preside over the department', Watergate investigation.



Richardson, The Post's sources said, was told by the President that he would
have "an absolutely free hand" in supervising the investigation. At this point,
the sources told slightly differing versions. All, however, agreed that the President
also told Richardson-at a minimum-that certain "national security matters"
should remain secret in the Watergate investigation.

"Nixon told Richardson to keep the Pentagon Papers out of the Watergate
investigation," one source said flatly.

Another said: "It wasn't that explicit; in fact, Richardson at first wasn't
completely clear about the implications of what the President said. It was vague,
but the message was that the President didn't want some national security matters
disclosed in the investigation."

The next night, in the President's television address to the nation on the Water-
gate affair, Mr. Nixon said of Richardson: "I have given him absolute authority
to make all decisions bearing upon the prosecution of the Watergate case and
related matters . . . Whatever may appear to have been the case before . .
justice will be pursued fairly, fully and impartially, no matter who is involved."

Shortly before the President spoke, however, Ehrlichman conveyed to Krogh
what he described as "a message from the President," according to The Post's
sources.

"Ehrlichman said the President didn't want any more to surface about the
Ellsberg investigation," one source said. "He (Ehrlichinan) was emphatic that he
was speaking for the President."

Specifically what the President did not want disclosed, the sources said, was
Krogh's knowledge that the CIA had provided assistance in the break-in of the
office of Ellsberg's psychiatrist, and other activities by the White House in trying
to determine the source of news leaks deemed harmful to the administration.

On the same Monday that President Nixon was working on his Watergate
speech, the sources said, Richardson lunched with Krogh, who described the
presidential message conveyed by Ehrlichman.

Krogh also told Richardson all he knew about the White House operation
aimed at Ellsberg and that he (Krogh) "was driven by a moral compulsion that
this was the right thing to do, not to cover it up but to tell all and stand the conse-
quences," according to one source.

All the sources reported that Richardson at this point became adamant about
avoiding the President's request to prevent release of information surrounding
the Ellsberg operation.

"Richardson told Krogh that he had already gotten the message from the
President and made it clear he wasn't going to abide by it," one source said.
"He made it clear he intended to countermand the President and just would
not obey. He said he would just not heed that order."

Another source said Richardson told Krogh: "I'm not going to participate in a
cover-up because it will destroy my role in the Watergate investigation . . The
truth has got to come out."

One of the sources suggested that Krogh's remarks triggered Richardson's
recollection of what he had been told by the President regarding "national security
matters" and said that Richardson suddenly "expressed horror."

Following the meeting with Krogh, the sources said, Richardson discussed the
matter with Assistant Attorney General Petersen, who told him of the President's
earlier action in attempting to prevent release of the burglary information.

Petersen, one source said, told Richardson that "this has to be straightened out
and that he (Petersen) couldn't live with what the President wanted to do.
Henrv asked Richardson for hell) and Richardson backed him up."

Both men, all the sources reported, decided that they would have nothing to do
with the advice tendered by either the President or Ehrlichman and conveyed
their decision to Mr. Nixon.

Exactly how the message was conveyed could not be determined, but one source
said Richardson personally discussed the matter with the President and that Mr.
Nixon agreed that there should be no further attempts at preventing release of
the Ellsberg material.

All of the sources said that at no time did Mr. Nixon suggest any reason except"national security" for preventing release of the information.
On Thursday, the White House delivered guidelines to Krogh expressing the

White House position that witnesses testifying in Watergate proceedings "are
restricted from testifying as to matters relating to national security."

Krogh, who received a copy of the guidelines, signed an affidavit the next day
detailing his knowledge in which he acknowledged full responsibility for the
break-in at the office of Ellsberg's psychiatrist.



Sec',tarv Ricit.\ii)sON. In any event, this 1)resllmablv would have
had to have been at a stage antedating 'Ir. Ehrlichinan's own di-
clolre, which had been. a, it turned out, the p'evioii, Friday, or
before I had been approached at all about accepting the Attorney
Generalship.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, certainly, that is the effect in terms of
timing, as you have mentioned. But f am interested actually in the
conversation. Colt vou in anys xav r(late to the best. of your ability
the conversation thai took pla'ce between Mh'. Krogh and yourself?

Secretary RIcHARD-0.n. Mr. Krogh, as I said, wa, concerned with
what he ought to do.

Senator KENNEDY. Could we get that somewhat more precisely,
about what, the alternatives were that he was comsidering?

Secretary RICHARDsoN. He was considering such alternatives, as
making a public statement, being brought before a grand jury, filing
an affidavit with the court., and whether there were any inhibitions on
hi, doing this deriving from considerations of national security. He
certainly had the impression that there were some such constraints.
He felt that he ought to make a full disclosure by some process.

As I said, since I might shortly thereafter find myself in an adver-
sary relationship to him-of course, I had no idea, when he asked to
see me, what it was going to be about-I made clear to him that I
did not feel that I could advise him whether to disclose or by what
means, and I asked him not to tell me anything about it-this was by
way, in effect, of warning him about his rights-not to give me
information about what he had done that he was not clear in his own
mind that he wanted to give or that he had not given to others.

So he then proceeded to tell me about what he knew about the
Ellsberg break-in in substantially the terms and the language that he
has since used in his affidavit.

Senator KENNEDY. After you told him not to tell you, counseled
him not to tell you, he went ahead and told you?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I told him not to tell me anything that
he had not already told others or that he was not prepared to, or about
which he was not confident on the basis of his own perception of his
own interests and in the light of any advice that he had from counsel.
He then, in effect, elected to repeat to me what I gathered also by that
time he had told others and what he has, in fact, since ntated in his
affidavit filed with the court.

Senator KENNEDY. Did he indicate to you what constraints he
felt he was under? Did he spell that out in his conversation with you?

Secretary RICHARDSON. As I say, he was worried about the problem
of national security. He had understood that this so-called "plumb-
ing" operation he was involved in was one that concerned national
security-set up, I think, as well established by now in the public
record, including his own confirmation hearings for appointment to the
Department of Transportation, to plug leaks; but it identified sources
of leaks, and this is how it came to be known as a "plumbing" opera-
tion, and there was a concern surrounding this that had national
security implications. At least, this was his perception of it.

Senator KENNEDY. You mean, you had the impression that because
of his involvement in the break-in, he thought that that was a national
security question, too? I mean, is that the impression he was trying
to leave with you, that he thought because he was to testify about



that particular matter, and only that matter, that he was somewhat
confused or he felt some kind of sufficient re-traint from a national
security point of view where he would have to come to talk with you
about it?

Secretary RICHARDSON. The alleged purpose of the break-in, a, he
described it to me, was to find information that in some way would
shed light on the series of leaks that had taken place up to the point
leading to the e-tablibhment of the plumbing operation itself.

Senator IKENNEDY. Could you be any more specific about what
particular part of hi- operation he thought wa:, violating national
security?

Secretary RICHARDSON. His operation wa ?
Senator KENNEDY. About what part of his operation was actually

violating national securitv?
Secretary RICHARDSON. It wos not a question of the violation of

national security by his operation. His operation, as he perceived it,
was designed to protect the national security by identifying sources of
leaks that had been prejudicial to the national ',ecurity. So as he saw
it, at least as he described it to me. the break-in itself had been de-
signed to further the objective of finding out about leaks.

Senator KENNEDY. And he thought that if he revealed his involve-
ment in it, it somehow might violate, I think what you said was the
general injunction about national security that had been laid down,
is that correct?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. As I said, by the time he actually saw
me, it had been recognized, apparently, that that was not a sufficient
basis for nondisclosure in that case.

Senator KENNEDY. Who had set out the criteria for the national
security in the White House about this operation? Did he indicate
that to you?

Secretary RICHARDSON. He had evidently been told at the very
beginning when this was set up that its purpose was to further na-
tional security interests and that it should be kept on that account
highly confidential.

Senator KENNEDY. Did he, at any time during the conversation,
indicate to you that Mr. Ehrlichman had advised him not to tell the
whole story, or any part of the story?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I do not recall his saving that. He certainly
had from some White House source a feeling ihat disclosure by him
would be inconsistent with ground rules then in effect, but I cannot
recall and I do not remember asking from what source he got that
direction.

Senator KENNEDY. Could it have been Mr. Ehrlichman?
Secretary RICHARDSON. It could have been Mr. Ehrlichman, and

certainly, the establishment of this operation in the first instance was
one that was known to the President and which was designed by him
to find out how and by what routes information was being disclosed in
connection with a number of things like the SALT negotiations, for
example, that were matters of considerable concern.

Senator KENNEDY. Just so that I can better understand, you said
that he related to you that some White House source had told him not
to relate everything, or words to that effect? The best that you can,
could you tell us exactly what he said on that? That some White
House source said "I should not tell every-thing"?



Secretarv RICHARDSON. I know that he believed that there were
constraints generally applicable to the activities of the so-called',plumbing" operation, including this break-in. f think he believed
that there were genuine national securit v implicoti<ns in this situation,
and he was, in effect, coming to me for personal aldvice which, as I
have said, I did not think I could give. What I did try to convey to
him was a general attitude toward what -eeme(d to me the overri(lin
importance of full disclosure in the context of the Ellsberg proceedings.

Senator KENNEDY. But did you get the impression that other than
the general injunction which you have already mentioned earlier in
response to the question, an(l beyond the general constraint ap-
plicable, that there was a White Houe >ource that told him that it
was better not to tell all that he knew about this?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I do not-I cannot honestly say that he
had been told with respect to this specific situation or this particular
context not to do so, because

Senator KENNEDY. Well, what did the White House
Secretary RICHARDSON. Because the President had already, by that

time, directed disclosure to the Ellsberg judge, Judge Byrne. So the
question then wa,, what was the right thing to do in the immediate
circumstances.

Senator KENNEDY. Of course, you did not know that at that time,
did you, about Ehrlichman's statement to Judge Byrne?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I did not know about Ehrlichman's state-
ment. I did know in general that the President had directed disclosure
of the White House involvement in the Ellsberg break-in, because the
President told me he had directed that disclosure when I talked with
him on the previous Sunday.

Senator KENNEDY. In fairness, Mr. Richardson, I would like to read
the appropriate part of this story and get your reaction:

The sources reported that the President urged Attorney General-designate
Richardson and Deputy Assistant Attorney General Petersen, who had been
supervising the Watergate probe, not to provide the information on the grounds
that it might adversely affect "national security." The President's advice was
rejected by both men, one of whom was described as "horrified" and the other az
"deeply shaken" by Mr. Nixon's action.

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is not accurate, as far as my memory
of the situation is concerned. The only communication I had with
the President on this subject was when he told me on Sunday that
he had directed information to be filed with Judge Byrne. I had no
communication with him or from him after that. And there was never
any suggestion that came to me that disclosure should not be made.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, were you aware whether it came to any-
body else?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No. I do know that before, for some period
before the decision to give information to the court had been made,
there was a kind of blanket groundrule or injunction with respect to
disclosures with regard to the plumbing operation, including the
Ellsberg case, or so I understood from Krogh, and I have also since
learned that from other sources as well. But from Sunday

Senator KENNEDY. Which Sunday is that?
Secretary RICHARDSON. A week ago Sunday, when the President

asked me if I would be willing to have my name submitted to the
Senate as Attorney General; from Sunday to date, no one, neither



the Pre ident nor ayone acting on hi, behalf, ha- siiggevted that
inforation on this >tibject be withheld, on national ,ecuritv or atiN
other grounds.

Senator KENNEDY. Why do you think Krogh came to you, if it
wa just, a qietion of the national security implications of thi.?
Why would he have come to you? Can you indicate any other reaoi'?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No. As I say, he had evidently made up
hi, mind that he ought to make this disclosure. It was a difficult
decision for a person in his ituation, knowing that in doing so, he
was thereby admitting his participation in a violation of the Californi
law. But he had, a, far a, I could see, already crose(l that bridge and
the only remaining concern he had was whether, if he made thi.
disclosure, he would in some way be prejudicing what he perceived
to be or had been told were national security concerns. My own view
w as, and I think the attitude I sought to convey to him was, that I
thoight that the public interet would be better served by disclosure
than any cotnceivable or alleged national security aspect of this matter
could be.

Senator KENNEDY. That tory in the Post this morning alleged that
even the President himself had attempted to try to withhold informa-
tion. Are you ready to categorically deny that? I mean just in fairness
to the way this story \\-as presented and your name was mentioned?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I cannot categorically deny any aspect of
it antedating a week ago Sunday. I can't say, and I have no knowledge
of what may have been ,aid before that about the disclosure or non-
disclosure of any aspect of this. I can say that from that date forward,
I saw no indication that the President took any action, or certainly
not to me or through anyone else to me, that suggested that he was
seeking to prevent or to constrain this disclosure.

I did have the understanding that the President believed that with
regard to the effect of the plumbing operation generally there were
genuine national security concerns and that constraint on that account
ought to be applicable to activities under that heading. But that was a
point of view, so far as I am aware, that antedated the President's own
understanding that the prosecution of the Ellsberg case itself might be
tainted by the break-in, and as soon as he became aware of this, he
directed or approved the disclosure to the court.

In other words, what I am saying in essence is that it was my under-
standing that this was a general activity believed to be subject to
restraints on disclosures for some considerable time-presumably from
its inception up until some time not long before the second memo from
the President. But by that time, in this specific context, initial dis-
closures had already been made.

Senator KENNEDY. Did you have anything to do with the lifting of
the lid, so to speak, in terms of the disclosures themselves? Or that
general injunction?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, we have already been over the ground
with respect to Krogh. I had nothing to do with Ehrlichman's state-
ment filed with the court, which, as it turns out, had already been filed
the previous Friday. I did have something to do with a general directive
to FBI agents to pursue the taking of depositions from all individuals
who had been identified as having anything to do with this. Several of
them had been named in the Ehrlichman affidavit, which I first learned
about, I guess, perhaps Wednesday, but after the conversation with



Krogh. And my part in that was in consultation with Assistant
Attorney General Henry Petersen and FBI Director Bill Ruckelshaus
to assure that the FBI agents pursued the taking of these depositions
as rapidly as possible so that the information could be filed with Judge
Byrne.

Senator KENNEDY. You indicated in an earlier exchange that you
understood the President felt there were national security implications
surrounding the whole plumbing operation and that there were general
constraints which were applicable and that at some time, the President
lifted those restraints as it related to the plumbing operation. Can
you tell us to the best of your knowledge when that was done and
whether, at any time while the constraints were applicable or in force,
any attempts that you know about, were made to prevent information
from getting out and appearing in court of law?

Secretary RICHARDSON. The only real knowledge I have of this is
that the decision to file information about White House involvement
in the Ellsberg break-in was made during the week following April 15.
I am not sure what day. It was around the middle of the week, and it
was based on a recommendation to the President by Attorney General
Kleindienst and Mr. Petersen.

Senator KENNEDY. Were you involved in any way in that circum-
stance?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No; I had no inkling of any role in all of
this until I was called by Secretary Rogers a week ago last Saturday
and by the President the following day. In fact, I had been too busy
at the Department of Defense even to follow all of this very closely in
the newspapers

Senator KENNEDY. That was made sometime during the week of the
15th, was it?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY. And Krogh came to see you the week of the

29th?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I guess that is so.
Senator KENNEDY. That was 2 weeks after the constraints were

lifted?
Secretary RICHARDSON. It was 2 weeks after a statement had

been filed with the court dealing generally with White House involve-
ment in this. I think the question of what individuals would make
specific disclosures to the court from that point took awhile to get
across, and as late as a week ago today, the actions of FBI agents in
pursuing individuals whose names were gradually turned up as having
been involved in this in some way was still an issue. At any rate, that
was the first step, apart from the conversation with Krogh, in which I
had any direct part.

Senator KENNEDY. Senator Mathias, I just wanted to get into this
one area that I indicated while the other members were here. I do not
know whether there is something you would like to develop on this
particular matter that we have gone into?

Senator MATHIAS. No, not at this time.
Senator KENNEDY. Otherwise, we will recess.
Senator MATHIAS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I will

reserve my questions for tomorrow.
The CHAIRMAN. The committee is recessed until 10:30 tomorrow.
[Whereupon, at 5:20 p.m. the committee was adjourned until

Thursday, May 10, 1973, at 10:30 a.m.]
95-389-73-3



NOMINATION OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON TO BE
ATTORNEY GENERAL

THURSDAY, MAY 10, 1973

U.S. SEn vrE,
(CWFMITTE, ON TiE JUDICIARYWa'sh/ngtoi,, D).C.

The committee met, 1)ursuant to recess, at 10::5 a.m., in room 2228,
Dirksen Senate Office Building, Senator James 0. Eastland (chair-
man) presiding.

Present: Senators Eastland, Kennedy, Bayh, Tunney, Hruska,
Scott, Thurmond, and Cook.

Also present: John H. Holloman, chief counsel, and Francis C.
Rosenberger, professional staff member.

The CHAIMAN. Let us have order.
Senator KrxNNEDY. Good morning, Mr. Secretary.

TESTIMONY OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON-Resumed
Senator KENNEDY. At the time that Attorney General Kleindienst

resigned, he wrote a letter of resignation and I would like to read to
you just one sentence of that. I am interested in your reaction to it-
whether it establishes the kind of standard that you would want estab-
lished, and how you view your own situation, if you do agree that that
is a reasonable standard.

He stated that:
Those disclosures informed me, for the first time, that persons with whom

I had had close personal and professional aso ,(iations could I)e involved in con-
duct violative of the laws of the Tnited States. Fair and impartial enforcement
of the law requires that a person who has not had such intimate relationships
be the Attorney General of the United States.

I am interested in determinin," whether you agree that that is a fair
rule or fair standa rd to establish ?

Secretary RIcn.mim)soN-. I think it needs to be understood, Senator
Kennedy, in the context of AJr. Kleindienst's personal situation and
his personal feeling about it. Disqualification in any given situation is
essentially a personal matter. I do not think it is possible to adopt
abstract standards. Even these terms that lie has used in the sentence
that yon quoted---"close personal and professional associations," "per-
sons with whom I have had intimate relationships"--reflect his sense
of the closeness and intimacy of those relationships and the bearing
they had on his ability to be independent in the conduct of his respon-
sibilities as Attorney General which is. I think, an essentially personal
thing. So far as I am concerned, and this is a matter as to -wiich I have

(31)



searched my own conscience, I do not feel that I have had relation-
ships with anyone involved in this case with the degree of closeness
or intimacy that would impair my ability to do the job that I would
be undertaking to do.

I do think that the situation is one in which confidence can be en-
ha-'iced by a special prosecutor. I do believe that if I were the prosecu-
tor. I would do it and do it right, but I do not, in fact, intend to be the
pr>,,vcuto,. I intend simply as Attorney General to retain a degree of
utmate responsibility, as I said yesterday, that would, however, not
interfere with the opportunity of a special prosecutor to exercise inde-
pen ent idgment.

Vow, it is this combination, both of my own sense of my ability to
be objective and fair and to carry out without fear or favor the obliga-
tions of the office, combined with my intention to be associated with a
specia l prosecutor of independent integrity and recognized stature
which leads me to believe that this job can be done as it should be done.

';entor KENNEDY. That standard which you have outlined here
wouild apply to the names which have commonly appeared, I imagine,
in i h- newspapers. Of course, it is difficult to look down the road as to
who might come up on the horizon. But as I gather from what you have
stated here, both in relationship to the particular people who have been
mentioned in the newspaper reports or, for that matter to any other
names that may come up, you are satisfied that you can still fulfill your
responsibility ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes; yes, sir, I am.
Senator KENNEDY. Probably no task facing you during these next

few days is going to be as significant and as important as the selection
of the individual who will serve as the special investigator-to such a
great extent, I think, that the ability to convince someone to assume
that responsibility will be determined by the kind of support and
authority that he is able to receive from you or, if it is necessary, from
additional legislative enactment. In your statement last Monday, you
indicated that you would give him "all the independence, authority,
and staff support needed to carry out the tasks entrusted to him."
Then yesterday, I think in your exchange with Senator Hart, you indi-
cated that you would retain at least the ultimate and final responsi-
bility. You'had indicated in your Monday statement that he would be
reporting to you and only to you, and then yesterday you indicated
a strong commitment that you would bear the ultimate and final
responsibility for his actions.

What I would like to do this morning, if we could, is just find out
whether this is really a semantic difference or a substantive one. I
think that is going to be absolutely essential to delineate before one
could expect that you would be able to get the kind of prosecutor that
is essential to do the job. So I would like to just review some matters
to which I am sure you have given thought to see if we cannot find
out whether there reallv is a difference or whether it is a semantic
difference, a distinction without a difference.

On the question of the powers which you intend to grant to the
special prosecutor, will the prosecutor be able to grant immunity freely
in the development of his prosecution, or will he have to talk with
you and consult with you about whom he will grant immunity to'?

Secretary RIcHARDSON. No, he would not have to talk with me in



order to grant immunity. The special prosecutor would be given
charge of the case, leaving open for the moment just what the area of
the case is. I would expect, as I said yesterday, however, that lie would,
in general, keep me informed of what was going on, that he would
consult with me in situations in which ie felt that a tough call had to
be made or as to which he wanted my judgment, that he would be
available to hear any thoughts or suggestions I had.

I agree with you that the kind of person we are talking about en-
listing for this role would have to feel a sufficient degree of inde-
pendent authority to justify his taking it. And to some extent, per-
haps, we are talking about a semantic difference. We are talking, at
any rate, about what I have referred to as the ultimate responsibility
of the Attorney General under the law. We are talking at the same time
about the practical responsibility of any person who would undertake
this special assignment.

I just do not really believe that in practice, the kind of person we
are talking about and the kind of person I think I am-are going.to
deal in a kind of way that involves any suggestive pressure on my
part. First of all, I would not do it; second of all, if he felt that I
was doing it, he ought to quit. That just is not going to happen.

Further, I would suggest, consistent with my previous suggestion
to the chairman and to the committee, that it may wish, and I think
it will wish, to talk with this man. By that time, of course, he will
have had to develop his own specific understanding of the terms and
conditions under which he has taken the job and the committee would
then have an opportunity to satisfy itself further on that score in
direct discussion with him.

I might add that I h-ive been developing what you might call a
more specific set of conditions and understanding under which he
would work. I have not tried to put it in final form because I thought
that this individual ought to have some say about exactly what is
said. I have taken into account, for example, the lanuao_'e of the
Stevenson resolution and there is almost nothing in the Stevenson
resolution that I woild have any problem with, except this one that
we keep coming back to havinpf" to do with the characterization in
some way of what would seem to bp the ultimate authority that should
be preserved in the Office of the Attorney Genersl, whoever he is.

Senator KENNEDY. Well. I think this has become the sticking point-
the ultimate authority and how it relates to what I imag-ine would
be th, day-to-day conduct of the investigation itself. In other words,
any time that the special prosecutor is interested in granting any im-
munitv, he will feel that you would at least expect him to come and
con , lt with vou.

Secretary RICH ARDSON. No, not necessarily. If he felt clear that it
ou-ht to be done. he would have the authority to do it.

Senator KEN-.-rDY. Well. are you going to expect him, if he does not
desire to do so, to come and consult and inform you. or will he be
able to g-o ahead and extend the immunity himself without that?

Secretary RIC1ARDSOX. Ire would he able to .o ahead and do it. I
would expect him to tell me that he hd done it or intended to do it.
But I would not say to him that vou have to haver mv approval. He
does not technically have to have' it, I guess, as the language of the
statute may indicate.



S0enator KlN.EDY. ltie would not be required to colslilt (",( N with
the Assi4;mt Attorney Geeral then?S (letarv P'i(,AtDSoN. Well, I would not think this man would
want to have an Assistant Attorney (General interposed as a lavei
between hiiself and the Attorney (e iral.

Seator K:NNEI)Y. Well, in other words, are o going" to have to
sigin all the immunity applicatiohns Or ale yoi going to ask us to give
some kind of le:islative authority to permit him to grant the im-miinitv .

Secretary lic(n.mts,)N. You know. I think in the meanwhile, as
I said ' v'terday, le could expect that 1 would automatically provide
the approval that is required by the statute, which is essentially a pro
forma mifter. At any rate, that should not be a sticking point, if it
is d--ivahle to have a leaislative ehange.

What I am talkino about here is the question of whether T am the
Attorney General of the -nited States or not. really. The statute itself
is quite clear about this. I do not think that unless you amend the law
creating the position of Attorney General, there is any way that I
could legally give any special prosecutor final authority.

This really is not involved. The practical aspeets of it, it seems to
me, are gaoing to be such that this committee and the American pcolle
can and should have confidence in him. ks I said a moment ago. you
will have the opportunity for further assurance on that score at the
point when you do have the hearing for the special prosecutor himself.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, we are trying to find out whIat repieseuta-
tions you are going" to make to the various candidates-

Secretary RrCHARDSOx. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY [continuing]. As to the nature and scope of their

authority. We will, as you pointed out yesterda v, have the chance to
talk with the nominee about his understanding, but what I am trying
to find out is what you are representing to them as their range of
authority.

Secretarv RICH\RDSON. Y-e, I think that is a very pertinent inquiny
and I am trving to answer that.

Senator KENNEDY. You have indicated that von would want to
know which individuals would be granted immuity. Wvl /

Secretay PTCIAT SON. I would not. require ad'vance notice in C,(,
sense, that I would insist upon the op)portunity to veto, but I would
want to he kept informed in general of what was go'ing on.

Senator I{NEY. For what purpose?Secretary R icuIvuaN. Because of what, as I said a moment ago,
seems to me the ultimate responsibility I would bear, the ultimate ac-
colntlibilitv I would have for the fairness and integrity of what was
done.

I think the American people would have here what is essentially an
insurance policy with three mutually reinforcing clauses. The first is
the confidence, whatever degree it may have, in my own integrity and
responsibility. To (whatever extent that needed reinforcement, it would
be reinforced by the specific terms under which the special prosecutor
operated-this is what we are talking about now. And the third, and
I think in many ways most important of all, is the integrity and char-
acter of the special prosecutor himself. That is a three-l i,] policy in
which I think people would be and should be justified in having full
confidence.



Senator KENNEDY. But do you think that as far as the Alerican
people are concerned, the ultimate responsibility and accountability
for the investigation should lie with the Attorney General or with
the special prosecutor?

Se('ietarv RICHARDSON. I think that it is a somewhat artificial ques-
tion in terui of any issues affecting the integrity of the process,
because while 1 have been insisting and would insist that as Attorney
Geneial, I retain ultimate responsibility for the Department of Jus-
ti(e, including whatever goes on, the special prosecutor would have
independent authority and lie would be a man of independent char-
aoter. So should there arise a situation in which there was a showdown
as to doiioi it one way or doing it another, I do not believe that there
is a 1 percent chance of that happening. Nonetheless, in that case, any
individual deserving to be 6iven this role would himself then feel
some responsibility of his own, an ultimate responsibility of his own,
to bring the matter to public attention by whatever means he saw fit.
Ile would certainly understand that from the beginning. Indeed, I
think it g"oes without saying.

Let me make a distinction which may help, Senator Kennedy. I
have been talking about ultimate responsibility. That is a word, I
think, that shoul( be distinguished from the authority or the responsi-
bility to do a job. 1 am saying that as Attorney General of the United
States. I cannot duck and would not wish to duck ultimate responsi-
bility for the way these cases are conducted. That does not mean that
I want to -tick my fingers into the day-to-day conduct of negotiations
and prosecutions when I have enlisted for that purpose an individual
in whom I had confidence, in whom by that time it would have been
established that the Senate had confidence. I am not going to tell him
how to do his job, but I am going to say to him, I stand back of what
you are doing, and that is an aspect of the exercise of ultimate re-
sponsibilitv, as well as I am going to say to him, "If I think you are
going off the deep end, I am going to tell you; and if you think I am
wron', at that point, we will have reached a crisis, and you can decide
what you are going to do."

I do not think that is goino to happen, but I need to be in a position
where, if I take this job at all, I have what I refer to as "ultimate
responsibility." I think that can and should be distinguished from
the aultbority to do a job for which a person has been specifically
recruited and for which he knows that the Senate and I repose in him
full] confideIee.

Senator Kr-,-Nr . Now. say he views a particular matter, whether
it is the oue;tion of immunity or the choice of individuals for prosecu-
tion or the handling of some investig'ation, in a certain way, and you
view it in another way. What are his rernedies? Is his remedy lust to
oo public, is you mentioned here, or if you come to some kind of
inmasse, will it jo his way rather than your way?

Secretary RTcTr.RDSoN. As a Turactical matter. on issues of udfment.
it would go his way. for a whole lot of reaqons. including the intimacy
of his knowledgze of the situation, and including this fact that I had
asked him to do a job and repose confidence in his ability to do it.

So if he said. this is the way I think it should be, I rm sorry, Mr.
_\ttornv- General. Nut I think you are wrong. I would back him in
his decision. It would be only an extreme case. As I said yesterday,



any recommendation or any judgment he made would have great
momentum for respect as far as I was concerned. I would not, merely
because I had a differing opinion, intervene or overrule him.

Senator KENNEDY. Suppose we are talking about the extreme case.
Secretary RICHARDSON. The extreme case is the 1 percent possibility

that you referred to a moment ago, and in that event-there would b~e
a situation in which I thought he was egregiously wrong, I thought
that what he was doing was destructive of the public intarest-I think
at that point, you know, if it reached that point, there would have to
be some kind of parting of the ways.

Senator KENNEDY. You mean you would fire him?
Secretary RICHAnDSON. That would be true whether the language

of his contract said "final authority" or whatever.
He might resign or I might fire him. I do not know. But I think

that it would certainly have by that point reached a situation which
would otherwise be untenable.

Senator KENNEDY. In the area of prosecution, will he have the com-
plete authority and responsibility for determining whom he prose-
cuted and at what location? What I am thinking of is the Segretti case
in Florida, with the indictment reportedly upon the basis of the testi-
mony given by Benz.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY. I am wondering if the prosecutor himself willhave the ultimate responsibility in deciding who is going to be prose-

cuted and where this prosecution will take place.
Secretary RICHARDSON. The short answer is "Yes."
In the case specifically of Segretti, we have here an example, I

think, of the definition of the scope of his jurisdiction. This is one ofthe reasons why I think it is important, as I mentioned vesterdayv to
Senator Hart, that he be in the Department of Justice, because it isgoing to be necessary to assign, in effect, areas of the prosecutor's
responsibility, or it may be niecessary, depending upon what emerges.
The Segretti case and the Watergate case, I take it, are separable in
one sense, although related in others.

I would, just not to leave any doubt in this matter, ask him to takeresponsibility for the Segretti case because White House personnel
were involved. I think that is a basis. It is probably the single most
important common denominator in determining what cases he should
have.

Might I go back to one point?
Senator KENNEDY. Yes.
Secretary RICHARDSON. You used in one moment the phrase "com-plete responsibility" and in another, "ultimate responsibility." I do

not have much trouble with the phrase "complete responsibility," be-
cause I can delegate complete responsibility. I cannot delegate ulti-
mate responsibility.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, I am trying to understand the distinction,
and in understandina the distinction, to see whether your definition is
similar to the President's, when he said, in his statement to the Ameri-
can people on April 30, that he felt he bore an ultimate responsibilitv
vis-a-vis the Watergate affair because of the particular people thatwere involved in the White House. This was obviously a very all-
encompassing and general statement at the time and the President was



willin" to indicate to the public that this was something he was pre-
l)ae( to accept. I'm lrying to understand whether you view your
ultlinate responsibility iii that sense and under that kind of general
definition, or whether you feel the responsibility to be kept very spe-
cifically informed of the development of the prosecution, to be con-
sulted in the application of questions of inmmunity and the prosecu-
tion of the various cases, or to express your view on what definition of
executive 1pivilege you would be willitiu to accept, or about any rela-
tionship, perhaps, which this independent prosecutor might hax e with
the FBI?

S e1 arV RICIIARDSON. 1 do not think I can very clearly respond to
your suggested comparison with the President's use of the phrase.
I can say that when I refer to being informed, being consulted, having
the opportunity to communicate views of my own, I am not saying
that I would insist upon being consulted, or do not do it before you
check with me. I am talking about a general kind of contact under
which the special prosecutor understands that I am available for con-
sultation, that I am free to give him any views I have, and that I
want to be kept in general touch with what is going on. That, it seems
to me, that much is a prerequisite, really, to my being in a position to
say I have ultimate responsibility. It does not mean, however, that I
would interfere with the day-to-day direction of his area of specific
responsibility.

Senator KFN-,-EDY. Well, would you feel a responsibility to keep the
President informed, for example?

Secretary RIcHARDsON. No, and indeed, the President has told me
that he does not want to be informed, that there is-I think it is
clear that in this situation, so far as the conduct of these cases is
concerned, the relationship between myself and the Department of
Justice, the special prosecutor, and the White House should be an
arm's 1en-ath relationship.

Senator KENTEDY. Well, say the prosecutor found some individual
who was in a sensitive position and who was involved in Watergate.
Would you feel then that the special prosecutor should inform the
President or would you feel that you should inform the President?

Secretar'y RTCiAnDsoN. I am not sure that the special prosecutor
should inform the President, and it may be that it would be undesirable
to inform the President at all. Mly understanding of my responsibility
alone, quite apart from the special prosecutor, is that, as I said at
the very heginnin97 and as I said in the announcement that I intended
to appoilnt a special prosecutor, the President has said that I am to
have authority over these investioations and prosecutions, that I am
to pre-, them to a conclusion no matter who is hurt. I would do that
even if I did not have a special prosecutor. But I believe it is better
to have one.

For one thing, the Attornev General has much too much to do. as
vou well know, to be in a position of dav-to-d av direction of detailed
investigations. In any event. I do agree that there can be a contribu-
tion to public confidence throu!Th the appointment of a special prose-
cutor, as I have previously said. There would be no understanding or
requirement or expectation on the part of the President that he would
be informed or notified of any action, no matter who was involved.



Whether or not to do it in a given case would have to be an ad hoc
judgment and in that respect, I would give great weight to the views
of the special prosecutor himself.

Senator KENNEDY. You would give "great weight," but would lie
have the final say or would you?

Secretary RICHArIDSON. I think I would have to have final say on
that one.

Senator KENNEDY. You would reserve the right to inform the Presi-
dent or the White House about some individual that might be in a
sensitive position oi continue in a responsible position who might be
involved in some aspect of the case? You would reserve that right
to yourself?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think if it was a matter that he brought
to nie-he would not have to bring it to me in the first in4ance.

Senator KE;N- EDY. Well, if he thought that since someone is con-
tinuing to serve in a responsible position, the President ought to know
about it?

Secretary RICHARDSON. If that were his recommendation, this would
be no problem.

Senator KENEDY. In the Stevenson resolution, in part D, it says
"assurance that lie will not be subject to removal from his position
except for nialfeasance in office." Just a few moments ag'o, you gave
what you felt would be the conditions which might serve to either fire
or remove any special prosecutor. Does the Stevenson lang-uao'e, .'ex-
cept for malfeasance in office,* fall within your definition or your
understanding?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I may just say for the record at this
point that I have no problem with any of the Stevenson resolution in
general thrust. There are a number of cases in which there would. I
think, be some difficulties administratively, which we do not need to
go into now. But in this particular respect' I think that this assurance
is valid.

I might add that if I were writing it, I would add the words "ma1

feasance or gross incompetence." I cannot conceive that either one
would over occur unless the man had a mental breakdown or some-
thing. We would be choosing an individual, in the first instance, from
the whole of the United States who had established a recognized
reputation for competence in the first instance and for probity in the
second and, of course, gross incompetence and malfeasance represent
the opposite, you might say the extremes in the lack of the very quali-
ties lie has to have to begin with.

Senator KENN iDD. But in the provisions of the Stevenson resolution
are there any powers you feel the special prosecutor should not hav e.
other than those which vou outlined that are administratively goingi
to present some difficulty?

Secretary RICHARDsoN. No.
Senator F -EN NEDY. As far as the scope of authority goes, when you

talk to any of these potential prosecutors you are willing to indicate
that that represents, at least in part or in whole-I do not know
whether you want to make other additions to it-the kind of authority
that a special prosecutor would have ?



Secretary RICHARDSON. I think it is in general subject to, as I said,
some administrative problems. I think it is a very good outline of the
kinds of responsibilities and assurances he should have.

The sole problem I have with it is the one we have been talking
about at some length and I would expect to use an outline like this
with perhaps some additions or modifications.

I am not quite in a position to submit it to the committee this morn-
ing'. I think it should be discussed with the individual. But when he
comes before you, I think he ought to have in hand in writing an out-
line of his responsibilities and an enumeration of assurances which
will be quite close to this, but which may have some additions.

Let me give you, lest there be misunderstanding, an example of an
administrative problem. Final authority over the selection of an ade-
quate staff of attorneys, investigative and other personnel, answerable
only to himself-that presents no problem except to the extent that
literally construed, he would be able to co-opt an attorney engaged in
an important antitrust matter, for instance. I think he should have
final authority over his staff in the sense that lie should not have to
take anybody he does not want and lie should be able to have anybody
he does want, provided he can get him in the sense that the man is
available.

Again the clause about defray all expenses seems to imply that there
has been an earmarked amount, and I think it would be difficult to ear-
mark. But on the other hand, I do not disagree with the sense of it. I
think he should have the understanding that lie would have available
whatever financial support is needed to do his job.

Senator KENNEDY. On that, is it his view of what he thinks he needs,
or is that your view of what you think he needs?

Secretary RICHARDSON. W ell, I would say his view in the first in-
stance. I do not think it would be likely that there would be any argu-
ment about this. Certainly, lie would have to feel that nothing he
intended to do was hampered by a lack of funds and he would be en-
titled to that assurance.

Senator KENNEDY. Let me ask how you perceive the relationship
between the special prosecutor and the FBI? Are you concerned at all
that Mr. Ruckelshaus had worked in the Justice Department for a
period of time with a number of the figures that have been identified
in this particular event? Do you believe that any arrangement that
would be made with the FBI ought at least to include a general order
within the FBI itself that any of the requests made by this special
prosecutor should receive the immediate attention of the FBI? Do you
think Mr. Ruckelshaus ought to be informed or kept informed?

Secretary RICITARDSON. Yes, I think one of the things that should
be done is that there should be issued a directive to the FBI to extend
full cooperation and that the special prosecutor would, in effect, have
call upon such agents as he needed.

Senator KENNEDY. Directly?
Secretary RICiiARDSON. He would be able and he should have the

opportunity, again consistent with any other responsibilities that lie
inight have, to select specific individuals from among the staff of
agents whom he wished to have detailed to his investigation.



Senltor KFNNEDY. Well, then what is his relationship with the
Director ]Does he have to notify the ]Director every time he wants some
kind of a service performed

Secretary RICuH RDSON-. No. My thought on this has been that he
would have a kind of strike force, to borrow the term that has been
used, or a s pecial prosecution force, and that each of the Assistant At-
torneys General, the Acting I)irector of the Federal Bureau of Inves-
tigation, U.S. attorneys, and other officers of the Department would
detail such personnel and provide such other assistance to the Special
Assistant Attorney General as he may request. Personnel detailed
would, for the duration of the detail, be responsible to the Special As-
sistant Attorney General and ultimately to the Attorney General, but
to no other officer of the Department.

Senator KE7 N EDY. What is this that you are reading from now ?
Secretary RICHARDSON-. This is a preliminary draft of the terms of

the job that T said I had been working on, but which is not final, be-
cause I think it should be the subject of discussion with the individual,
because, as vou correctly pointed out in the beginning, he needs to feel
that he has the right kind of support and assurances. But when it is in
final form, as i said, I will expect him to bring it before you.

Senator KENNEDY. But as I understand from what you have men-
tioned, at least from the working paper, after these men are assig.ned
to him within the Department or the FBI, they will be responsible to
the special prosecutor and only to him, is that correct ?

Secretarv RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY. On the issue of executive privilege, I think you

are probably familiar with the general guidelines that have been an-
nounced by the Executive Office. I would ask that the guidelines be
printed in the record, 'Mr. Chairnman.

[The guidelines referred to follow:]
MAY 3, 1973.

The President desires that the invocation of Executive Privilege be held to
a minimum. Specifically:

1. Past and present members of the President's staff questioned by the
FBI, the Ervin Committee, or a Grand Jury sbould invoke the privilege only
in connection with conversations with the President, conversations among
themselves (involving communications with the President) and as to Presi-
dential papers. Presidential papers are all documents produced or received
by the President or any member of the White House staff in connection with
his official duties.

2. Witnesses are restricted from testifying as to matters relating to na-
tional security not by executive privilege, but by laws (prohibiting the dis-
closure of classified infornmation (e.g., some of the incidents which gave rise
to concern over leaks). The applicability of such laws should therefore be
determined by each witness and his own counsel.

3. White House Counsel will not be present at FBI interviews or at the
Grand Tury and, therefore, will not invoke the privilege in the first instance.
(If a dispute as to privilege arises between a witness and the FBI or the
Grand lury. the matter may be referred to White House Counsel for a state-
ment of the President's position.)

MAY 4, 1973.
The followinz is a supplement to the Memorandum of May 3, 1973 regarding the

invocation of Executive Privilege:
"White House Counsel will be present at informal interviews of White House

personnel by Ervin Committee Staff, but only for the purpose of observing and
taking note,-. Privilege will be invoked by White House Counsel, if at all, only
in connection with formal hearings before the Ervin Committee."



Senator KENNIDY. Included in those guidel iles -I am prilnaril. in-
terested in paragraph 1. "Past and present members of the Pi',isints
staff questioned by the FBI, the Ervin 'Committee, or a, Grand Jury
should invoke the privilege only in connection with convesations
vii 11 th, Pr sident. conver'sati). amon thl(,'les--involvi'g ," com-

munications with the lrIe-;dent-and--this is the relevant part--,s
to I .si den ial papel's. lPre iniiial papers :,'e all do'-lw 'nts

acu.ed or ivc(:Ie d by the I iesideit orn v ni l neilJc of the White House
staff in connection with hi- official duties."

Suppose the special prosecutor is not willing to a, cept that
definition?

See',tS.VV R n i ,1acc. We would have a legal iP ue there with re-
spect to how to go about 5,-etl in,,' tlhe papes. This is anl example of the
isilbility of :m adversarv relttionslijp that we touched on a little
wh ile ago ;n the c.,ontext vhen. as I said, it is recognized that in these
matters, there would isi e to be maintained an armn's lenoth relation-
ship. It is ilmposible. I think, to kc ,ow in advance whiat processes
would have to be intsd. In any event, I would hope that this problem
will not arise and from all I Iave seen and from the President's stt,-
meats, Ie intends that whiatever' should be made public in terms of the
public interest in these investia,, ttions should be disclosed.

I think it should be noted with respect to these -,.uidelines that the
opportunity is reserved in the very last sentence, which say that. "If a
dlispute as to Drivilege arises letv:,eu a \vitness and the FBI ori the
Grand Jury, the matter may be referred to Whii e House counsel for a
statement of the President's position."

I take it what that means is that in any cas'e where a witness invokes
the privilege before the FBI or the grand jury and the special prosecu-
tor' believes that it should not have been invoked, that issue has to go
back automaticall v to the President's counsel and the President's coun-
sel or the President himself is specifically given the opportunity at that
point to waive it. f would expect that that would, as a practical matter,
in most instances, be the result. I cannot say, obviously, just because
1 do not know. how any given matter would be acted on.

in any event, your question is in effect, suppose special counsel ad-
vises that the President de,'ide to stand on the privilege and the special
prosecutor believes that it should not be invoked. Then the matter, as
I view it, would have to be ruled on by a judge havino jurisdiction in
thne matter.

Senator KENNL.i. Well, within the guidelines to the executive de-
partments put out by the administration in 1969, it gives very broad
discretion to the Attorney General:

If the department head and the Attorney General agree, in accordance with
the policy set forth above, that executive privilege shall not ie invoked in the
circumstances, the information shall be released to the inquiring congressional
agency.

It 'ives verv broad authority in this area to the Attorney General
and I am interested in what hat you are going to wear. According to
the 1969 memorandum, which sets forth the administration's position
on executive privilege and which gives you considerable authority to
indicate when executive privilege would be invoked, if the special
prosecutor comes to you and says, "eWe think this is being much too



narrowly construed," you would have the rather generous authority to
release the material. But which hat are you going to wear.

Secretary RicHAuDSON. The 1969 guidelines, of course, were written
without anticipation of the kind of situation that we are dealing with
here. The assumption of the 1969 guidelines was that the Attorney
General was acting as the lawyer for the executive branch in advising
the President on an issue of executive privilege. In the present context,
th- President, with whatever independent advice, including the advice
of White House counsel, he may wish to call upon, would have to make
the call on whether or not to invoke privilege. In that case, if the special
pros. cutor believed that the public interest required the testimony of
the witness, I would expect, as I said, that he would seek in the court
the adjudication of the issue whether, (a) the privilege was properly
invoked, and (b) even if so, whether there was some public interest
tlp compelled, nevertheless, that the testimony be produced.

I will not repeat here, and I do not imagine you want to repeat here,
either, the whole colloquy about my relationship to the special prosecu-
tor. This is simply another example of a case in which the judgment
and authority of the special prosecutor could be assumed to have, for
all practical purposes, complete authority.

The CHAIRMAN. The Chair is going to have to leave for a few min-
utes. Senator Scott will be recognized next and we will recess from 12
to 2 o'clock.

Senator KENNEDY [presiding]. Those guidelines were reissued, as I
understand it, subsequent to March 12, subsequent to President Nixon's
statement, which continues to give the Attorney General a major role
in actually determining the exercise of the executive privilege. I want
to give Senator Scott some time, but I would like to go into just one
other area, Mr. Secretary. That is the scope of the special prosecutor's
territory.

We talked just a little bit yesterday about the election finance viola-
tions. Do you see that that would be included within the scope of the
prosecutor's responsibility?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I expect to give him responsibility for any
investigations and prosecutions involving violations of the campaign
laws where it was alleged or suspected that White House personnel
or any major appointee of the administration was involved. I am told
that there are some 3,000 campaign law matters now pending in the
Department. The bulk of those, it seems to me obvious, should con-
tinue to be within the jurisdiction of the Civil Division.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, what about the committee, the CREEP
reporting violations? Would they be included?

Secretary RICIARDsoN. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY. They would be included in the special prose-

cutor's responsibility?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, certainly.
Senator KENNEDY. Do you know whether the milk fund case or the

Vesco case would be included?
Secretary RICHARDSON. I do not know enough about them.
Senator KENNEDY. You had some association with the Committee

for Reelecting the President during the course of the last campaign:
did you not? Could you just very briefly outline that relationship?



Secretarv RICHARDSON. I was one of the Cabinet officers who, in the
role of so-called surrogate, made speeches around the country, ap-
peared on interview programs, occasionally college campuses, and so
on. I talked about the achievements of the administration in fields
of youi interest in the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare and
things like that. It was a campaign role which put our best foot for-
ward.

Senator KE\NEDY. I know some other Attorneys General that had
been involved in political activities as well.

Secretary RICHARDSON. It has certainly not been unknown.
Senator KEINl\NEDY. You have been kind enough to supply to me your

scheduling programs which show contact with the Committee to Re-
elect the President. I suppose the question is. given the fact of your
association with the Committee to Reelect the President, what reluct-
aqnce you might have in seeing that their reporting violations are go-
in- to be fully aired by the special counsel and whether you feel,
given your association with the committee in the past, whether this
presents the kind of problem that was outlined in Mr. Kleindienst's
resignation letter.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I would have no hesitancy. Indeed, Senator
Kennedy, the implication, of course, in a lot of the questions-I am not
speaking in any resentment of this; the questioning has been perfectly
fair-but its implication, nevertheless, is that because I have been a
part of the administration, or in this case because I was a surrogate
and my scheduling was handled by the Committee to Reelect per-
sonnel, that I might go easy or I might be tempted to go easy. Actually,
my feeling is the opposite. I do not want to get dramatic about it, or
melodramatic, but I am among a great many Republicans, including
Republican office holders, who feel betrayed by the shoddy standards
of morals displayed by people whose activities have recently come to
light. So that feeling, at least, puts me in a position where, let's say,
it at least compensates for, if it does not more than offset-it should
not more than offset, but it certainly in my mind and conscience at
least neutralizes-any feeling I might otherwise have arising out of
prior associations.

Senator KENNEDY. As was stated by Senator Hart, I do not think
that there is anyone on the committee who could possibly doubt your
sincerity in that statement or your basic willingness and fundamental
integrity to pursue it. I suppose the question is, again as it was raised
by Senator Hart, whether the people around the country are going
to want to accept your objectivity when they know that you appeared
at various functions of the Committee to Reelect the President, that
they helped to arrange your schedule and they developed your own
appearances through the course of the campaign-and whether people
are going to feel that you are going to press this as completely as it
should be pressed.

Secretary RICUARDSON. I understand, and I think it is a fair ques-
tion, and I have tried to answer it as best I can.

I hope I did not leave any imputation that no one has suggested
that there have been a lot of very mature, very decent and capable
people working for the committee and people with whom my office



dealt or whom I had any contact with who were charged with handling
the scheduling of surrogates. Let me put it the other way around : N one
of them has been suggested to be implicated in any wty and we can
and must continue to operate on the basis that no one is guilt? until
so proven.

Senator KENNEDY. Do you also see the inclusion within the s'op
of the jurisdiction of the political espionage and sabotage and cover-
up conspiracies as well?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY. The alleged destruction of the viretap re(.(bo

of the FBI?
Secretary RICHARDSON. That would have to be inchidied based on

what limited information I have had about it.
Senator ]KENNEDY. And how do you view the grossest kind of wrong-

doing or coverup by the high government officials or the misuse of
facilities or positions, and so forth? How will you direct the prosecutor
to make that information public? Or will you?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I would not attempt to direct him in such
a matter.

Senator KENNEDY. How would you guide him? If he comes to you
and says he found this kind of information that perhapq does not vio-
late the law, but obviously is just that much short of it. It is the arosz-
est kind of wrongdoing or malfeasance or misfeasance in termsi of pub-
lic trust. What should he do about that type of information ? Will he
file it with the court or will he be willing to make that public, or what
will be the construction or his understanding?

Secretary RICHARDSON. My understanding with him would have to
be, or his understanding with me, as in other areas, that his own judg-
ment or recommendations would have to be entitled to very great
weight or, as I said before, great momentum for respect. This kind of
thing can present, of course, very difficult issues insofar as damage to
individuals can be concerned in cases where there are allegations, but
where they do not add up to proof, and I do not think any general rule
can be laid down. I think it would have to be a matter of balancin'
public interest at the time, including the interest of the public in full
knowledge, with a decent regard for the reputations of individuals.

Senator KENNEDY. The inclusion of activities that were prior to the
campaign-the noncampaign activities by some of the conspirators
while in government, would that be included as well?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think so, if I understand what you are sav-
ing. I would like just to go back for a moment to a point I made earlier:
namely, that it seems to me that given the variety of acts or activities
that have come to light lately, the only common denominator that
seems to me relevant in deciding what the scope of the jurisdiction of
the special prosecutor should be is the involvement of White House
personnel. major administration appointees, or, as you have added and
I agree, people who were part of the Committee to Reelect.

Senator KENNEDY. Both within the campaign, the CREEP cam-
paign and-

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, Senator Kennedy-to l)It it another
way. what is involved here is a situation in which the confidenice in the
conduct of governmental and political processes has reached a crisis
stage. A special prosecutor should be charged with responsibility for



matters that a tifot tlht confidence. So t!i]s, I think, is; in the broadest
sense the touchstone that should deteriine what areas are a-ssined to
him.

Senator Scor. Would the Sec'ota i- defer for a minute?
I wonder whether tihe Senator from Massachusetts would let me have

10 minutes ? I have been here for 2 days and it is difficult for me to get
back.

Senator KENNEDY. I will conclude, Senator Scott.
Mr. Secretary, as I mentioned at the outset and as you havo recog-

nized in your willingness to permit or urge the special prosecutor to
appear before the committee to outline some memorandum of under-
standing, you can see why it's important for us to at least be aware of
the kinds of responsibilities and the scope and the power of this special
attorney, from your point of view and what is being represented to
the special attorney himself.

Secretary RicHRDsoN. Absolutely.
Senator KENNEDY. I think it is terribly important even in relation-

ship to the kind of special attorney that would be willing to ac,,.ept the
responsibility. It is for these reasons that we wanted to get into these
particular matters.

Secretary RIcn .XD.qON. I fully agree, Senator Kennedy, and I wel-
comed and do welcome the opportunity to respond to these questions.
I hope that this colloquy has been useful to the record. I think so.

Senator KENNEDY. Senator Scott?
Senator SCOTT. Thank you, Mr. Kennedy.
Mr. Secretary, we are discussing here at length, as we should, the

element of trust. I think you know that I feel that we ought to extend
to you as much trust as we do to each other. That is very considerable.
We have had your assurances that the special prosecutor will have theapproval of the Senate, that the guidelines under which he operates
the Senate will have an opportunity to approve. We have quite rightly
been discussing the scope and independence of the special prosecutor.
I think we are concerned as to what comes out of this process at the
end and what we are anxious to clarify is what happens to the report
of the special prosecutor.

In other words, at some point, that distinguished American will
have been selected after you have consulted with those people you
have mentioned and others, including the former Chief Justiee of the
United States, will make findings, perhaps findings of fact and find-ings of law, and recommendations. I think the Senate wants to be
assured that when, notwithstanding the legal responsibilities whichthat should place on you as well as the Constitution, and notwith-
standing the necessity for you to make available facilities and to con-
tinue with consultative assistance, that the report of the special prose-
cutor will be public, that it will be reported fully to the American
people, that the recommendations of the prosecutor will not in any
way be interfered with; and that such prosecutor's recommendations,
if they lead to prosecution, will proceed normally through the judicial
process. I take it that that is what you are trying to achieve, is it not.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, it is, Senator Scott.
Senator SCOTT. Now, the President this morning made it clear to

me that he will in no way intervene in the selection of the prosecutor
95-389-73-4



nor in the conduct of his office, nor in his final report; that the investi-
gation must proceed without fear or favor to the full and complete
truth and toward the final fixing of responsibility through the judi-
cial process. That is not a quote, but it is a just paraphrase. I agree
with that and I am sure that you agree with it.

I feel that the Senate is being made so integrally a part of this
whole proceeding that the American people are going to draw the
conclusions that no one will permit the truth to be aborted and that
there is no conceivable way by which the development of the full
truth can or should be prevented.

We have only one other alternative if we can come to a full under-
standing of what you and the special prosecutor regard as your civil
function. The other alternative would be a statute establishing a new
agency, a new prosecutorial system. It would involve bills in bothHouses, it would involve hearings, it would involve debate, and then
it would involve a long process by which it would be determined whoshould be selected, individually or in a group, to serve in that capacity.There would be no opportunity for judicial review, there would beno opportunity for the processes of dissent except within that groupif it were more than one person. There would be no way by whichthe personal ambitions of anyone who might have been so selectedthrough the political process could deter him and such a person wouldbe unique in our modern system, it seems to me, after the lapse of 6,
8, or 10 weeks in his selection.

Now, I do not think time is working with us. The events are movingapace. It seems to me essential that we get on with the resolution ofthis whole dirty business and get the whole truth without any fear or
favor to any Person anywhere.

I have made the statement I did because I am satisfied that that is theway the President feels about it. I am not quoting him on the specialagent or the special law, but ,s to the rest of it, I am sure I believe himand I hope this committee will move promptly with the confirmation;I hope you will move promptly with the selection of the special pros-ecutor, and that that person will be of such an identity that the Senateand the American people will instantly recognize his capacity and hischaracter and his competence and trustworthiness. In our system ofgovernment, we, have to start somewhere in the process of making itwork. I think we start with a trusted Attorney General-designate; westart with a trusted special prosecutor; we start with the assurancesthat the President of the United States wishes a complete, total, abso-lute and utter investigation to the end, to the truth, and to the ulti-mate consequences. And I believe that is what the American peoplewant and I would assume that you agree with that.
Secretary RICHARDSON. I fully agree, Senator Scott. I think youhave very sensibly, and I think wisely, summarized the situation weare m in a way that has brought to bear its setting as well as thespecifies that we have been discussing here today, and-I think that has

been a very useful contribution to this discussion.
Senator ScoTT. Thank you, Mr. Richardson.
I again make the point because it can't be made too often that noelected public official has been involved with this scandalous affair,that no elected public official has condoned it, that it has been con-



(leiniied and p rilnarily yv thie members of my own partry, Ibwt all of us
shav'e with Ion the deteriniiiation that whovei is guilty should be
lnuisied, that there should be no presumption of (milt until guilt has
1)en liroNcd, if it il provdc, in a judicial proceeding. So I believe that
this comil itt e will filw :i way to be satisfied ll ' Vo li ae not theslightet intention of inteifeing or interdictiwi any action by he

lIwcial prosacc,,it cr which would lead him to tl i preirai ion of a full,
inlepen lent, fair : id uninfluenced final series of recommendations.
'lUhaI is what I want to be sine of.

Secclklary ]1(I.\RDscx. You call certainlv hax e that m-aiiance Sen-
ator S,ott. Those art, the very objectives that I know we all share. (,r-
tainlv they ati the objectives with which I would, if conririned, under-
take Ihe esponsibilities of the Attorney Generalship.

Scimhoa ii' T'. I thnilk you very much, Mr. Secre iary.
Thank you, Senator Kennedy.
Senator KENNEDY. In accordance with the eiajnian's statement, we

will recess now and reconene at 2 o'clock.
LWlier.cipc . at 11:55 a.m., the committee was recessed until 2 p.m.

of the same day.]
\'TE RNOON SESSION

Senator B-Yit [presiding]. Ve will reconvene our hearings.
Mr. Attorney General-designate, I once again apologize for this

delav to which you have been subjected as the result of the normal
le.islative process. I know the past few hours have not been the most
(10mffotable hours of your life.

I have been impressed, sitting and listening, as well as going over
the transcript, with some of the things that have been said, both on
your side of the witness table and on this side of the witness table,
whill make it rather obvious to me that there is a deep concern and
a beep understanding by all of us of the severity of the challenge
which presently confronts our basic governmental institutions and
the important role which you as Attorney General will play in resist-
ing th at challenge and seeing that justice is meted out, that the inno-
cent are protected and the guilty are convicted, and that the public
confidence in the entire governmental process is restored.

I have been involved in two or three or four others that at the mo-
ment seemed monumental matters before this committee. Indeed, I
think the station involved and the issues involved were of significant
ifiportance. But the times were different. Issues tend to take on the
complexity of the times. We are not only talking about justice and
our confidence in the system, but, as Senator Hart has discussed with
a certain amount of detail in this and other nominations before this
committee, we are also equally concerned about the appearance of
jutice and public confidence in the system. I am sure that I do not
need to discuss in detail the content of the Code of Judicial Conduct
with a former practicing attorney and editor of the Harvard Law Re-
view. We both realize that those canons of legal ethics stress the
appearance just about as much as they do the letter of the law.

Having said that and having also 'complimented you, sir, on what
I feel has been a direct and sincere approach to the problem which
confronts us all, let me try to clarify, at least in my own mind as well
as in the record, some of the points which may still be up in the air.



I hope not to replow a lot of the same -round that has been covered
bv my colleagiues. but perhaps we will have to touch on some of it
in order to lay the foundation for questions which I might feel are
necessary to fill in areas which have not been adequately c.x e'.d.

It seems that one of the basic concerns or basic difference.. of opin-
ion which has properly occupied the minds of some of the memlers of
this committee as well as yourself, sir. was the problem of Oist~iniguish-
in2" between real and meaningful authority and of drawing the lines
which have been described on other occasions as complete authority
and final authority. I have been searchino- for a definition that will
indicate where the line of complete authority, which you are anxious
and willing to grant to the special prosecutor, ends and your final
authority to make determinations begin,;. I have a series of very quick,
pointed questions that will attempt to define that a bit.

Would you care to make any comment other than thit which vou
have already made about where you feel the complete authority which
you would give to the special prosecutor would start and your final
authority would begin?

TESTIMONY OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON-Resumed

;ecrotarv RTCHARDSOX. I do not think I could much improve in ab-
stract terms, Senator Bayh, from what I have said already. I think
perhaps it would contribute more at this stage if I did sek to respond
as best I can to the series of specific questions which you just
mentioned.

Senator BAYII. Let me do that, then, because althouf'h we have a
rather good picture of the landscape, perhaps we need to put some
leaves on the trees.

During general discussions of this authority problem both here and
in private, you have sincerely emphasized your intentioni to free the
hands of the special prosecutor. You want to give the appearance of
freedom from and lack of influence on the part of those who may
indeed be found culpable in the future. But let me deal with specifics.

If all goes well and there are no differences of opinion between
yourself. sir, and the special prosecutor, it seems to me that we would
not have a problem. So in order to define where the one authority
begins and the other one stops, let me suppose there are differences of
opinion between you and the special prosecutor in the following cir-
cumstances. Then I would like you, for our record, to describe who
would have the authority-not in terms of complete authority or final
authority, but in terms of who will make the decision.

If there is a difference between you and the special prosecutor ,as
to the nature and the scope of grand jury proceedings, who will have
the final determination?

Secretary RICITARDSoN. I guess perhaps, Senator, one general ob-
servation is necessary. You said, in framing the question, if there is a
difference between me and the special prosecutor, who would make the
decision. The only answer I can honestly give you to the question as
framed in that way is the special prosecutor, because the question im-
plies that it is just a difference and I think I have already indicated
that on any question of judgment-

Senator Bx.Yu. Let me rephrase the question, beeause I am not talk-
ing about nit-picking differences here. I think "nature and scope,"



by their very definition, are rather large and ei'ompassmng words. Let
Its ,Ul)pose there is a significant difference, or several differences, in
which the special prosecutor wants to proceed down one avenue of
invest igation, w ants to broaden or narrow the scope, and you on the
other hund feel that this is not appropriite. Who will have the final
dkteriination with respect to that definition of the nature and scope
of grand jurv proceedings

Secretary kII(UIARDSO(N. I will feel that if his judgment vas reason-
ably supported and understandable in terms of his more intimate
ktowledge of the situation on the whole, that his judgment should
prevail. I would not in that situation interpose my own.

Senator 18 vIi. J do not want to nit-pick here, but y,,a qualified the
answer and I would like to proceed further.

You said, "If his judgment is reasonable." *Who would make the
determination as to whether his judgment is reasonable under those
circumstances?

5ecretarv RICHAIMSON. I think what has to be expressed here, and I
am a r'aid we do have to get into a kind of generalized statement, is
that, as I said earlier, his judomnent would have great momentum for
resl)ec . somewhat like the reserved power of a court to intervene in
om-ernmental administrative proceedings where the administrative
agency is 1behaing arbitrariv or capriciously. if I thought, and I
can scarcely imagine that it would be otherwise, that lie was acting on
a basis that reflected a responsible, professional judgment within the
scope of the authority and the jurisdiction vested in him, I would not
interpose my own judgment. I would respect his judgment. The de-
cision, therefore, would be his.

Senator BAYI. Well, the qualification that you describe is very
closely, akin to appellate review, and that is final and determinative.
So in essence, you are saying

Secretary RICHARDsON. Yes. it is. But this is what I have been trying
to say about ultimate responsibility as distinguished from, to repeat,
the authority to do the job. I would not expect to second-guess him.
And it would only be in an extreme situation, which I have just now
tried to characterize in terms of the substantial finality of adminis-
trutive proceedings.

Senator P \Yni. LCould you give us a specific example that might be
more akin to the specific problems we are talking about now?

Secretary PCIcIrARsoN. Yes. I remember when I was U.S. attorney,
the toughest problems I had were questions of whether the evidence
that I expected to be able to present to a court justified the return of an
indictment against a potential defendant. You bring all the witnesses
1)(fore the grand jury and you know that if you ask the grand jniy
to return the indictment, they will. You then have the question of
whether you should ask for this.

Now, this is a tough call, or it can be, as you know. And you have to
call upon your own sense of fairness as well as upon your knowledge
of the evidence. Now. in a matter of that kind, I would not think of
intorvning or influencing the judgment of the special prosecutor.
That is quite a practical example of his actual responsibility as to
which I would not second-Piiess him.
T,ke another. given the present state of the law, the power to im-

munize a witness. which has come up. The question of whether to



immunize the witness, of course. involves some of the issues we touched
on yesterday in the colloquy with Senator Ervin. In that kind of jiil--
ment call, his decision would be, in practice, final, because it is a jmll-
ment call. As I have repeatedly said, I would not second-guess that
kind of call.

So you really have to imagine a situation where the man is really
behaving totally out of the kind of character that we attribute to him
before I would interpose my own judgment. Nevertheless, and to re-
peat again, I would still feel that I was ultimately respon-ible in the,
sense that this was a man acting in the name of the United States, hold-
ip- an appointment in the Department of Justice. I would feel that I

was exercising responsibility when I said I am not going to intervene;
this is his job.

Senator B.YI. But in the specific area that you just referred to, if
there were difierences of opinion between you and the special prosecu-
tor about the nature and scope of immunity which should be granted,
the special l)posectltor would be the one to make the final determina-
tion on that .

S('retar v IRIC.RDSOx. Yes, always assuming that it is a judgment
as to which{ reasonable people could differ. In that case, his view would
prevail because I had given him the job, because I had confidcci'w in
him, because he knew more about it than I did, and becaus(,, in the
setting in which he would be acting. I think it would be inappropriate
for me to substitute my judgment.

Senator Ba i r. Both as far as the nature and scope of the grand jury
proceedings and the nature and scope of imnmunity, von do a magnif-
icent case of making me very confident and secure. Then you add one
more sentence and sort of pull a trapdoor. You and I miloJt be con-
vinced that you, as the Attorney General, could make a totally objec-
tive determination as to when the prosecutor was acting reasonably.
Yet you insist on putting in that one caveat even in response to
s)eeifics.

Secretary IITARDSOx. Yes, I do. But if I may-I am repeating" my-
self quite a lot-I think that is the caveat that has to be there if I am
to be Attornev General at all. I think, however, that it is a caveat
which, as I have repeatedly tried to say, is not in practice going to
create problems. If the situation is one where it could, either I am
being arbitrary or he is. If it is his judgment that I am being arbitrary,
he would have the (iity to make that known and to take any steps that
he thought appropriate. If I thought he was, I would have to make
some decision as to what I thought was indicated.

But I think that the nature of the situation is such that given the
kind of person we are seeking, given the kind of person I believe I am,
the likelihood of this i- extremely remote.

Senator BAxY. Well. I think it is, too, but you and I have been in
public life long enough, to know that the true test of the law, lnst like
the true test of a sailboat, is not when the skv is clear. The true
test is when the weather is stormy and when there is a significant
confrontation.

I was thinking just the other night that one of the first baptisms of
fire I got involved in as far as the legislative process is concerned dealt
with the 25th amendment on Presidential succession. It was relatively
easy for us to come to a conclusion as to what should be done if the



President was unable to declare his own disability or did declare his
disability. But then i hen you get into a situation where the President
says one thing and the Cabinet says another-

The CHAnn-MxN [presiding]. That is a roll call vote. We will recess
and come back.

[Recess.]
Senator B1\Yn. [presidiu2 I. We will comime.
To itet back to tbe sp e'ilmcs, we were talkiig, when the vote bell rai),,

about irrespomible acts of the -pecial prosecutor which would require
you to exercise final authoritY and counter his deision. If you had
a prosecutor who was conducting himself in such a way that lIe would
not meet the test that you establish. would it not be appalrent enough
to the public generallv that you should exercish the awithoritv to re-
move such amI irresponsible 1 roscutor. Thus you could give him a
complete authority which would be the same as final authority while
he was in office. However, if lie became irresponsible you would be
able to remove him and obtain a replacement.

Secretary PiciIAnPJso-. The point is, Senator Bayh, that I could
not legally as Attorney General give him final authority in accord
with the statute creationg the office and defining its function. So it
would seem to me, therefore, that the final resu it should be experienced
tie other way around.

Seuator BAY11. This is the first time that I have heard vou suggest
that this is just a legal reservation. In referring to the alpeals proc-
ess. you inferred that theme might be circumstances that would cause
you to make judgmneutal decisions that would go beyond the legal
niceties of the specific authority you have as Al toinc, General. As I
said in my conversation with Aou personally. I understand the posi-
tion vou are in leg'ally. However, from an operating tandpoint, it
wouldl seem to me that you could, for all intents and purposes, let
him do all the operating with the understanding that he could not
exercise the legal authority which you alone as Attorney General pos-
-ess. If he became unreasonable, vou could just discharate him?

Secretary RIcTrAmrox. I do not quarrel vith that formulation of
the situation at all. "For all intents and purposes" is the phrase you
used there and that is exactly what I have been tryin! to convey. For
all intents and purposes, or as I put it earlier. for all prnctical pur-
poses, be would have final authority. But it seeuis to me that in terms
of the formullation of his responsilility. that while I am prepared to
make clear this practical result. I have'also felt that I could not prop-
erly abandon the ultimate responsibility vested in the office of Attor-
1,ev General.

Senator BAYi. Well. I am not sure. considering." tbe other thing's
that have been said. that your answer fully satisfies my concern.

Let me ask vou-
Secretarv RIC1L\U DSO',-. You mean that does not fully express what

you meant? Because I have just aareed with it.
Senator BAYn. I fear that, in lia'ht of everything yon said before,

my definition of those words would be differeit from yours.
Secretary RICLIARDs'N-. You mean there could be something wrong

if r agreed with vou? Could there be somethin. wrong?
Senator BAxi. You say rio'ht now that you agoree with my definition

of what the special prosecutor's authority should be, but you empha-



size "for all intents and purposes" and you are not willing to change
what vou said earlier about the reference to the court and the appeals
process.

Secretary RICHARDSON. _No; because I felt you had very well restated
the matter for me: in slightly different words but to the same effect,
that is what I have been trying to say.

Senator BAYH. I was using my definition of the words, but I'm not
sure of yours.

Let's try to nail down a couple more specifics.
Suppose the special prosecutor thought that justice required him

to subpena White House files and, in your judgment, this should not
occur. Who would have the final authority to make that determination?

Secretary RICIARDSOxN. Well, again, I would give you the same
answer. He would have the power delegated to him to take action nec-
essary to do his job. In a case like this, if he felt that this was neces-
sary, I would have to feel that his doing so was beyond the pale of
responsible iudgment before I would interfere with him.

Senator BAYIi. Well, I will not repeat what I said earlier, but I
wish you would just leave that "responsible judgment" clause off.

Secretary RiCHARDSON. Well, I think aga'in here, now, we are only
dealing with what could be in that specific situation-there would bepresumablv an adversary relationship, unless, of course, the WhiteHouse. as it might, voluntarily agreed to furnish paper or furnish theanswer, whatever they were. It is a question of asking the witness, thepotential witness, to furnish information. I cannot conceive any basison which I would intervene as a practical matter. The witness and anyperson alleged to be involved in that situation would have the benefitof counsel, and if there were a dispute, it could, I believe, and should,
be adjudicated by the court having jurisdiction. The assertion of theright or a clain to reach evidence should certainly be within the scope
of the responsibilities of the special prosecutor.

Senator BAYI. You could look at the ultimate problem. Supposethe prosecutor determined it was necessary to get the President's af-fidavit or to have his testimony personally. Would that be the kind of
determination that he could make?Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, In that case, I think if there were any
i)roblem with it at all, it would be a problem raised by counsel to the
President.

Senator BAYH. Let me move on to another area. I think you saidin answer to a question of one of my colleagues who preceded me thatvou felt that vou had no relationship with any of the individuals whomight be under investigation that would give you pause to considerserving as Attorney General. For that reason, you decided not tofollow the :ane course of action that Attorney General Kleindienst
did, or at least not to waive authority over the Watergate case. Could
you tell me quickly how you arrived at that decision, the specific
standards you used?

Secretary RIcHARDSON. My earlier answer to that, Senator Bavh,was in the context of the comment on a sentence quoted from At-torney General Kleindienst's letter of resignation, which Senator
Kenn'edy had used as a way of eliciting my attitude on this point. Inthat answer, I pointed to the words which referred to the closenessor the intimacy of the relationship that Attorney General Kleindienst
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felt he had with individuals -ho were alleged to have some invoIl-I
ment in these matters. I said that I do not feel that I have had a
degree of clo.,eess or intimacy which gives me concern on this.

These are individuals with whom I have worked, with whom I have
been on good terms. I have known them in various settings, inchiding
social contacts. But where an oath of office requiring full and fair
enforcement of the law is concerned, I would not feel inhibited in
doing my own job by any past relationship.

I do think that the public is entitled to an additional ineasure of
reassurance as to the integrity of the process, and that, of coun,,, is
why I would propose to appoint a special prosecutor.

N evertheless, even if no special prosecutor were appointed, I would
have felt able to do this job and do it right myself as Attorney General,
quite apart from any other consideration.

In any event, I do not ask anyone to rely solely on my assessment of
my personal attitude or fitness to do this job alone. I ask them to jud,,e
it on the basis of whatever may be their assessment of my own objec-
tivity, fairness, fearlessness, together with, as I said earlier, the reas-
surance that derives from the fact that I would not in fact be ,oonduct-
ing these investigations or prosecutions directly, but rathwr, would
have delegated responsibility.

Senator BAY1I. Yes. I asked the question and perhaps I am overly
sensitive about the appearance situation, having gone through the
toughest battle of my life up to that time over a Supreme Court-nomi-
nee whom I felt had unintentionally become involved in what the ma-
jority of the Senate felt was a conflict of interest, a probl-i n 'w.hich is
totally apart from yours. But the appearance of propriety is perhaps
even more important now, the appearance of objectivity is as impor-
tant as the actual fact. I, for one, am convinced that you are deter-
mined in your own mind to be objective. Unfortunately, there a'e a lot
of people out there who have not had a chance to sit down across the
table and talk to Elliot Richardson and elicit his responses to questions.
They are aware that Mr. Kleindienst was the ilnvaediate subordinate
of Mr. Mitchell, and that, thus, he felt compelled to resign as Attorney
General.

Am I wrong in my assessment of the organizational chart to make a
reasonable comparison with the fact that as Secretary of HEW, you
did report to Mr. Ehrlichman as the White House chief of domestic
affairs? It is that kind of thing -which sort of clouds the picture a bit
as far as the appearance of total objectivity. Does that concern you at
all, or any relationships you might have had with Mr. Haldeman or
Mr. Dean or Mr. Mitchell or Mr. Stans or some of the others?

Secretary RICHARDSON. It has concerned me to the extent that I have
felt that it required a careful search of my own conscience to determine
whether or not I could properly undertake this responsibility. As I
have said, I believe that I can conscientiously do so. But I ani sensitive
to the considerations of appearance that you have alluded to and that
have been previously referred to. That is the principal reason why I
have proposed the appointment of a special prosecutor.

Senator BAYH1. Could I ask one more question on this, and then I
want to get on.

Secretary RICHARDSON. May I add one more point?
Senator BAYH. Please.



Se.retarv RTciL.n1'sex. I am not sure that the issue should turn on
shadings o'f distinction. but I think there is considerable distinction
betwcen the daily intimacy of a relationship between a Cabinet de-
partment head and his deputy and the relationship between a Cabinet
head and a member of the President's staff. I do not accept the charac-
terization 'reporting to" Mr. Elirliehman as descriptive of the rela-
tionship I had with him.

Senator B.,i-ir. Well, what was your relationship with him, then?
Se,'retary RiciiArasox. He was ihe Executive Director of the Do-

inestic Council.
Senator PAYv-. Were you a member of that Council?
Secretary RICI!ARDSOX. I was a member of it: the President is

chairman of it. Since the Domestic Council is concerned with, among
other things. the kinds of issues that HEW was concerned with, there
were frequent occasions to deal with him on these matters.

Senator BAYIT. Let me ask one last question in this area of concern.
I will start off by saying that I think that all of us here understand
that our number one goal is restorino" faith in justice. Could von tell
me. if ttt is tb,, number one goal, what does your presence in the in-
vestietion .a; Attorney General, with final authority as we have de-
scrib)ed it. add to the ability of our oovernrnental process to reach tbat

oal tl,-.t iq not more than offset by the possible amearance of less than
a totaly free, ;idependent special prosecutor? WIat unine onality is
contriblutel by your refusinv. to say absolutely and unqualifiedly that a
special prosecutor has complete freedom ?

Secretary PTC11 \imso-. I think this is essentially for the committee
to say in the, liq'ht of all they know about me and in the light of what
T have said about the independence and the authority that would
be vested in tl-e special prosecutor and in the light of the committee's
assessment of his own character and reputation. I have had a consider-
able degree of exrperience in the area committed to the resronsihilitv
of the Attornev General. T have served as U.S. attornev, and as T S.
atto,'lev I investio'ated and prosecuted matters involvin'g considerable
sensiivity, potential pressure. Although I had been Assistant Seere-
t'rv in the EiP.mower administration in the Department of hEWV
I pro, eeuted Bernard Goldfine for income tax evasion and won a
conviction in that case.

I investigated land taY frauds in the Massachusetts Federal high-
way program which iivolved many prominent floures in the M\assa-
chusetts business nnd nolitical scene. I was involved in an extensive
investimation which led to the uncovering of massive corrmtion. Later,
as Att(oiev Genieral of the State, I developed what I believe to have
been the most effective organized crime investiga ting and prosecuting
unit in any State.

So I hexve some real backaround for this kind of job and some dem-
onstrated ability to deal with somewhat analogous situations. Al-
though .lot on this scale of national significance, nevertheless, it is
relevant experience.

Senator BATHI. I assume that the special prosecutor would be one
who had similar experience, and thus, it would not be necessary to
duplicate it.
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Secretary Rnlw'amsoN. IThait is true. But it means, in effect, that
when you as k why should I be here at all, this, together with sonic
)roveni competence as an aitlministrator and as an individual able to

deal with significant isst('e of national policy, are reasons why I have
lheii nominated. The question before this committee is whether they
think the combination of my background and experience, any assess-
ment you make of my persoial integrity, coupled with your under-
standing of the role of the sp(,cial l)rose(utor, give you sufficient con-
fhdence that the job is going to be done and done right.

Senator BIYiY. I mentione(l that I am impressed with your qualifi-
cations and your sincerity. I am just trying to weigh out the pluses
of providing a special prosecutor against the negatives inherent in
your position.

Se,]i'tarv lnh.\m-ox. I fully respect that and I think what you
are doing is in the public interest in raising, these questions. I have no
re-e'vation on that s-oire whatsoever. And I mean what I say when I
say that I think this is a question that the committee, or individual
IlI maherS of the committee. should resolve in its own mind.

Semtor BAYII. Our discussion has centered primarily on Mr.
Ehrli.hman. In lookingv at the names of some other people who have
)een aentioned-Mr. Haldeman. Mr. Dean, Mr. Stans, Mir. Mardian,
vIt. Colson, and Mr. Mitchell I would ask whether you had any

relationship with any of those men or others that would cause concern*
Secretary PIcI.mDa O. To me, no. I have known Mr. Colson longer

in time than any of the others. I was le'islative assistant to Senator
Leverett Saltonstall in 153 and 1954. I first met Mr. Colson when he
was a member of the Senator's staff in 1959 and 1969. I have seen him
off and on since then. I have had some relationships with him, some
(lea] ais with him on matters arising when I was at HEW.

The others I have known and dealt with on various matters since I
have been in this administration. I think it is fair to say that of all
the people who have been mentioned, I had more frequent contact
with Mr. Ehrlichman than with any of the others, and we have already
covered that relationship.

Semator BAYn. Could you be a little more specific than you have
been in the past about tle timing of the appointment of the special
prosecutor?

Sec'(,mtarv RITARDSON. Well, not much. We are at the point now of
siibmittin the list of finalists, for lack of a better word., to the presi-
(lents of the meior bar associations and to others, including, as I said,
former Chief Justice Warren. That should mean, therefore, that I
would be in a position, hopefully, by tomorrow or the next day, to
goet in touch with these individuals directly, starting at the top of the
list. I mean by "these individuals" people on the list.

I m-hlit make one amendment. Since I went into the procedure
yesterIev. I think I said then that I planned to arrange the names
on the liht in some order of priority. I now think that I should arrange
them simplv in alphabetical order and then ask these people to give
me their judgment as to the priority. On that basis I woul base the
final list and start at the top of the list. Of course, if the first person

Ssl. ed a.ve- to do it, that would shorten the period.
I ougotht to add one other point, though, that I left out yesterday.

I ha'e been thinking about it since. It would seem to me. the more we



have been pursuing this effort, it is a more necessary step than I had
believed it might be. That is, that I believe that an FBI inquiry should
be requested before an individual is named. While it is only a pre-
caution, I think it is a necessary precaution. That will take some time.

Senator BAYH. W¥hat is the estimate? Are we talking about 1 week,
2 weeks, 3 weeks, 4 weeks?

Secretary RIcIARDSON. I would ask them to give this absolute top
priority. I am sure they will cooperate in this. And I would hope that
if we could have agreement by some person to do the job so I could get
his name to the FBI by early Monday, that they could finish by the
end of the week.

Senator KENNEDY [presiding]. Would the Senator yield?
Senator BAYH. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY. Is there any reason why you could not give us

the list? You are giving it to the heads of the bar association; why can
you not give it to the Senate Judiciary Committee?

Secretary RIcmkRDsON. There is no reason I could not give you the
list following my contact with these bar association heads and others.

Senator KENNEDY. But I mean you are asking the bar association to
give their advice on it; why not ask the Judiciary Committee?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I would like to think about that. I certainly
have no problem with asking individual members of the Judiciary
Committee. I am not sure that it would be a good idea at that stage
to make the list public.

Senator KENNEDY. Why not?
Secretary RICHARDSON. The only concern I can see is that none of

these peonle have been approached at this point. They do not know
whether their names are on the list or not.

Senator KENNEDY. How could they be anything but complimented
by being one of four or five names on the list? How could they have
anything but the highest regard for being considered for perhaps one
of the most important opportunities for public service that has come
in this country and certainly in this century. How could anyone feel
anything but comTplimented by being on the list?

Maybe we could not aaree on the particular order. Maybe there
would be a difference in view of it, but perhaps not. Perhaps it would
be otherwise.

Should not the judgment of the members of both sides of the aisle in
this be carefully considered by you, just as the former bar association
presidents or others?

Secretary RICHARDsON. I certainly would be willing to invite com-
ment by members of the committee.

Senator KENNEDY. How will we know-how can we comment if we
do not get the list ?

Secretary RICIHARDSON. I think it is one thing to comment by mem-
bers of the committee individually. I think it is ouite another at that
stage to ask the committee as such, on a list of six to eight nemes. to
take any formal action as a body. That could create considerable
problems.

Senator KENNEDY. Well. could you lot make tle li-t available to
the members of the committee and then solicit their views even on a
part of it?



Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I could do that. I would be glad to do
that.

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you.
Senator BAY1I. Concerning the prosecutor and the powers that he

would be given, do you intend that he have the power necessary to
intervene and affect the course of action of proceedings that may al-
ready be in process elsewhere in the country with respect to the indi-
viduals involved in his investigation? I note that two principals were
indicted today in proceedings going on elsewhere. It seems to me that
if we really want justice to prevail, we want somebody, maybe the
special prosecutor, to have the authority to see to it that all these cases
are pursued consistently and diligently. Unless he had the authority to
intervene, that might not always be the case.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I agree with that. He ought to have more
than the authority to intervene, in my view. He ought to have all the
authority that would normally be vested in the Chief of the Criminal
Division with respect to the type of cases-and I tried to characterize
those earlier today-wherever in the country, that fall within the
area delegated to him.

Senator BAYHI. In considering the executive privilege problem, I
listened to and read the description you gave to Senator Kennedy re-
garding the course of action to be followed by the special prosecutor.
In the event the executive privilege question were raised, he could ask
for it to be waived by the White House, and then, if privilege were
not waived, he would ask for a judicial determination. Is that a fair
assessment?

Secretary RIIIARDSON. Yes, it is.
Senator BAYH-. Well, in trying to determine what ground rules the

special prosecutor would apply himself, would he be bound by the
ground rules of executive privilege as laid down by the White House?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No. And. of course, the White House has
not laid down any ground rules applicable to when it would waive the
privilege. The scope of the privilege is, I take it, much broader than
the scope of the situations in which it would be insisted upon.

Senator BAY. Whtat would be the criteria used by the special prose-
cutor in determining how far to pursue and when to ask for judicial
determination of privilege?,

Secretary RICHARnDSON. In the first instance, I assume-certainly it
is what, I'would do in his shoes-I would first seek to determine
whether I believed that the privilege had properly been invoked. I
would ask, in effect, does the privilege extend to this type of informa-
tion, and in his position he should draw that line narrowly and be pre-
pared to argue, if he believed that were so, that the line had been
drawn too widely, that the privile-e did not apply.

I would secondly argue, and I would expect'him to argue in that
case, that in any event it should be waived.

And finally, this would be an issue ultimately for the court, whether
weighing the public interest involved, there could nevertheless be
asserted'a basis on which to require the testimony.

This brings us to a legal issue that I cannot give the answer
to, really, what would the court do in that case? But, in any event,
what I am saying is that the prosecutor should, in my view, if he be-



lieves the evidence is important, press to get it by all the legal means
available to him.

Senator BAYIT. Well. would he have the final determination, then, aswell as the complete authority ? Would he have the final authorit in
the area of determining when to proceed with all diliogence ?

Secretary YP iI sx Yes. And as I said earlier, in this case the
fact that he believed the evidence was material on the ore side and the
fact that the White House would have the opportunity to be repr-
sented by a, counsel if there were any problems-means to me that this
is an area where I would have no occasion at all to interpose any iide-
pendent judgment.

Senator BAYU. This morning, in discussino campaign violations
with Senator Kennedy. you suggested that prosecution of most of theviolations of the act should be left to the Justice Department. As Irecall. you specified White House staff members who may be involved,
the personnel of the Comittee to Reelect the President, and admin-
istration officials, as the individuals whose campai.zn violations wouldbe the responsibility of the special prosecutor. Is that a fair assess-
ment of that testimony?

Secretary RicjARDSON. Yes.
Senator BAYIT. I wonder about one individual that I am not surefits in there at all. and I wonder how you could broaden the authority.

I do not know that this is relevant, but suppose you had someone like
Mr. Kalmbach. who I do not think fits into any of those categories andmay not be involved at all, but certainly has had his name bandied
around a little bit. Suppose you have someone like that who has not
been on the payroll of any of those other three categories. Is the special
prosecutor going to have the power to proceed against that individual,
or will that be left to the Justice Department?

Secretary RICIAnDSON. No, he ought to have responsibility in sucha matter, very clearly. I think. As I said earlier, if there is any common
denominator that ought to run through or characterize the matters
delegated to him, it would be some sort of White House involvement,
and in the case of Mr. Kalmbach, he has apparently acted in some
capacity as counsel to the President.

Senator BAYITl. Let me ask you a question or two relative to the dis-
cussion yesterday with Senator Kennedy concerning your lunch with
Mr. Krogh. I want to refer here to a specific response, in -which yousaid you were informed that the decision to turn over the memorandum
in question to Judge Byrne was made sometime during the week of
April 15.

Is that accurate ?
Secretary RICTiAIDSOx. Yes, although I checked since yesterday and

I find that the decision was made later than that. It was made about,
I think, on April 24.

Senator B.AYH [presiding]. May I ask you to tell the committee what
information you found overnight that changed the date by a good
week as far as the decision is concerned? I think this is relevant. inas-
much as there have been allegations that there was some pressure being
exerted to keep a report from being made at all. The time span between
the middle of the week of April 15, say April 17 or IS, and April 26,
when it was finally received by Judge Byrne, makes one ask the ques-
tion: Why did it take so long?



Secreta lv l iiARDSON. What happened was that-I liecked my
notes, that is how 1 found the difference in the date-w1:lit happened, I
be lieve, was that the Assistant Attorne( General in the H ateryute case,
Mr. Silbert, on April 18 brought to the attention of Henry Peter-
sell, the (Chief of the ('riiuinal I)ivision, who had been given general
support for all Watergate niattels or related matters, that John Dean
had given him, Silbert, information about the break-in.

I enrN Petersen checked around to see if any information deriving
from the break-in had found its way into the ]l7lberg cas,. [e ot neg-
at ive answers to that, so lie has told me, and he reported this to the
Attorney General, I think on the 24th. The Attorney Genera] al d he
concluded that they should bring to tie attentiol of the President their
judgment that the circumnstances then called for (,ealiiu- tihe situation
to the attention of Judge Byrne. On April 25, notice of it was sent to
Judge Byrne.

Senator B3arN. Then the decision was not made the week of Ap,'il 15,
as we discussed yesterday?

As I recall the conversation between you and Senator Kennedy y es-
terday, you said that Mr. Krogh had the opinion that national -e,-urity
data was involved in this situation and should not be made public. Is
that accurate?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I said that Krogh had a general understand-
ing that the matters he was working on in the plumbing operation
were matters that affected the national security. His affidavit goes into
this to considerably greater length than he 'did in his conversation
with me.

The Ellsberg psychiatrist break-in was an act undertaken as part of
the plumbinig operation. So he felt that it was subject to a general
injunction against disclosures of these national security-related
activities.

Senator BAYH. Did he indicate any specific conversations lie had, or
when you had lunch did he mention to you the precise time it had been
brought to his attention ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, he did not. I should perhaps have antici-
pated yesterday that this would come up, but I had not checked my
notes before yesterday's hearing. I have since checked them and he
did not mention any data or any specific source of this, except that the
President was the original source of the understanding, of his under-
standing, that they were matters involving the national security.

Of course, he knew that, in any event, from the specific leaks that
he was asked to investigate. Whether there was any subsequent con-
versation with anyone which applied specifically to the break-in itself,
I do not know.

Senator BAYH. But it was his opinion that the ultimate authority on
whether or not to disclose was the President himself ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Ultimately, yes, and originally. But I do
not know, and he did not tell me that this was true with respect to the
break-in. So far as I know from any other source, the President did
not know about the break-in until some fairly recent date, but exactly
when, I am not sure.

Senator BA -H. In his discussion with you, did Mr. Krogh distin-
guish between the kind of information that he was under orders not to
disclose and that which could be disclosed We had one bit of infor-



mation involving a break-in and another bit of information involving
CIA involvement. It seems to me the latter might very much be a
matter of national security and the previous matter might not.

Secretary RICHARDSON. He did not draw any such distinction, no.
Since yesterday, I have also read his affidavit and the affidavit is, al-
though certainly more detailed, entirely consistent with what he said
to me. The affidavit does explain more fully than he did to me what he
meant by the national security relationship of all this. I am not aware
of any, he did not make to me any distinction between CIA or any
other aspects of it.

A-, I understand it, the only relation CIA had to it was with respect
to furnishing cameras and perhaps other equipment, and that was
incidental to the break-in operation.

Senator BAYH. Let me ask you one matter that involves another
duty that you will have as Attorney General. I have thought long and
hard about whether to proceed on it or not, but I do not know how else
to get some action. It involves testimony that took place before this
committee earlier, in which promises had been made. Of course, you
had nothing to do with those promises. Others did who are no longer
with us. I would like to see if it is possible for you in good conscience
to make the commitment that some of these other gentlemen made but
have not honored. I bring it up now only because I am very sensitive
about the criticism that has been heaped on Congress that we have not
been diligent in protecting our rights. This is an area where we have
had disagreement with the executive branch.

Let me just cite from the record so that I will not get the dates
wrong, and then ask you to comment. See if you can do what your
predecessor promised.

In June 1972, at the conclusion of the hearings that this committee
conducted on the nomination of your predecessor, the Judiciary Com-
mittee, by, I think, unanimous vote, referred the record of those hear-
ings to the Justice Department for review as to any perjury that might
have been committed. The committee asked for a report of this in-
vestigation in, I think it was, 30 days. On July 31, 1972, the chairman
received a letter from Deputy Assistant Attorney General Shapiro
saying that the review was incomplete but was receiving priority
treatment.

On October 2, 1972, feeling that anything receiving priority treat-
ment should have been finished bv then, I personally -addressed a let-
ter to the Attorney General. I requested that a report of the investiga-
tion be forwarded to the committee. To this date, I have received no
reply whatsoever to that letter.

On March 7, 1973, just a short time ago, during the course of the
committee hearing on the nomination of Mr. Gray, Senator Byrd
asked Mr. Gray about the progress of the investigation and Mr. Gray
replied, and I quote: "Our tTsMIe tion is virtually complete and full
reports have been furnished to the Department."

Mr. Gray further testified that the matters had not been referred
to the FBI-he had not even had it-until December 5, 1972, over 5
months after the committee's request.



In spite of Mr. Gray's testimony, thereafter the Chicago Sun-Times
reported on March 29, 1973, that it had contacted at least six poten-
tially important witnesses and none of them had even been inter-
viewed by the FBI or by the Department of Justice. These included
names such as Geneen, Reinecke, Hunt, Sloan, and Hune. Now, I am
concerned about this.

The testimony that we had from Mr. Mitchell, in response to cer-
tain questions by Mr. Kenmedy relative to party responsibility, denied
any responsibility. This is in direct conflict with what he had said
publicly about certain meetings which he held, and in which meet-
ings he now admits that the subject matter of bugging had come up.
[his testimony is in the transcript, and I don't believe I have to read
it to you.Now. I would like to ask you, Mr. Richardson, if you can give us
any status report on this investigation, or if you can give us a date
or reasonable estimate as to when the committee can get the results
of this investigation ? We feel it may indicate that there is a definite
possibility that perjury was committed before a committee of the
U.S. Senate by an official of the executive branch.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I certainly can't give you an immediate
commitment as to when it can be done, Senator Bayh, because I really
do not know anything about it. But I will find out and get back to you
on this in a few days with a specific estimate of what remains to be
done and when it can be done.

Senator BAYH. Thank you very much, Mr. Richardson.
The CHAIRMAN (presiding). Senetor Thurmond?
Senator THUIIMO1ND. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, you have been here for some time and I will be

very brief.
Do I conclude from what you have said that you have decided, made

a decision, to appoint a special prosecutor in the event you are con-
firmed to handle the Watergate matter?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, that is correct, Senator.
Senator THURMOND. Or are you considering it?
Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I have definitely decided to do it.
Senator THURmOND. You have definitely decided to do it.
Now, as I construe, under our structure of government-where the

Congress makes the law, the executive branch administers the law,
the judicial branch interprets the law-a responsibility of this kind
falls in the executive branch and falls in the Justice Department. Is
that correct?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I believe it is.
Senator THURmOND. So it is the responsibility of the Attorney Gen-

eral, who is head of the Justice Department, to perform a duty of this
kind?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator THURMOND. The law imposes this upon you, as I construe it;

you have no question of choosing whether you do it or not, the law
imposes this burden upon you. Is that the way you construe it?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, it is.
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Senator THURMOND. The only other alternative would be for the
CongTess to pass a special law and set up a special agency to )rovide
for the handling of the Watergate affair. Is that your opinion .

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, that is my opinion, Senator Thurmond.
Senator TIURMOND. And your recommendation is that you be

allowed to handle it under the present law and that you will appoint
an independent special prosecutor?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is correct.
Senator THURMOND. I presume if that is done, of course, you will

choose a man whom you feel is objective and will first seek the truth?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, absolutely.
Senator THURMOND. And that you will choose a man who is fearless

and fair?
Secretary RICHARDSON. That is absolutely right.
Senator THURMOND. NOW, if this matter were taken out of the hands

of the Justice Department and were turned over to a special agency
created by the Congress, then who would make the appointment of a
special prosecutor in such a case? It would either be the President or
the Attorney General. I presume?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I must say I do not know any other
way to create an appointing authority.

Senator THURMOND. In other words, any way you look at it, either
you or the President ultimately would have to choose the special
prosecutor?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator THURMIOND. Am I not right?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, that follows.
Senator TH uI'MONr. So those people would have felt that the Pres-

ident had around him some people who might be indicted and would
feel that possibly he was close to those people, would they not be as
well satisfied if you made the appointment?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think that is true, Senator Thurmond,
subject, of course, to the understanding that I previously described,
that this committee would have the opportunity to interrogate him
and that I would welcome a resolution by the Senate expressing its
confidence in him.

Senator THURMTOND. In other words, the person you choose would
be allowed to come before the Senate and be questioned if the Senate
Judiciary Committee decided to do so?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator TI'UURMOND. In fact, you would like for that to be done?

Would you like to take the Senate into this matter as a partnership
with you?

Secretary RTCHARDSON. I would. I think that would help achieve
the objective of confidence in the process which I know from all the
previous colloquy with this committee is our common goal.

Senator THURMOND. And if there were serious objection on the part
of the members of this committee to the person you chose, would you
feel. even though vou may not have to. would you feel that it is a part
of wisdom and discretion that you choose someone else who would
meet the approval of this committee?
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Secretary RIcHARDSON. That is correct, Senator Thurmond. I think
it puts it very well, as a matter of fact.

Senator THURMOND. Al r. Secretary, I just want to say that 1 have the
utmost confidence in you and your integrity and it is my judgment
that whoever you choose will be a suitable person who, as I described,
will be a person who will seek the truth and who will be fearless and
fair. I presume that it would be your desire that that person, in seek-
mg the truth, would shield no one and would show no discrimination
ugainst anyone, and would prosecute this case regardless of who was
affected in any way, shape, or form?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Exactly.
Senator THu-RIo0xD. I have no other questions, Mr. Chairman.
The CHAIRMAN. We will recess now subject to the call of the Chair.
[Whereupon, at 4:30 p.m., the committee was adjourned, subject to

the call of the Chair.]



NOMINATION OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON TO BE
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MONDAY, MAY 14, 1973

U.S. SENATE,
COM3rITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,

Washington, D.C.
The committee met, pursuant to recess, at 10:40 a.m., in room 2228,

Dirksen Senate Office Building, Senator Philip A. Hart (chairman)
presiding.

Present: Senators Hart, Kennedy, Bayh, Byrd (of West Virginia),
Tunney, Hruska, Scott, Thurmond, Cook, Mathias, and Gurney.

Also present: John H. Holloman, chief counsel, and Francis C.
Rosenberger, professional staff member.

Senator HART. The hearing will be in order.
Good morning, Mr. Secretary.

TESTIMONY OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON-Resumed
Secretary RICHARDsoN. Good morning, Senator.
Senator HART. The Senator from California.
Senator TUNNEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, over this past weekend, you attempted to contact

several and presumably all members of this committee to share with
them privately a short list of potential nominees for the special pros-
ecutor. It is my understanding that you sent this same list to the
president of the ABA, to the president of the American Trial Lawyers
Association, and the former Chief Justice, Earl Warren, pursuant to
a plan that you outlined before this committee on May 9.

I would also add that your activities over the weekend seemed to me
to be consistent with your statement on May 10 that you would share
the names with members of the committee. I apppreciate your doing
that.

However, as I indicated to you on the telephone last evening, I have
doubts that even the best nominee in the world could perform under
ground rules as I perceive them to have been set forth thus far in your
testimony before the committee. You have stated repeatedly to every
Senator of this committee who has questioned you that you must re-
tain ultimate responsibility for the decisions of the special prosecutor.
A number of Senators have argued against this position-Senator
Ervin, for example, cited to you the example of the Teapot Dome mat-
ter, when Congress took the whole issue out of the hands of the De-
partment of Justice and put it in a special prosecutor nominated by a
new President, because President Harding had died, and made these
men subject to Senate confirmation.



In the words of the joint resolution in that case, the special prose-
cutor:

Shall have charge and control of the prosecution of such litigation, anything
in the statutes touching the powers of the Attorney General or the Department
of Justice to the contrary notwithstanding.

Senator Hart went on to talk at length about appearances and, as
he put it. in my opinion very well, on page 33 of the transcript:

Senator HART. I do not know to what extent you have worked with some of the
individuals in the White House during the period you were in HEW; certainly
to some extent on policy, on budget. I am not suggesting that you know Mr.
Mardian or Mr. Mitchell as closely as Mr. Kleindienst did, but they are not un-
known to you. But regardless of the personal relationships which might be the
basis for a decision to recuse, you will become the head of the Department of
Justice by appointment of the President. which department would be investigat-
ing itself in final judgment if you retain final judgment. This is the hangup. It
is for that reason that I suggest that you would be institutionally suspect or
that there is institutional grounds for recusing. If the special prosecutor does
not have the ultimate say with respect to Watergate, why take the job or why
appoint one?

I would like to add an additional angle to Senator Hart's point. If
the President is in no way implicated in the planning or cover up of
what has now come to be known as the Watergate disaster, he does
deserve a clean bill of health from someone who owes him nothing
and who the American people understand owes him nothing. It seems
to me that unless we can establish ground rules for the special prose-
cutor which give him complete, final, and ultimate responsibility for his
decisions, no matter who takes the job, he will have inadequate tools.
Thus to me, it is premature to comment upon your choice of names
or to confirm you or your nominee until we have the ground rules that
I suggest.

Do yon have any comment on that?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, Senator Tunney. I think the committee

is entitled to be satisfied as to the ground rules. and a good deal of the
colloquy since Senator Hart opened up this subject has been devoted
to just that question. I have also, in the light of the discussions with
members of the committee, been worl-ing on a refined version of the
initial ground rules I started with. I think that the committee should
have before it when it interrogates the recommended special prosecu-
tor a piece of paper setting forth what is in effect his job description
and which deals specifically with the issue of his independence.

Just to restate once more the elements of the problem, we have a
statutory position of the Attorney General which does. in effect, give
ultimate responsibility to the Department of Justice, to the Attorney
General. Second, we have some very strong practical reasons why it i~s
not desirable to create a special new agency. I will not go into'those
considerations now, but I think they are important and Senator Hart
evidently agTeed that this was so at the point where we were first dis-
cussing this issue.

That takes you, then, to the question of whether as Attornev Gen-
eral, I should not in effect be disqualified, since this would be tfhe only
remaining means whereby I could be divested of ultimate statutory
responsibility; hence the discussion as to whether or not I should
recuse mvelf.



I gave reasons then why I did not feel that I should disqualify my-
self. Whether or not I think an individual should be disqualified in
(dealing with a (iven matter does, in the end, I think, turn on the mat-
ter of whether or not he feels that he lacks the degree of objectivity
ncce- arv to deal with it fairly and impartially. I could not honestly
disqualify myself in this instance. Indeed, I felt that. I were disquali-
fied, as I s.id at the time, I should not have allowed my name to be
sul,-itted as the nominee for Attorney General at all.

So that takes you, then, to where we are now. That is, how can we,
consistent with the ultimate statutory responsibility of the Attorney
General, nevertheless give the special prosecutor a degree of independ-
cut authorityv sufficient to be satisfying to you and the committee and
be satisfying to the general public that he really does have the author-
ity he needs to do the job, and a lot of discussion since has been
focused on that issue.

Now, I drew a distinction at one point between ultimate authority
and full authority. I have been developing language which would, in
effect, make clear that the special prosecutor would have full authority
to do the job entrusted to him and this leads you then to what do you
mean by reservations of ultimate authority? This is the subject devel-
oped at some length, most recently in colloquy with Senator Bayh.
And I said in effect that so long as the special prosecutor was dealing
within the scope of the subject matter delegated to him and as long as
he was dealing wii-h it in a responsible way, I would have no reason
to interfere and would not undertake to second-guess him; that he
would, for all practical purposes, be in full charge and that the only
conceivable kind o- situation in which I mioht interpose my judgment
is where he was in fact acting arbitrarily or in some manner beyond the
pale of reasonable judgment.

I said that was a likelihood so remote as to be practically incon-
ceivable, given the character and background of any individual who
would be chosen for this job.

That is where it stands as of the moment. As I said, I think that be-
fore-at least no later than-the time when you interrogate any person
nominated for this role, you should have before you. and I would ex-
pect to have no later than that, a written outline of the duties and re-
sponsibilities that this individual would have.

Senator TuN-.-Ex. And as I understand it, you believe that the in-
dividual should participate in the drafting of this written under-
standing?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. I think he should have the opportunity
to make some changes in it and be satisfied that he does have a suffi-
cient degree of authority to do the job.

Senator Tu-E' -Y. And it would be my assumption that we on this
committee would have access to that written understanding prior to
the time of your confirmation.

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is, of course, up to the committee and
the Senate. I would make it available to you, as I said, no later than
the time when the nominee appears before you. And I think at this
rate, it is unlikely that I would have been confirmed by then and it
may be that the Senate would feel that it would not want to act before
then. If so, then, of course, you would have seen this first.

I could-well, let me pause there.



I go back to one detail in your outline of the procedure followed
which I think I should correct for the record. I did tell you that I
proposed to invite comment by former Chief Justice Earl Warren
and I did so, but he declined. He said that while as a retired Chief
Justice he could no longer sit on the Supreme Court of the United
States, he is available to serve, to sit on any other matter, and he felt
that in view of this, it is conceivable that he might be asked to sit on a
matter arising out of these investigations, so he did not wish to be
consulted.

Senator TuNNEY. Mr. Secretary, from what I understand from your
testimony today and what you said prior to today, you would in no
way, in either your written understanding with the special prosecutor
or thereafter, try or attempt to preclude an investigation by the spe-
cial prosecutor of any potential relationship of the President himself
to the facts that are being developed.

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is correct, I did say that.
Senator TuNNEY. And he necessarily would have the authority to

proceed with the investigation as he determined necessary in relation
to this specific point, the President's involvement or lack of involve-
ment?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator TUNNEY. And I think it is clear to you that every member

of this committee is most sincerely hopeful and desirous that such in-
vestigation would indicate the President was in no way involved,
either prior to or subsequent to the fact of Watergate, and was not in-
volved with any coverup. But it is important, I think, that we hare
an understanding that this special prosecutor would not be inhibited
in any way in his investigation.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Absolutely. I also said in this connection
that the special prosecutor would be solely responsible for dealing
with any issue, of executive privilege, subsequent to the extent that it
might require, of course, adjudication by a court, and that in this
context, I thought that the issue under all circumstances could ap-
propriately be dealt with in that way without any involvement on my
part, because the special prosecutor would be charged with finding
out all the facts and a responsibility to do that, and insofar as any
claim of privilege is concerned, the President would be represented by
his own counsel.

Senator TUNNEY. I would just like to make sure that I understand
that response clearly. Traditionally, it is the Attorney General of the
United States that interprets for the executive branch the dimensions
of executive privilege; is that not correct?

Secretary R ICHARDSON. Yes, it is correct.
Senator TuNNEY. In this particular instance, however, it would be

the counsel to the President who would make this interpretation
rather than you as it relates to this specific investigation?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is correct.
Senator TuVNEY. And from the point of view of the investigation

and a potential challenge to the interpretation of executive privilege
that was made by the President's counsel, it would be the special
prosecutor that would develop the legal theory or make the decision as
to whether or not the executive privilege claim to the special counsel
by the President was an accurate reflection of the law?



Secretary RICHARDSON. Exactly. And if the special prosecutor con-
cluded that the claim of privilege was not adequately founded, then he
could, on his own initiative, proceed by whatever he felt to be appro-
priate court action to procure an answer to the question.

Senator TuNNEi-Y. Throughout your testimony, you have repeated
that the law mandatorily requires you to take the ultimate responsi-
)ility for the special prosecutor. What law are you referring to there?

Secretary RICHARDSON. This is the statute which gives responsibility
for the administration of the Department of Justice to the Attorney
General.

Senator TUNNFY. Do you have any specific references there?
Secretary RICHARDSON. It is 28 U.S.C. section 516 and section 519.

Section 516 says-
Except as otherwise authorized by law, the conduct of litigation in which the

United States, an agency, or officer thereof is a party, or is interested, and secur-
ing evidence therefor, is reserved to the officers of the Department of Justice,
under the direction of the Attorney General.

Section 519 says-
Except as otherwise authorized by law, the Attorney General shall supervise

all litigation to which the United States, an agency, or officer thereof is a party,
and shall direct all United States Attorneys, Assistant United States Attorneys,
and special attorneys appointed under Section 543 of this Title in the discharge of
their respective duties.

Now, of course, you could otherwise authorize by law, but that
brings us back to the problems of what kind of a separate authority is
vested in the special prosecutor. The problems here become problems
essentially of practicality wyith respect to other personnel of the Crimi-
nal Division; how does he get and exercise direction over them?

What about the Federal Bureau of Investigation? What about the
U.S. attorneys and so on?

So I think there are good reasons why practically, since we cannot
define precisely in advance very well exactly the areas of the man's
jurisdiction or know clearly enough just what the staffing requirements
are, it is better that he be in a position where he is in effect exercising
full delegated authority over these matters. I would expect that the
job description would stress his powers in terms of the full authority,
which I think is not inconsistent with the statutory language I read
to you.

Senator TuNNEY. As I understand your testimony, you feel that you
can recuse yourself from the decision as to whether or not executive
privilege should apply in any specific case, and yet you feel reluctant
to rescue yourself from the entire case on the grounds that you have
statutory responsibilities.

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I would not put it quite this way. It is
not a question of recusing myself, which I take it means disqualifying
myself. It is a question, really, of what residual role rests in the At-
torney General in the situation where authority has been delegated to
somebody to do a job.

Now, in the practical situation, this man would have the authority
to do what he needs to do. I have said that I would want to be kept
generally informed, that he ought to feel free to consult me, but that
in reaching a given judgment about whether to indict or whether to
grant immunity and so on, he would not have to do so; that I would



not undertake to exercise any veto power over what he did. So that
the executive privilege simply becomes a special case of this and there,
it seems to me that given the fact that the President would be repre-
sented by his counsel and that the privilege is peculiar to him as Chief
Executive in any case, there would be no basis for my saying as to this
that I would expect to exercise any specific responsibility at all.

In the case, on the other hand, where the issue is one of judgment
internal to the Department, where no opportunity exists for people
affected to be represented in the decision, I would not, as I said, insist
on being consulted, but I would feel that it was appropriate if the
special prosecutor wished to do so, to consult me, and I would feel
free to give him my views.

But, we keep coming back to the point, and I think we should keep
coming back to the point, that I am not going to tell this man how
to do his job.

Senator TUTNEY. Well, that leads into another question which I
had, and it is based on a letter that was published in the New York
Times, Sunday, May 6, 1973, written by WV. Houston Kenyon, Jr. I
would like to have it included in the record at this point.

Senator HART. Without objection.
Senator TUNNEY. I would like to read from it:
To the Editor: The demand that President Nixon appoint an "independent

prosecutor," as in the Teapot Dome case, is not answered by his appointment
of Elliot Richardson as Attorney Generrtl.

Watergate and Teapot Dome are horses of a totally different color. In Teapot
Dome there was no evidence and no credible rumor that any oif Lie brib nwan,y
reached the pocket of President Harding. A wise Providence removed him from
the scene before the ugly story began to break. The appointment of an "inde-
pendent prosecutor" became the duty of his successor, Calvin Coolidge.

Coolidge discharged that duty by appointing a two-man team-Atlee Pomerene,
ex-Senator from a Western state (Democrat), and Owen J. Roberts, experi-
enced Philadelphia trial lawyer (Republican). Neither of these men had been
in any way identified with the Harding Administration or with Coolidge. The
results of their prosecutions commanded total public respect.

Watergate is different. Here the charges of criminal activity involve the Presi-
dent's immediate circle of personal advisers. His only reply has been an earnest
television assertion that he was, an innocent bystander to these events and wholly
unaware of the action being taken by his advisers to advance his interest.

The inescapable new fact in Watergate, not present in Teapot Dome, is that
the charges of illegal action lead so close to the Oval Room of the White House
as to put Richard Nixon personally in the dock of history as one suspected of
complicity in one or both aspects of the illegal actions.

Elliot Richardson, while a man of ability, experience in government and high
moral principle, is one of the Washington coterie of devoted men who have served
Mr. Nixon faithfully in the posts assigned to them. If Mr. Richardson were.
after lengthy investigation, to assure the nation that he could find no evidence
implicating Mr. Nixon with knowledge of Watergate or the cover-up, it would
be unlikely that this assurance would be accepted by all hands as the last word
on the subject.

Thus, it devolves upon the legislative branch to provide the independent prose-
cutor for which the situation so urgently calls. The precedent of a joint Demo-
cratic-Republican team where the individuals are independent and not con-
nected with the Administration or the President, shows what would restore the
President's credibility and public respect if it were able to conclude that there
is no evidence to implicate the President personally.

If Mr. Nixon is well advised, and his innocence can be established, he should
welcome the appointment of such a bipartisan team under legislative auspices.

Mr. Houston Kenyon, who was a special assistant to the Attorney
General under President Coolidge and was in charge of the Govern-
ment's investigation and court action in the Salt Creek case which



came out of the Teapot Dome, has sugge sted that the Congress should
appoint the special prosecutor.

What are your thoughts on the points that Mr. Kenyon makes,
one with respect to your ability to give to the country satisfaction
that the President is not involved after a thorough investit'ation, and
secondly with respect to the importance of the Congress 'lppointing
the si)eci.l prosecutor?

Secretary RICHARDSON. One, I would feel able to do an honest job
of investigation and render an honest report or take whatever other
actions were required including the initiation of the prosecution.

But second, I recognize the need for a greater degree of public as-
surance on this score because 1 have been a part of this administra-
tion. This is the reason fundamentally why, in the first instance, I
have proposed the appointment of a special prosecutor.

Third, I would not in any case therefore, given the appointment of
a special prosecutor, expect the Congress or the American people to
rely on my assurances that the President or anyone else had not been
involved in, guilty of, or implicated in some wrongdoing.

The assurance on this score would have to rest on the character and
integrity of the special prosecutor himself. There may be some need
at some eventual stage in this for a final report that does involve
participation by several people who could review the minutes of the
grand jury proceedings, the transcripts of evidence taken in court, the
reports of investigations, and the conduct of the special prosecutor.
This seems to me a question that is still quite a long way down the
road, but it is a possibly desirable step, partly because the criminal
processes in themselves are not a complete and wholly accurate way
of developing all the facts. One of the problems inherent, of course, in
the criminal process is that there must be proof of guilt beyond a
reasonable doubt. As a prosecutor myself, I have always believed that
the fairest standard of determination of whether or not to seek an
indictment was whether the evidence would have been sufficient if
presented in open court and if not rebutted to justify the judge's
submitting the case to the jury. Now, these can be quite difficult deter-
minations. And of course, they are determinations required by con-
siderations of fairness in the criminal process. But it might be desir-
able at some eventual stage for a report to be made that was not di-
rected toward the objective of the prosecution at all.

At any rate, these are basically my thoughts on this and I think
that the end to be sought is clear. That is that the special prosecutor
must have a deo'ree of authority and responsibility and independence,
and staff resources that can, taken together, give confidence that he is
going to be in a position to do this job.

Senator TTNNEY. Title 28 of the United States Code, section 515,
discusses the authority for legal proceedings under (a) :

The Attorney General or any attorney specially appointed by the Attorney
General under law, may, when specifically directed by the Attorney General,
conduct any kind of legal proceeding, civil or criminal; including grand jury
proceedings and proceedings before committing magistrates, which U.S. attor-
neys are authorized by law to conduct, whether or not he is a resident of the
district in which the proceeding is brought.

In reading that, I do not see a requirement that the Attorney Gen-
eral retain ultimate responsibility over decisions, but as I understand
your answer, you do.



Secretary RICHARDSON. I am sorry, what language were you
reading?

Senator TUNNEY. I was quoting from title 28, United States Code,
section 515. I have it down here.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, that is the one I was reading from.
Here it is.

Well, I read from 516 and 519.
Senator TuNNEY. Right. I am reading from 515.
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I have that here.
Well, of course, this is the section that I would use in vesting au-

thority in the special prosecutor.
Senator TuINNEY. Well, the question is whether or not there is an

implied provision there that the ultimate responsibility or authority
should rest with the Attorney General in this kind of a situation.

Secretary RIcHARDsoN. Well, it says, "Or any attorney specially ap-
pointed by the Attorney General under law." I think the answer to
this is that the person specially appointed under law must, in some
senso, be exercising authority delegated to him. I think it can be a
full grant of authority and I would propose such. But I do not think
it is a grant of authority that divests the grantor of the delegated au-
thority from ultimate responsibility. I have tried to keep a distinction
here between the ultimate responsibility vested in the Attorney Gen-
eral of the United States and the authority of this man to do the job.
So I take these sections read together.

To put it another way, the very act of delegation, I think by defini-
tion, is one which is distinguishable from the abdication of responsi-
bility, and this is really what this is about. The delegator of authority
in any situation that I know of cannot thereby divest himself from
responsibility ultimately for what the person exercising delegated au-
thority does.

Again, I have tried in these hearings to make clear that if I have
appointed somebody and given him full authority, I would retain ulti-
mate responsibility not simply regarding the manner in which he ex-
ercised his delegated power, but in standing back of what he did.

Well, I think I have said it.
Senator TUNNEY. But conceptually, if it is true that once you are

confirmed by the Senate, you are the Attorney General, you can be
dismissed by the President and you have the power to dismiss the
special prosecutor, then the President has the power to dismiss the
special prosecutor, too, has he not?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No. No, that does not follow. ie could dis-
miss me, but the special prosecutor would be my appointee, in this
case an appointee who, although not technically confirmed by the Sen-
ate, would still have been the subject of full opportunity for the Sen-
ate to satisfy itself as to his qualifications. And if I were directed tofire him and I refused, and I would refuse in the absence of some over-
whelming evidence of cause, then the President's only recourse would
be to replace me.

Now, again, these are things that in the present circumstances are so
remotely possible as to be practically inconceivable.

Tet us look at the situation overall. The President is in a situation
now-and I believe this to be so, both on the basis of what he said to
me and what he has said repeatedly publicly-in which he is pledged



to a full and thorough investigation. He is pledged to cooperate in
assuring that all the facts emerge.

Now, on top of that, he said that, I am proposing the nomination of
Elliot Richardson as Attorney General because I think you can have
some added assurance that I mean what I say which you can base on
his record and reputation. If it is necessary in addition to that to pro-
vide the ultimate reassurance deriving from the appointment of a
special prosecutor, he would have the authority to do that-and I
said that I should do that. I believe I should, for all the reasons we
have been into.

Now, in those circumstances, given the kinds of public interest at
stake, for the President to intervene in the matter of the appointment
or the way the special prosecutor does his job and so on, would be
totally at variance with the whole approach he set forth. It just will
not happen.

I said the other day that at this stage, it seemed necessary to me to
deal with the White House institutionally at arms length as between
the Attorney General and the White House and the President him-
self, and this is a reason why, as Attorney General, I should not
exercise the responsibility normal to that office of giving advice on
claims of executive privilege, for instance. I would deal with the
President's counsel, whoever he is-presently Mr. Buzhardt-as I
would deal with counsel for a party in proceedings involving the De-
partment of Justice. And of course, the special prosecutor would so
deal with him.

Senator TUNNEY. The question has arisen of appointing a two-
headed prosecutorial team. Mr. Kenyon makes that suggestion in his
letter to the New York Times. Other suggestions have been made that
there ought to be an investigation similar to the Teapot Dome case.
What are your thoughts on that?

Secretary RICHIARDSON. Well, I just think it is a difficult way to
operate. I think if I go ahead and propose one person, and if that
person should want some way of sharing or broadening the base of
responsibility, I would not object to it and would be willing to make
the appointment. But here we have a situation in which there ale in-
vestigations or indictments and in which there conceivably could be
further indictments, involving a number of Federal districts, each
with a U.S. attorney. The special prosecutor is substituted, for pur-
poses of dealing with those U.S. attorneys and their staffs, for the
Attorney General and the Chief of the Criminal Division. He is
acting, in effect, as a higher authority for purposes of a number of
different prosecutions. He has the right to intervene, he has the right
to overrule a U.S. attorney. He can step into any phase of court
proceedings.

Now, I think shared responsibility would be difficult practically. I
think there are examples in which it has been attempted to deal with
that kind of responsibility by subdividing it that have not always
worked well. I would think that the special prosecutor who had to get
the agreement of somebody else for every major decision would be
subject to considerable delays and so on. If they saw eye to eye, pre-
sumably, there would be no problem. But it could be quite difficult
practically.



Senator TUNNEY. Mr. Secretary, with regard to your list, have you
consulted with any present or former White House aides in preparing
your list of potential nominees as special prosecutor?

Secretary RInARDsoN. No.
Senator TuNNEY. Have you consulted with the President?
Secretary RICHARDSON. No.
Senator TUNNEY. Have any of the people that I have just men-

tioned-White House aides, the President-attempted to offer you
advice?

Secretary IRICHARDSON. They have passed me two or three names
that I was asked to consider. Names have come from a great many
sources, over 100. Actually, no names suggested by anyone in
the White House lasted as long as the final 10 or a dozen names, not
because their names had come from the White House, but because, for
other reasons, they failed to meet what I thought were the applicable
criteria.

Senator TUNNEY. So none of the names on the final list were sug-
gested by anyone in the White House?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is right.
Senator TUNNEY. Do you have anyone in the Justice Department

helping you on this matter?
Secretary RICMARDSON. I have gotten some help from Mi. Dufner.

Mr. Dixon, the head of the Office of Legal Counsel, has provided help
in connection with questions involving the powers and responsibili-
ties of the Attorney General, and Mr. McSweeney has been helpful in
matters arising in connection with these hearings. And some members
of the Department of Justi(, have been asked for comments on indi-
viduals who have been suggested for the position of special prosecutor
who served at some point in the Department of Justice. Their com-
ments have been sought because they knew the recommended indi-
viduals and worked with them, as anyone else would be consulted who
had reason to know about the character and qualifications of a possi-
ble appointee.

That is about the limit of it. The main reliance I have placed for
help in developing this list has been on my former associate, the pres-
ent General Counsel of HEW, WVilmot Hastings, whom I have bor-
rowed with the acquiescence of Secretary Weinberger for this purpose.

Senator TUNNEY. Have you received any instructions from present
or former aides at the White House or the President himself concern-
ing the scope of the prosecutor's duties ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. None at all. I have had no communication
with anybody presently in or working for the White House, nor any-
body who formerly did.

Senator TuNNEY. Discussions or consultations?
Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I have had no communication with any-

one in the White House on this whole subject, except on a few inci-
dental things that have come along in which I have dealt with the
counsel to the President. For instance, with respect to the FBI's pro-
ceeding with the interrogation of individuals associated with the
Ellsberg break-in. It was important in that connection to assure that
this would go forward without any impediment arising out of the
claims of national security.

Senator TUNNEY. Was that Leonard Garment?



Secretary Richardson. There was no sugoestion by him that there
should be any dallying. To the contrary, his position was that the
facts should be fully developed and submitted to Judge Byrne.

Senator T-UNNEY. What is going to be the nature of the working
relationship between the special prosecutor as you envision it and the
Watergate prosecutor, Earl Silbert and Seymour Glanzer, who have
been directing the prosecutions now?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is something he will have to determine
for himself, based on his review of the case and the grand jury
transcripts.

Senator TITNNEY. He will have the power to make that decision as
to what the working relationship will be or should be?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator TUNNEY. And will all the investigations that are presently

going on now be merged under the overall direction of the special
prosecutor, including the break-in of the phychiatrist's office in the
Ellsberg case ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. He will, in effect, assume authority over
all of them. He will have to decide what kind of administrative rela-
tionship he wants to have to them. In the case of the break-in, I do not
know just what problems of Federal authority now remain. At any
rate, he would be in charge to the extent that there is any further action
to be taken.

Senator TUNNEY. What about the FBI's records that are missing on
the wiretapping as it relates to the Ellsberg case? Have you given any
instructions or made your views known to personnel at the Depart-
ment of Justice as to what kind of investigation you want to have pro-
ceed to find out where these records went?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I have made my views known, namely that
the effort to find them should be pressed. It has been pressed. And I
believe that Mr. Ruckelshaus will have some public announcement on
this sometime soon.

Senator TUNNEY. The next question is how soon?
Secretary RICHARDSON. I really do not know. This is, as far as I

am concerned, his business. He is in charge of the FBI and I have no
direct responsibility over the Department of Justice or the FBI at this
stage. I can only say that I think he wants to have a full and com-
plete and coherent account of what happened and what the results of
the investigation have been so that when he makes a statement of it,
it will be a complete statement. I just do not know how soon that
will be.

Senator TuN-Ey. I would assume that once the special prosecutor
has been appointed, he would have overall charge of any criminal
prosecutions arising from the fact that these records have been lost
or perhaps destroyed, or whatever else might have happened to them ?

Secretary RICIARDSON. Well, I should tell you, I guess, lest I leave
this misleading statement, the records have been found.

Senator T x-m -Y. What if the special prosecutor discovers there has
been procrastination and obfuscation or laxity on the part of any peo-
ple working in the Justice Department or the FBI relating to the
coverup, or any other governmental agency. Will he have a free hand
to disclose his findings or to seek and get dismissal of such individuals
and to continue the investigatiton and proceed with the pi osecution, if
necessary?



Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. I am glad you used the phrase "free
hand to disclose," because I think one of the important protections
that the public interest has in this situation is the right of the special
prosecutor to make any public disclosure that he believes he should. As
I said at the very beginning of these hearings, if, for example, and I
can guarantee that as far as I am concerned, this will not happen, but
if he should at any time feel that he was being subjected to any sort of
attempt to sell him on a particular point of view or to influence his
course of action in any way that he thought was wrong, he could and
in my judgment should make this public.

Senator TUNNEY. What recourse is open to the special prosecutor if
he discovers that he cannot do his job effectively because of efforts to
conceal information on the part of any person, resignation?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, I think he has a three-stage recourse.
One is to complain to me and ask me to tell whoever is responsible to
lay off. If that does not work, and as far as I am concerned I can again
guarantee you that it will, but just to spell this out, if it does not, he
can call a press conference and make public his letter of complaint and
in those circumstances, I would think that the congressional and pub-
lic reaction would be pretty effective. And of course, his third and
final recourse would be to resign with a loud noise. I would think that
would precipitate a considerable crisis also.

Senator TUNNEY. Would executive privilege apply to him?
Secretary RICHARDSON. NO, certainly not.
Executive privilege can be claimed, but normally, it applies to the

power of the President. There are some examples that I do not think
come within the phrase "executive privilege" in which there is nor-
mallv no public disclosure of Government documents; for example,
working papers. These rest on a different level. We do not need to go
into that.

But anyway, no, he has to understand and you have to understand
that he makes the call on what is to be made public.

Senator TUNNEY. The only reason I suggested that is because the
present Attorney General offered a proposition to the Senate that ex-
ecutive privilege could be deemed to apply to -]l employees of the
Federal Government, some 21/2 million, and that the only recourse of
the Congress was to impeach the President. I am glad to hear that
you do not subscribe to such a broad theory.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, I think Mr. Kleindienst was saying, in
effect, that if a Federal employee were told by the President not to
appear before a congressional committee, that directive would, in ef-
feet, be final, because there was no way of getting it adjudicated. I do
not know about that. In any event, that situation cannot arise here.

Senator TUNNEY. In answer to a question by Senator Bayh on
Mav 10, you said that if the special prosecutor wanted the President's
affidavit or testimony, the President's counsel and not you would han-
dle the decision as to executive privilege. You have repeated that
here today, and that you would see the President's counsel. You do
not feel that there is any conflict of interest on your part, beinv the
Attorney General. with the responsibilities that you have as Attorney
General with respect to defining the limitations of executive privilege,
either in a specific instance or a broad, categorical basis, and your re-
sponsibilities as Attorney General, having ultimate responsibility for



the prosecution and the investigation of the matters relating to
Watergate?

Secretary Ri IARDSoN. No. If I follow the question, I think there
would be a conflict of interest if I, as Attorney General, undertook both
to exercise the role under the old guidelines" with respect to executive
piv ilege generally and with respect to advising the President on when
a claim of privilege properly lies; and also to exercise any kind of
responsibility, however residual, over the conduct and investigation of
the prosecutions in matter involving White House people.

So this is why I have said that with respect to the exercise of privi-
lege in these inatters. the President would have to look for adice solely
to his own counsel and not to me.

Senator TuN-N:A. At this moment, who is responsible in the Justice
Department for the Watergate investigation?

Secretary Picn-n)soxN. The Assistant Attorney General heading the
Criminal Division, Mr. Henry Petersen, has overall responsibility
delegated by the Attorney General, and under him, of course, is the
U.S. attorney.

I say "under." In some respects, the U.S. attorneys have, by under-
standing and tradition, a considerable degree of independence. In any
event, there is the U.S. attorney in the District of Columbia and then
Henry Petersen.

Senator Ti x N,:,. What will Mr. Petersen's relationship be with the
special prosecutor?

Secretary RiciiRDso-. All of the special prosecutor's responsilbili-
ties will be carved out from the area normally under the jurisdiction
of the Criminal Division and turned over to the special prosecutor.
In other words, as to these matters, Henry Petersen would no longer
be responsible.

Again, I would like to make clear as I did in my original statement
that I do not intend in proposing to do this, or in proposing a special
prosecutor, to cast any reflections on the integrity of Mr. Petersen
or anybody on his staff, or anybody in the U.S. attorney's office, for
that matter. But I think that if the special prosecutor is to do the kind
of job we have been talking about, he should have full authority and
not have to report to anybody but me and to me only within the limi-
tations that I have tried to make clear.

Senator TUNNEY. But Mr. Petersen would be working, presumably,
with the special prosecutor. as an assistant to him?

Secretary Rim-i.RDSONT. No, no, anything under the special prosecu-
tor would be wholly under him. He might want to consult Henry
Petersen because of Henry Petersen's long experience in legal issues
arising out of grand jury proceedings and so on, but he would have no
day-to-day working relationship in these matters with Petersen.

Senator TUNNEY. So Petersen would be off the case, so to speak?
Secretary RICiL\RDSON. Yes. There would be some areas of potential

overlap or some cases where it might be necessary to decide who had
the responsibility-for instance, some new case on campaign contribu-
tions, if one arose. They might have to get together on whether or not
this should be turned over to the special prosecutor because it in some
way related to other cases he had, or whether it should be considered
to be, in effect, an "ordinary" case falling within the normal jurisdic-
tion of the Criminal Division.
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Senator TuxNxy. What resources and physical facilities will be put
at the special prosecutor's disposal ?

Secretary RICIARDSON. In this, he would have to decide. with what-
ever help and advice he could get, how much of a staff under his direct
control he needed. He would be in a position, in any event, to call on
services of departmental attorneys on an ad hoc basis, and this is
one of the reasons for having him in the Department of Justice. He
would also be able to call on the FBI to the extent needed. He would
be working, as I said earlier, with the U.S. attorneys and their staffs.

So what he would have. to do in the very beginning, I would as-
sume-what I would do in his shoes anyway-would be to collect
quickly a small staff in which he had full confidence. people of his own
sole choice, and then try to get as rapidly as possible an overview of
all these cases, an assessment of the capabilities of the people in charge
of them now, and then, out of all this. he coulh begin to develop an
organizational staffing pattern, and begin to fill in the slots.

He would have final authority over the selection of people. In this
respect, as I have said already, I have no problem with the Stevenson
resolution, except, of course, that be could not draft, people in the sense
of obligating service. They would have to be available.

Senator Tu-xx,:v. What steps would be taken to see to it that in-
criminating evidence, files, document. and other vital materials con-
tributing to disclosure would be protected?

Secretary RICiARDS',)N. ie could, of course, in any manner as to
which he assumed responsibility, require whatever safeguardin, of
records thought appropriate. In my own vi-w-I did not quite get to
this part of your question in an earlier question-I would think he
would want to operate out of premises separate from the rest of the
Department of Justice. I would think that in that case, lie would take
whatever steps he thought necessary to protect the records he had there.

Senator Tu-xxv. We have already discussed that the special prosec-
utor's inquiries naturally would involve possible violations by person-
nel working in various Federal agencies-CIA, FBI, State Depart-
ment, et cetera. Now, what about your conception as to the information
that may be withheld for national security reasons by these other
agencies and the ability of the special prosecutor to get at these docu-
ments if he feels that it is necessary?

',eeretary RICUARDSON. Well, I think he is entitled to expect coop-
eration and I think that the attitude of people in other department
agencies at this stage is that they should cooperate, because there are
at stake public interests in getting the full story of what has been
going on that transcend anv other consideration, at least any other
that I know of. I think he can expect that response. If that does not
happen in a given instance, then he would have to see what resources
are available to him, including power of subpena and so on, exercisable
through a grand jury.

Senator TuNXEY. Well, I am thinking of the testimony that you
gai-e the other day when you said that in the Ellsberg case, the Presi-
dent felt that national security interests were at a stake. It is possible
that certain agencies or individuals might claim that national security
interests were at stake and thereby prevent the special prosecutor from
obtaining the materials that he felt were necessary to conduct his
investization. As I understand your testimony today, you do not feel



that such a chiim would be binding on the special prosecutor as it
relates to the investigation that he is conducting.

Secretary RICHARDSON. NVcI1, I have two comments. One, I think
the Ellsberg case is a good example, because while it is tru, that the
feeling that this involved national security problems and should, there-
fore, be treated on that basis was certainly the President's feeling for
some period of ti'iie, nevertheless, the way things broke in the actual
Ellsberg trial made it necessary to make disclosures, which indeed
were made. So now all of that either is or is going to be fully dis-
closed. The Krogh affidavit itself is a pretty full account, as far as
I know. At least, he purports to give full disclosure notwithstanding
any national security concerns. I think this is going to be the attitude
from here out with respect to questions like this.

If a national security concern is asserted as a reason for not makling
a disclosure, then the special prosecutor would have to decide how to
challenge that. Hle would have various legal methods of doing so.

Senator TUNN-EY. What we are really saying, then, is that the spe-
cial prosecutor has got to be given a top secret clearance and he has
to have a full maximum security clearance which would give him the
right to have access to any documents, are we not?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator TUNNE-. Is the White House presently conducting an in-

vestigation, a separate investigation, on Watergate?
Secretary RICHA IDSON. Not that I know of.
Senator T x-TNi:Y. And the White House's request to return the

Dean documents, as reported in the papers, is an attempt to do what,
then?

Secretary RICHARDSON. As I understand it, it is based on the proposi-
tion, one, that the classified papers involved are Presidential papers,
in the sense that any paper of a Presidential staff member, including
Presidential counsel, is a Presidential paper; and secondly, that, they
are classified and that being so, the President or somebody acting on
his behalf should have some opportunity to assess whatever prejudice
to the national security, if any, might result from their disclosure.

As I understand the motion, it is in effect that the papers be turned
over to the U.S. attorney and that the White House have some oppor-
tunity to know what is in theri. but not to take them out of the hands
of the U.S. attorney.

Senator TUTNNEY. Well, during the Ellsberg case, Judge Matt Byrne
apparently was offered the directorship of the FBI. Do you know
whether prosecutors Earl Silbert or Seymour Glanzer were offered
judgeships or any other special appointment?

Secretary RICIIARDSON. Not that I know of. I mean I just do not
know. I have not heard of any.

Senator TuN-N-. It would not be proper for them to be offered any
such appointment at this time, would it, or hereafter while the case
is proceeding?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, it would not.
Senator TUNNFY. Mr. Gray, the former Acting FBI Director, is on

the record now as having told Senate investigators that he explicitly
informed the President on July 5, 1972, 18 days after the Watergate
break-in, that he was confused by what appeared to be CIA involve-
ment in the Watergate bugging and some of the instructions he had



received from White House aides. Gray has said further that he
warned the President that White House aides were trying to impede
the investigation by the FBI, then just begun. Did Mr. Gray speak
to you about this matter at any time in the past expressing to you his
concerns?

Secretary RiciiAu)sox-. No, I have not had any conversation with
Mr. Gray about any aspects of this matter at all.

Senator TUNNEY. YOU have not spoken to Mr. Gray at all?
Secretary RICHARDSON. No. The last time I talked to him was about

expediting the FBI investigation of some appointee. That was a year
agyo.

Senator TUNNEY. Have you discussed this matter with Mr. Klein-
dienst or Mr. Mitchell?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, not at all. I have not had any communi-
cation for quite a while with Mr. Mitchell. On the day the President
asked me to Camp David to talk about this appointment, Mr. Klein-
dienst told me about the circumstances which had led him to disqualify
himself. But I have not talked with him since then about any aspect
of the Watergate matter or any of these cases.

Senator TUN-NEY. Were you aware of the fact at the time that you
agreed to accept the appointment as Attorney General that Mr. Gray
had informed the President on July 5, 1972, that he was confused by
the CIA's involvement in the Watergate bugging?

Secretary RICHARDSON. NO.
Senator TuN-,NEY. So it was news to vou when you read it in the

newspapers?
Secretary RICHARDSON. That is right.
Senator TUNNEY. You told Senator Bayh that the investigation of

the disappearance of the records of the wiretaps in the Ellsberg case
would be within the scope of the special prosecutor's duties. This
morning, on a television news program, a commentator, accompanied
by Mr. Ellsberg, outlined an extraordinary account of what the
Ellsberg case was really about. According to the story as I understood
it, the prosecution of Ellsberg was really another part of the alleged
-dirtv tricks" campaign against leading Democratic contenders. At
the time, the prime target was Senator Muskie, then the front runner.
According to the story, those close to Muskie were wiretapped, al-
legedly because of connections to Ellsberg in this regard, and Morton
Halprin'c phone was bugged. Apparently, this was only recently un-
covered by investigators, with involvement running so high, accord-
ing to the description by Mr. Ellsberg, that a decision was made by
the Government at the highest level to voluntarily blow up tl!h, Ells-
berg case in order to keep the truth from coming out?

Do you have any information on that?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Very little. I really, I think, do not have

enough to comment on that account as you have summarized it. I
regard it somewhat skeptically, but I only regard it skeptically because
tile only information I have is consistent with the assertion that the
Ellsberg case-or at least the Ellsberg break-in-was all part of the
so-called plumbing operation. But I have not done any investigating
of my own. About all I know has been from, one, the Krogh affida vit"
and, two, some conversations with Mr. Ruckelshaus about the FBI's
efforts to find the records of this surveillance.



Senator TUNNEY. And so the fact that the records were not turned
over to the court, which apparently precipitated the judge's decision
to rule the mistrial, in no way was 'a plan, to your knowledge, to blow
up the case just to wipe it out before there were additional disclosures
that would be embarrassing?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I do not think so. I have talked twice to
Mr. Ruckelshaus about the effort to find the papers and all I know is
that we both thought that this effort should be pushed as rapidly as
possible.

Senator TUNNEY. Well, someone handed me a note that at 2:00 p.m.
today, Mr. Ruckelshaus apparently has a press conference scheduled.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, that may well be the occasion when he
might well make this statement. I did not know when he was going to
do it.

Senator TUNNEY. Thank you very much, Mr. Secretary.
Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Secretary RictIARDsON. Thank you, Senator Tunney.
Let me just say, Mr. Chairman and Senator Tunney, that I ap-

preciate this opportunity. Some of it has been restatement, but never-
theless, this colloquy as a whole does very comprehensively deal with
the kinds of questions I know concern this committee and the Senate.
I apppreciate the opportunity.

Senator TUNNEY. Thank you very much for being so responsive.
Senator HART. The Senator from Kentucky.
Senator COOK. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, I do have some questions to ask you.
Senator HART. Will the Senator yield for just a moment?
The Senator from Kentucky has been very patient over the days

and it might be helpful if we agreed now as to when he might emit
recess for lunch so that you could plan your questions. I have no
preference. Do you?

Senator COOK. Mr. Chairman, I do not think I will take over 15 or
20 minutes.

Senator HART. Proceed until you complete, then.
Senator CooK. Mr. Secretary, let me first say before I get into

specific questions that I made it very clear to you in my discussions
when your name was announced as the nominee for the Attorney Gen-
eral that I had great faith in you as an individual, that you and I are
friends, and that I felt that you would thoroughly pursue this Water-
gate matter. But in my own mind as a member of this committee and
knowino, the ordeals that we have been through since I have been here,
I probably would have been much happier had the President of the
United States named someone else who had not been involved in "the
official family," had not been a surrogate, as both you and I were, and
who had the same credentials and the same degree of integrity that
you have to conduct this. I thought that if this were the case, we
would not find ourselves in a position of debating prosecutors, and
debating the independence of prosecutors.

However, I must say I have been delighted and have been totally
reassured in your discussions relative to the commission that you
would give to a special prosecutor. In that degree, I think all of us on
the committee have to understand that when we talk about inde-
pendence, we in effect created a degree of a special prosecutor when



the Senate of the United States adopted S. Res. 60. We do have the
independence of the Senate Committee on the Wateri'ate if we will
read the resolution, the degree of independence, its availability to
subpena, its availability to hold hearings, its availability to go into
all of the matters involving the entire 1972 Presidential campaign. So
in effect, the special prosecutor, whoever he may be, will also have to
operate in light of the fact that the so-called Ervin committee will
continue in operation, will continue its hearings, will continue to in-
vestigate so that they will be parallel in nature.

Do you not agree with that?
Secretary RIcHARDSON. Yes, I do. I think that is a substantial addi-

tional reassurance to the American people. I think that there are some
problems in that connection that have to be worked out in terms of
the relative responsibilities of the committee and the special prosecu-
tor, at least in the matter of timing and so on.

Senator COOK. In regard to some of the problems that may occur, I
would like to talk to you about some of the discussions brought up on
the very first day about sections 6002 through 6005 of title 18. It came
as a surprise to me when Senator Ervin asked the Attornev General
whether he would consider waiving the 20-day provision u.nder sec-
tion (c) of 6005. May I state to you, Mr. Secretary, that I was also
rather amazed when Senator Ervin said that he was not willing to
have anything postponed until the Department of Justice has pro-
ceeded with all of its activities. We heard then, "Because the last lin-
gering echo of Gabriel's horn may tremble into silence before it is
done, because justice often travels on leaden feet."

I would say to you, Mr. Secretary. that I would hope you would not
agree to any proposal to waive that 20-day provision. This is, for a
very, very sincere reason on my part. I do not want the entire Water-
gate matter tried before a committee of the Congress, when everyone
could then remove themselves from that committee and if they are
indicted or if they are subjected to the possibility of indictment,
plead immunity. It is this Senator's opinion that anybody who violated
the law within the framework of the 1972 Presidential election, or
within the scope of Watergate, and if he is found guilty, he ought
to go to jail. I do not want anyone to find a haven before a special
committee of the Senate as a result of his testimony by reason of sub-
pena which would put him in a position where he could plead im-
munity. then go before the court with a battery of lawyers pleading
that he had testified against his interests before a committee of the
Congress and thereby plead immunity before the court.

I might suggest, Mr. Secretary, that if you are confirmed, a grand
Jury can bring a lot of indictments in a 20-day period and I would not
want to see an entourage of witnesses wanting to come before the Sen-
ate committee and exposing all of their sins so that they need not have
to do so in the event that they might be considered or might be subject
to indictment. I would hope, Mr. Secretary, that if you are Attorney
General of the United States, you would feel the same way.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Senator Cook, I think you have put your
finger on a very significant problem. I referred to it in response to
Senator Ervin when this came up on the first morning of this bearing.

The special prosecutor will have to deal directly with that issue im-
mediately upon taking ofiee. I do not believe that it is a matter con-
sistently with the kind of responsibility that I think should be vested



in him, that I should try to deal with. But I do agree that the question
of the immunization of any witness is one of the most important and
sensitive that will have to be dealt with and there will have to be
considered the question, for what purpose-testimony before the Sen-
ate committee or for purposes of sustaining indictments and provid-
ing necessary proof of guilt?

Senator CooK. I might say that I could not agree with the Secretary
more that the American people are entitled and should know all of it,
every bit of it, but I would hate to have the American people in a posi-
tion where they found out all about it and as a result of it, everybody
was so immunized that not a soul had to pay the penalty under the law
that is prescribed as a result of these activities. I think that would be
a shameful episode. not only for the Congress of the United States,
but it certainly would be an abdication of judicial responsibility under
the best authority of the court system of the United States.

Secretary RICUARDSON. I agree with you, Senator Cook, that the
American public would never understand a situation where, despite
the disclosures of what was done wrong, no one ever was tried,
sentenced, and sent to jail. This means, therefore, that the special
prosecutor will have to have a very firm, clear understanding with the
committee on the right of the processes of justice to go forward on the
one side and the public interest in full disclosure on the other. I hope
that a sound and reasonable accommodation of these interests will be
reached.

Senator CooK. lay I discuss with you just a minute this question
of full responsibility and ultimate responsibility? As I listened to all
of the questions that have been asked of you, one has to view his own
authority and his own responsibilities in the positions that he has held.
When I was on the bench, I had many, many courts below me. It was
my responsibility to sign literally thousands of orders as a result of the
actions of those judges that were appointed by me and subject to my
commission. I did not interfere in any way with the operation of those
respective courts. But it was also my ultimate responsibility in regard
to those orders, and it was ultimately this individual who was re-
sponsible to the order that was signed and the action that was taken
by an inferior judge.

Now, it seems to me that this is the way you have at least analyzed
at this end your distinction between ultimate responsibility and full
responsibility. Those judges that were appointed by me had full re-
sponsibility, but the ultimate responsibility to sign those orders and
make those orders fully implementable under the judicial system was
the responsibility of this individual.

Now, do you look at your scope of authority and ultimate responsi-
bility in the selection of a special prosecutor in this light?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. I think that puts it very well, Senator
Cook. It is really that kind of independence that I think a special
prosecutor should have and as I understand the relationship you had
to the judges of the lower courts, the similarity is very close.

Senator CooK. I might also say that, in listening to Senator Tunney
and listening to the other Senators in the past few days, I feel that
in their attempts to totally isolate a prosecutor, I think we would
put the burden on us and not on you, Mr. Secretary. That burden is
that if we feel that a prosecutor will not be sufficiently isolated by you,
then obviously, the Senate should take the initiative. The Senate will



have to legislate, the Senate will have to create, the Senate will have
to appropriate, the same way as it did during the Coolidge administra-
tion. Obviously, if this committee is not satisfied, then the Senate should
set up an independent prosecutor as a matter of law. But it would seem
to this Senator that unless the Senate is willing to take this action,
then obviously, the ultimate authority of the Attorney General of the
United States or the ultimate authority of any member of this panel
in relation to his own staff stands in the same light.

So I would suggest that the commission that you will prepare for
a special prosecutor ought to be made very clear to the members of
this committee. I might suggest that if I were under consideration,
there would be a lot of things that an Attorney General might put in
that letter that he would not want to put in it. I say that because as the
prosecutor I would demand it and I would suspect that you are under
that type of understanding with the individuals that you may have
interviewed that have come under consideration.

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is all correct, Senator Cook. and :Is I
have said, the commission will be as clear as it can be made and it will
have to be satisfactory to the special prosecutor himself, and it will
come under the scrutiny of this committee.

Senator Coox. I might say Mr. Secretary, that you and I talked
on Sunday. You talked to most of the members of the committee. I
recall at least the agreement that you and I had that the names that
you gave to me would be kept in confidence and I said to you at that
time that that was rather a difficult thing to do with all the members
of the Judiciary Committee. I was correct. I noticed that the Balti-
more Sun had the names of the people that you had talked to. So I
might suggest to you that even with the committee responsibility and
with the obligations that we might have, we do have our own problems.

Mr. Secretary, I might also say to you that in the delegation of
responsibilities to a special prosecutor, you are aware that under 6005,
the request for an additional 20 days on the issuance of a request for
a subpena to a Federal judge is the sole and ex:clusive responsibility of
the Attorney General. This is unlike section 6003, where such actions
can be taken by the U.S. attorney with the approval of the Attorney
General, the Deputy Attorney General, or any independent Assistant
Attorney General. Under the request for a 20-day stay, this request
must come from the Attorney General and only from the Attorney
General. It is not in the nature of a right that can be delegated by you.
Are you willing to say to this committee that on the request of the
special prosecutor for the extension of 20 days because of an investiga-
tion that he is carrying out, because of matters that may presently be
either involved in a case that he is trying or involved in an investiga-
tion before a grand jury, that you will extend him the courtesy of issu-
ing these orders at his request for a 20-day stay?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I wouild do that. Senator Cook.
Let me just add this. This. I think, is a good, very concrete example

of the kind of thing that will arise in the carrying out of the respon-
sibilities that I have been attempting to delineate, and in this instance.
I think that the special prosecutor should have a clear understanding
that in any event where he asked me to carry out this statutory respon-
sibility, I will do so as a matter of course.



Senator COOK. I would hope so, Mr. Secretary, because the very or-
ganic nature of the judicial system requires that we preserve that
system. This case should not be tried before a Senate committee and
tried before the headlines of the United States and not tried before
judicial tribunals that can in fact impose penalties.

I want to make, Mr. Chairman, just in closing, one more emphatic
statement. That is that those who are guility in this situation, Mr. Sec-
retary, if in fact they are found guilty, they have to pay their penalty
to this system and they have to pay their penalty to this society, and
they have to go to jail if that is the dictate of the judicial sysem. They
should not be absolved by any pleading of immunity because of the
activities of any committee of the U.S. Congress.

This Senator would certainly not be satisfied and I know the Ameri-
can people would not be satisfied with that.

Senator HRUSKA. Will the Senator yield on the point of immunity?
Senator CooK. Yes.
Senator HRUSKA. First of all, I should like to indicate that I sub-

scribe to the views expressed by the Senator from Kentucky on this
point. We should be grateful for his bringing to our attention and
emphasizing it in this fashion. The statute on the granting of immu-
nity, which was discussed by the Senator from North Carolina on the
first day of these hearings, is readily susceptible to conjecture and mis-
understanding. There is a provision which provides for a 10-day period
in which the Attorney General can consider transmitting the request
of a congressional committee for immunity of a given witness. There
is also the provision for the 20-day extension of that period.

There are a number of reasons, why, the Attorney General should
be consulted. There is also a reason why he is given 10 days in the
original instance and 20 days, if desired, for complying with the re-
quest of the congressional committee. One of those reasons is that
through his subordinate law enforcement officials, particularly the
Chief of the Criminal Division, the Attorney General may receive
reports concerning activities that are going on in grand juries and in
other inquiries, and therefore, he may have special information re-
garding the witnesses who are applying for immunity. It is incumbent
upon the Attorney General to weigh that information and to inform
the chairman of the congressional committee, if such be the case,
whether the Department of Justice believes that it has sufficient evi-
dence clearly and independently of what that applicant for immunity
might furnish in order to successfully prosecute him.

Furthermore, in the present situation there might be pending in the
Department of Justice a more serious crime than the bugging of the
Democratic National Headquarters at the Watergate. Suppose it de-
veloped that one of these witnesses had indulged in activity or in con-
duct which makes him susceptible and vulnerable to a charge of treason,
for example. Would it not be a very cheap price to pay for one to
come and reveal such activity in the course of testimony before a con-
gressional committee and get immunity which would insulate him
against an even more serious crime than is involved with any of the
other defendants against whom he is purveying this testimony?

That is the purpose and the rationale of that law. It is a law that
is not of many years derivation, perhaps 5 years in its revised, codified
form. The discussions of that bill will show that to be so.



Senator CoOi. 'May I say to the Senator from ,Nebras k that this
bill came out of our committee in 1970, as amended.

Senator HRUSKA. Exactly. And it had been consid'red for 2 rears
prior to that time. It is one of the products of the commission on title 18
of the code and it is one of the fruits of the labors of that Pat Brown
commission, on which this Senate had four members, incidentally.
And the speaking Senator is one of those members and I recall well
the discussion.

Now, then, to have that recent legislative background disregarded
and to ask vou, Mr. Attorney General, to waive thqt 20-day period, I
would be asking you to become simply a ministerial messenger boy con-
veVing a request of a congressional committee to the court. Such a
waiver would deny and repudiate the spirit ,nd th letter of the statiure
that we are tadking about and the spirit and the letter of that statute.
That statute is geared to the proposition of the administration of jus-
tice in a full, evenhanded manner rather than in some capricious fash-
ion which will allow some guilty to escape and others to be ce.lled il,on
to pay the full penalty. And I hope that as we go along, we will see
that evenhanded approach taken in deliberations of this committee.

Mfr. Secretary. I do not know whether you would have any comment
on this. I have no particular questions. If you have any special com-
ment, however, I will be happy to hear from vou.

Secretary RicARnsoN_. My only comment, Senator Hruska, is that
these are considerations that should be given full weight. So far as
this specific case is concerned, the special prosecutor and not myself
would be in a position to do this and I think it is one of the earliest
situationis that he would have to get fully on top of in order to here
a considered judgment.

Senator CooK. May I say, Mr. Secretary, there is not any question
that the statutes under title 18 with regard to immunity are extremely
important. They are extremely important to the prosecution of cases.
I am not saying that it is not going to be necessary to extend a degree
of immunity, either within the framework of the senatorial commit-
tee or within the framework of the judicial process. But I would also
suggest that it would be this individual's opinion that if anyone came
up here before the committee and came under subpena and he thought
that he could be subject to indictment or he thought that there was
a degree of guilt that ultimately would be revealed, it would be this
individual's idea that good legal counsel would tell him to go up
there and perform a good light opera and proceed to open up his
heart on everything that he could conceivably get in that record. Then,
when and if he was compelled to answer to'a judicial indictment, the
first activity of his legal counsel would be to plead immunity. And I
would not want these cases held in abeyance while he pleaded numer-
ous motions for immunity for prospective defendants because of their
extended conversation and extended deliberations before a committee
of the Congress of the United States. I think we would be cheating
the judicial system, frankly, and I think we would be cheating the
American public, because they demand that the situation be answered,
they demand that those who are responsible be indicted. They demand
that those responsible be tried; and they demand that whatever penal-
ties must be paid thereby be paid by the individuals who have seen
fit to almost desecrate our political system. The political system, as



we know it, in the United States. For those people who (lid not feel
they could believe in the American people to make a choice and decided
that they were somehow or other going to effect that choice through
devious means, this Senator is one individual who wants every one
of them to go to jail.

Secretary RICiTAr)soN. Those are all, I think, very powerful con-
siderations, Senator Cook, that would, as I said, have to enter into
this and I would hope that this could be done on a basis of full mutual
cooperation and understanding as between the special prosecutor and
the Senate committee.

There is one other aspect of this that has not been touched on. It
is also a matter of concern. That is that the immunized witness would
not be in a position to testify under circumstances in which he would
not be subject to cross-examination-

Senator CooK. That is correct.
Secretary RICHARDSON [continuing]. As he would be if he were

a witness in open court, and any individual whose own activities and
reputation were affected by any such testimony would not be in a
situation where he or she would have a right to be heard or to cross-
examine. And these, I think, are also factors that deserve to be
considered.

Senator HRUsKA. If the Senator will yield further, my remarks a
little bit ago were limited pretty much to the situation of the congres-
sional committee requesting the Attorney General to transmit a request
for immunity to the district court. That, however, is not the only pur-
pose nor the only thrust of the immunity statute. There are also those
instances where the Attorney General will present his own request for
immunity to being granted to a witness in whose testimony he is inter-
ested for the purpose of further prosecution. But the same guidelines
apply in both instances, in that all of the factors known to the Attor-
ney General must be taken into consideration and his discretion
accordingly employed.

Senator COOK. Well. as the Senator knows, there is considerable de-
bate and the question has not been totally judicially resolved in regard
to the interpretation of what one refers to as a use immunity and the
immunity for prosecution. I would suggest that there is a big enough
gap in that particular area that I am afraid we would find ourselves
fighting a multitude of motions before we could get down to the trial
on the merits. I think what we really need here is a series of trials on
the merits.

I might also suggest, Mr. Secretary, that it is this Senator's opinion
that regardless of the merits of some of these cases, I think the prosecu-
tor is going to find himself in a position where he is going to have to
try just about everyone of these cases whether he wants to or not.
I think the American public is going to demand that it be done.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Secretary RICHARDSON. I understand the point.
Thank you. Senator Cook.
Senator HART. The Senator from Massachusetts.
Senator KENNEDY. Mr. Secretary, I will not be able to be here this

afternoon, but one of the matters that the Senator from Kentucky
mentioned-he is here and he can correct me if I am wrong-is that



he views the special prosecutor as having a relationship between the
Senator and his staff ?

Did the Senator mention that at all?
Senator COOK. Oh, no, I did not; not at all.
Senator KENNEDY. I thought that was part of it.
Senator COOK. May I say to the Senator from Massachusetts that I

view the special prosecutor and I think the Secretary views the special
prosecutor in relation to his testimony, in answer to your questions
and Senator Bayh's and Senator Tunney's, as extending to that in-
dividual under a commission every degree of authority that he can
extend to him to try these cases and bring this to an ultimate conclu-
sion. However, the Attorney General of the United States has the
ultimate responsibility in this matter, just as we consider that each
one of us has the ultimate responsibility for the activities regardless
of the independence that we may wish to give to anybody who works
in our campaigns or works in our offices or anywhere else. But I view
that ultimate responsibility that he has testified to in relation to that
degree of ultimate responsibility that this individual had when he was
on the bench in relation to his lower courts.

Secretary RICHARDSON. May I just interject, lest there be any mis-
understanding, Senator Cook, I think that the kind of ultimate respon-
sibility that I visualize may be less than you have as a judge having
jurisdiction over lower courts. I testified the other day in response to
Senator Bayh that I would expect to interpose my own judgment only
in a situation where the special prosecutor had acted arbitrarily or
capriciously and not simply because I disagreed with him as a matter
of judgment. That, I said, I thought was a very remote possibility. I
do not know the scope of your authority well enough to know whether
you may also have had the power to reverse a lower court judge simply
because you thought he was wrong. I would not, in any event, expect to
substitute my ow n judgment for that of the special prosecutor simply
because I thought he was wrong.

Senator CooK. My only recourse would have been to have failed to
sign those final orders that were then appealable above me. Obviously,
if I had done that. then I would have shown that I did not have faith
in the individual whom I had appointed to pursue that particular
responsibility.

Senator BAYH. Would the Senator yield, the Senator from Massa-
chusetts yield?

Senator KENNEDY. Sure.
Senator BAYH. I hesitate to interject myself here, but inasmuch as

I think the Senator from Kentucky very accurately expressed the place
I was trying to get our distinguished Attorney General-designate to go
last week, I would like to get a comment directed at Senator Cook's
description of the powers given to the special prosecutor before he got
to the discussion of his duties as a judge. Would you concur with his
assessment that you are giving to the special prosecutor all of the
powers necessary to pursue the case and carry out the inve-tigation
subject only to your final authority that the job be done accurately?

I mean the way the Senator from Kentucky described it, I thought
that was exactly where I felt we ought to go. In fact, you yourself
almost said that and at one time, I think did, and then maybe pulled
that trapdoor that I referred to last week, when you suggested that



this was sort of a legal responsibility that could not be delegated, but
that the operational, decisionmaking authority was going to be given
to that special prosecutor.

Now, pardon me for interjecting.
Secretary RICHARmSON. That is right, and I think I have made that

clear.
Senator KENNEDY. Well, the only point I would make here, Mr.

Secretary, is that I think a number of us have gone around and around
on the issue and we have tried to define what the actual, ultimate re-
sponsibility means. I think we have had a variety of different ques-
tions by the members of the committee in areas that they may be
concerned about as presenting some particular problems on that sub-
ject matter. It just seems to me that over the course of the morning
Senator Tunney, Senator Cook, Senator Bayh, Senator Hart, and
others have all underlined the importance of that written document
that is going to be worked out between you and the special prosecutor.
It seems to me, having listened during these hearings for these few
days, that you have been extremely responsive to the different particu-
lar questions which have come from the members of the committee and
they have covered a wide variety of different areas, to try to get at
the ultimate definition of "ultimate responsibility." But it seems to
me that, until we have that particular material outlined as a basis of
agreement between you and the special prosecutor, we will be continu-
ing to ask questions about the different areas, but we will probably
have to be going over that in some detail again as to the meaning of
that.

Secretary RICIARDSON. I think it would be appropriate that you do
that, Senator Kennedy.

Senator CooK. May I say, Mr. Secretary, before you answer further,
it was at least my feelings, Senator Kennedy, when I talked in terms
of the commission that would be given to the special prosecutor, with-
out any equivocation, that that commission would be in writing.

Senator HRUsK.. But it would have to be in compliance with the
statute, of course, unless we wanted to legislate to change the statute, as
you indicated.

Senator CooK. The authority of the Attorney General is vested by
statute and I do not think he can go beyond that authority and I do
not think there is any question about that by any member of the
committee.

Secretary RIcHARDSON. One way of getting to the commission ear-
lier, Senator Kennedy, so the committee will have it before the special
prosecutor comes here for interrogation, is that I make it available to
you as soon as I have been able to go over it with him and assure that
it includes any provisions that he wants to have in it. Then I could
transmit it to the committee and you would have in advance an op-
portunity to look it over before he actually appears.

Senator KENNEDY. The only questions then, I suppose, will be speci-
fic questions about the various clauses and parts of the agreement, and
we will have his interpretation of what it means. I suppose it is also
important that we have your interpretation before hand about those
provisions. Do you not agree with me on this ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. It occurred to me that you might come to
that conclusion and I had decided that if you did, I would offer to



come back or to give you a letter based on whether the colloquy with
the appointee permitted me to say I endorse, support, and will carry
out the understandings that were expressed, or by some other ap-
propriate means, to close the circle by giving you the necessary assur-
ance following the hearing for the prosecutor that I stand back of the
result hammered out in the course of that colloquy. I would be glad
to do that. I think it would help some.

Senator KENNEDY. As the Attorney General or the Attorney Gen-
eral designate?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, that is up to the committee and the
Senate.

Senator KENNEDY. Do you have any preference !
Secretary RICHARDSON. I am trying to move as rapidly as I can.

As you know from our telephone conversations on this point, it de-
pends on whether I get an affirmative answer from the person on the
top of my list. If so, then it can proceed more rapidly. If I have to
go down the list, it could take longer. But at any rate, I will-
whether it comes before or after, I think, should be for the Senate to
decide.

Senator KENNEDY. I am wondering whether it would be better for
you just to be working on that particular document now rather than
even going through the process of responding to questions up here.
Would it be expeditina the process for you, instead of coming back
this afternoon, to select and make sure you have the special prosecutor
and iron out these details?

See-etary RICHARDSON. Well, there is not a whole lot I can do right
now. I need to have somebody who says he will do the job, who can
then say whether or not the draft needs amendment.

Senator KENNEDY. Thank you very much.
Senator HART. Not to introduce a note of further uncertainty, but

in the last few minutes, I have been wondering which is chicken and
which is egg? How can you get a fellow to say yes, I will take the
job, until you show him the contract?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Oh, I would show it to him.
Senator H NRT. You will have it?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Oh. yes. I have a draft now which I think

is pretty good and I would promptly give it to anyone I was ap-
proaching on this and ask for comments or suggestions.

Senator HART. I am almost sorry I raised the question, because it
opens others. Maybe the best ballplayer will not sign the contract
because the figure is not right, but you would still want to get the best
ballplayer. What if the contract is in such form that the very best
would feel unable to accept? Again, I opened it. I did not mean to. But
it follows logically.

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, that is a perfectly good question. I have
thought about that some, too. I would, in effect, be saying to him, well,
does this look OK to you? Does it give you a clear enough grant of
authority? And if he said, no, I think it needs to be clarified or
strengthened in a given respect, I would-I do not mean that I would
automatically go along. We might discuss it. But I do not want to
lose, anybody on the ground that he thinks the role is too restricted.
I can only say that I am planning to be pretty flexible on that score,
because if I think that the individual I am talking to is really the right



person for this job, I will want to get him. I hope this will not arise.
because I think that what I am proposing really does provide full
independence, consistent entirely with everything that has been dis-
cussed here.

We took another look at the draft and made some changes in it,
for example, following the colloquy with Senator Bayh the other day.
So you are raising, you are pointing to a contingency that i hope will
not occur.

Senator HART. I hope by asking the question, I have not caused
it to.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Not at all.
Senator HART. I would be the most unlikely fellow at the bar to be

asked to do this job, but if I were asked to do it, I would want a clearer
understanding than I have had after listening to you and Senator Cook,
you and me. as to really what happens if I decided that I want to
take a particular course of action in connection with an indictment or
a grant of immunity. I would not consider the contract one I would
sign unless it was clear explicitly that the only thing you could do
to me if you disagreed with that decision was fire me. I would want
to be sure that I could do exactly what I wanted to do and omit every-
thing I wanted to omit, subject only to being fired.

You might think that something I wanted to do represented ir-
responsibility or going off the deep end, but I would want the con-
tract to say all you can do about it is fire me. Is that not the way the
contract you ,anticipate, that is the draft that the fellow is going to get?

Secretary RICHARDSON. It does not say it quite that way in its
present version. But as I said the other day, that is really what it
comes down to. If I am saying I am not going to second-guess you,
I am not going to interpose my own judgment, this is your call, then
anything within the boundaries represented by capriciousness on the
one extreme and arbitrariness or a sheer mental aberration on the
other is fully legitimate. If the special prosecutor persists in what
I would regard as an arbitrary, capricious, or totally irrational man-
ner, the only possible outcome at that point would be, then, his resig-
nation or my firing him.

Senator HART. Senator Kennedy?
Senator KENNEDY. Secretry Richardson, you indicated that you

had a rough draft of the agreement. Is there any reason that we could
not examine it?

Senator HRUSKA. If the Senator will yield, may I ask would that be
on a confidential basis like the disclosure of the names was made
yesterday?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think it would be, if it were done, desir-
able to achieve some confidentiality, although there is no secret about
it. I just think that before getting into negotiations over language,
it would be better, in dealing with the committee on this, for me to
have it in the form that the special prosecutor is satisfied with and I
am satisfied with., and seek the judgment of the members of the com-
inittee at that point. I just think it is a more orderly way to proceed.
I have no other basis of hesitancy at this stage. If an individual
Senator made a particular point of wanting to see it, he could see it.

Senator KENNEDY Thank you.



Senator HART. We are adjourned to resume at 2:30 p.m.
[Whereupon at 12:45 p.m., the committee was recessed until 2:30

p.m. the same day.]
AFTERNOON SESSION

Senator HART [presiding]. The committee will be in order.
Mr. Secretary, if we may delay a moment, I think Senator Bayh

has been delayed just outside.
The Senator from Indiana.
Senator BAYH. Mr. Secretary, I do not want to go back over the same

old ground. Inasmuch as the ground that we have plowed has been
apparently helpful to you in the grasping of the ground rules of au-
thority. I would like to touch on some of these matters again, as well
as bring in another item or two that I think relate to the overall pic-
ture of the Attorney General, the overall authority and responsibility
of the Attorney General. I think realistically, Watergate is the first
responsibility and it is the item that is in everybody's mind now, but
as you, yourself, said, that is not the only responsibility that an attor-
ney general will have.

This morning, as I recall the discussion with Senator Tunney, he
asked if anybody at the White House or if the President had ap-
proached you relative to suggestions for special prosecutor. Would you
care to respond to that question once again, please?

TESTIMONY OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON-Resumed

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, I said that, to the best of my recollec-
tion, two names-I only recall two specifically-had been in effect
passed on to me and there was no suggestion that they were to receive
any special consideration over and above or different from names that
I received from any other source. I received them on the same basis as
I have received suggestions from a number of people, including mem-
bers of this committee. They were simply dropped into the hopper and
subjected to the same sort of scrutiny with respect to the kind of
criteria I was trying to apply that any others were subjected to. In
each case, although they were both men of stature and probity, I felt
that they were a little short in terms of the kind of legal experience
that seemed to me important. They are both lawyers. They were
dropped before the list was narrowed down to about 10 or 12. And
of course, they were not on the list of four that I have since submitted
to the members of this committee.

Senator BAYH. Would you care to tell the committee for the record
who suggested the names?

Secretary RICHARDSON. One of them came from General Haig, and
I think the other one came from Len Garment, but I have not checked
any source that could confirm that since it came up this morning.

Senator BAYH. To use the old cliche, did you call them or did they
call you?

Secretary RICHARDSON. They called me. In one case, I think the call
was actually to a member of my staff, who passed the name on to
me.

Senator BAYH. Have you had any further discussion with them
about either the two names they mentioned?



Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I have not personally, but the same
staff member (ailed Hai- back to tell that the names had been dropped
becau-,e they did not satisfy the kind of criteria that I was seeking
to apply.

As I say, they were (listinguished individuals; they were both
Democrats; they were both people who had had no association what-
ever with the administration. But I thought that they did not have
quite enough trial or prosecutorial experience.

Senator BAYlI. AS one who will shortly, I trust, be the number one
law enforcement official in the country, who is by your definition the
ultimate authority for pursuing the Watergate case, however that
ultimate authorityv ma- be defined, does it concern you any that you
have people down at the White House advising you on this matter?
That is question 1.

Question 2, Do you have any obligation to take into consideration
the desires of those parties or others in the executive branch and ulti-
mately the President, and do you have the responsibility. Question 3,
to report back to them? If a staff member feels inclined to tell Mr.
Garment and General Haig that X and Y have been dropped, do they
or you have a responsibility to either advise the President and his
close White House staff of the choices, or to clear them with him, or
them?

Secretary RICHARDSON. One, I did not feel that I was being given
any advice. They were simply names passed on to be added to a list
which included by that time at least a hundred names. I did not think
I had any obligation to report back. I have not transmitted to anybody
at the 1 11hite House the names of the four iridividuils whio are pres-
ently under consideration, and I feel no obligation to consult anyone
in the White House about my selection from among those names and
will not do so.

Just to repeat, I have not had any communication with anybody in
the White House at all about the narrowing down of the list of 100
to 12 or from 12 to 4 at any point. I have not thought that that was
appropriate or desirable.

On the other hand, I saw no reason not to put on the overall list
names that came from that source, as I have from other sources. I do
not think in deference to the stature of these individuals that it would
be appropriate for me to disclose their names here, but I think you
would agree that they are men of considerable stature and inde-
pendence.

So as I say, I saw nothing wrong with simply adding their names
to the list, but I would have considered it improper to seek advice
or to consult.

Senator BAYH. You do not feel that it would be fair to them or the
process to disclose the names of the two that were recommended by
Mr. Garment and Mr. Haig?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, I think it is just a question of fairness
to them. I have no personal objection and I would be glad to give you
and Senator Hart as acting chairman these names. Then you can
decide whether you thought they should be made public. If I might
approach the bench, or if you insist now, I will disclose them.

Senator BAYH. I only go through this line of questioning because I
think it is a matter of legislative concern. I would not want to see you
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tarred by the indiscretions of certain White House aides. Thus I think
to get the matter out, obviously, some of our friends in the press have
done a better job than members of the committee finding out this in-
formation in advance. So to give you a chance to clarify it, I thought
it was in the best interest of the full story and of your candidacy.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Let me go back and reemphasize a couple of
things.

One is that the President made it emphatically clear that the re-
sponsibility for selection would be mine. Nothing had been said to me
by anyone on his staff which I regarded as in any way seeking to
undercut that general directive. Nothing has been said that seemed to
imply that I should give any special weight to these suggestions. They
were passed on, I take it, principally in the thought that they were
names that I might not have thought of in the process and deserved to
be on any comprehensive list. There was no element of inconsistency
whatever with the general understanding I have and had that my re-
sponsibility would be to make a purely, wholly independent selection
from among all the available candidates.

Now, if the chairman feels that it is appropriate to make the dis-
closures-I have not contacted either person, either man; I am sure it
would be a surprise to them to know that their names ever figured in
this

Senator HART. I think that any member of the committee who feels
it desirable to obtain information fairly can ask the information of
you. Mr. Secretary, to be provided on or off thO reoorrl, gs you Fee fit.
Mv reluctance, quite frankly, is that, one, White House personnel
should make suggestions as to who shall investigate the White House
shows a sinxular lack of sensitivity: two, though insensitive, they may
have named two very fine members of the bar, and for me--unless they
want to be disclosed, I would not make it necessary-I would want to
be sure that you were not going to recommend ultimately either of
them. If we can get that assurance.

Secretary IRTCHARDSON. Yes, I have given you that assurance-well,
I have not quite. I have said that they were not on the list of 12 dis-
tilled from the original !00 or so and they are not, therefore, on the
remaining 4. But I will give you the further assurance that if
I should have to go beyond the 4 to the 12, I still would not reach
them and I can give you the further assurance that they will not be
reached.

Senator B.=R. I will not pursue this. My only reason for asking it
was the feeline thqt there would be one certain way to still the con-
cerns of the doubting Thomase. . and that would be to mention the
names. I have not disclosed the four names that you were kind enough
to consult with me on, and I will say publicly that I do appreciate the
way this matter was handled.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, may I ask, could we declare a brief
recess while I tell you both who they are and let you and the ranking
member who is here now decide. I do not like to have this left in a
manner that might leave it questionable. So if I might come up for a
moment.

Senator HART. We will recess briefly.
[Recess.1
sr ator HART. The ommittee will be in order.



Mr. Secretary, the ranking Republican member, the Senator from
Indiana, and I have had a very brief discussion with you off the record,
and I think the fairest way to put it is in view of the circumstances,
would you think it helpful to statte for the record the two lawyers who
were suggested to you by White House sources?

Secretary RICHARDSON,. In the circumstances, Mr. Chairman, I will
be glad to do so. First is the former Governor of California, Chairman
of the Commission on the Revision of the Federal Penal Code, Ed-
mund G. (Pat) Brown. The second is former Governor of Missouri,
Warren Hearnes.

Senator HART. Thank you.
Secretary RICTARDSON. I believe he is runing for re-el(,ction now.
Senator 'B Yii. May I move on to another line of questioning?
Secretarv RicnARd SON. By a'] means.
Senator HRUSKA. Would the Senator yield?
Senator BAYH. Yes.
Senator HRrrsKA. Would this not be a good place in the record for

the nominee to tell us what he can about the telephone calls and other
contacts he had with members of the Judiciary Committee over the
weekend? Reference has been made to it and it is nothing secret in that
it pertained to official business. Those parts that are supposed to remain
confidential can, but I think in order to avoid anything attaching by
way of suspicion to indicate that it was a surreptitious act done by the
dark of the Moon. that maybe even that positions of high preferment
been promised and other sich conjectuic arise in the minds of some,
would it not, be well to lay it before the committee and make it a part
of the record?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I would be very glad to, with the understand-
ing of the Chair.

As the committee will recall, on Thursday afternoon, when I re-
ferred to seeking the judgment of the presidents of the bar associa-
tions on the final list of those whose names survived the review of the
original list, Senator Kennedy suggested that it would be appropriate
for me also to consult the members of the committee itself, and I agreed
to do this. I concluded after thinking about it Friday that the best way
to do it would be, first, to call the individuals involved so that they
knew that this was being done. I thought it barely possible that even
though I requested confidentiality, the names might somehow get out
and I wanted them to know in advance that they were under consider-
ation. So I made calls during the day on Friday for that purpose and
ended up with a list of four who were the four best on the list, as I
saw it. that I had.

During the course of the day, there were three individuals who de-
clined to be considered for what were obviously compelling reasons,
and so on Saturday, I started calling the members of the committee
and completed those calls last night. In each case, I reviewed for them
the names in alphabetical order, together with the salient biographical
facts about each, and invited any comments that the committee member
had.

On that basis, I have now placed the names in order of priority with
the idea of going to the top man first and seeing if he would take the
job. If he refuses, well, then, we will go to the second and so on.



I hope very much that the top man will decide to do it. But I think
they are all good. They are all very highly qualified and I think that
this was the uniform reaction of the members of the committee, that
it is a good list and that these are outstanding individuals, all highly
qualified.

Senator BAYir. Though I have not and do not intend to violate
the confidence, I felt that this was relevant to our conversation Satur-
day morning. inasmuch as one story that I read did contain the names
of two individuals who are presently serving as members of the judi-
cial branch of our Government; and inasmuch as the names which may
be considered that were not on that list might also include members of
the judiciary, is it possible for a member of the judicial branch to serve
as special prosecutor investigating possible indiscretions within the
executive branch? Does that present a problem? I only bring this to
your attention inasmuch as you surely have thought about it. Is there
anything that this committee perhaps should consider to make it pos-
sible for the man who you might feel would be the best to serve with-
out this being a hindrance to him?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Mv considered view. Senator Bavh, is that
the man could not retain his judicial post and also serve as the special
prosecutor.

Senator BAYH. There is a difference in the Warren Commission, of
course, where we had the Supreme Court Chief Justice serving in a
sort of ad hoc capacity. I know that that is not the same situation.

Excuse me for interrupting.
Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I do not think it is. I think in that in-

stance, w'here the process was purely fact-findin,-. the problem of sepa-
ration of powers, if not nonexistent, at least is much easier than where
the judge is being asked to serve as a prosecutor. So I have been pro-
ceding on the assumption that any judge would have to resign, and
he would have to do so with the understanding that he could not expect
to receive consideration for any subsequent judicial appointment by
this administration- in the case of a sitting Federal judge, not even
reappointment to the same bench from which he came.

I was not clear first about the last conclusion, but in thinking about
it, it would seem to me that a judge who would resign from the district
court and retain the hope of returning by appointment of this admin-
istration might still have or be thought to have a possible reward for
cooperative behavior lying at the end of the road, and rather than
allow that concern to subsist, I would make clear that if he were to
resign to do this, it would have to be with no understanding whatever
as to the future.

Senator BAYII. You feel that it would be incumbent upon him to
resign? He could not be suspended for some special task?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I do not think so. I feel quite clear about
that. We have sought a good deal of advice on that point. I think it is
a closer question with respect to a retired judge. Even there, I think he
would have to resign.

Senator BArn. This morning, my colleague from Nebraska sug-
gested that you should be very careful about granting immunity be-
cause someone might be involved in committing treason. I note in the
definition of treason in the Constitution, it is a rather narrowly de-



scribed crime. Is there anything that has developed so far which we
may not be aware of which would go so far as tieason?

Secretarv RiCniARDso.N. Not that 1 know of.
Senator IatH. I think the admonition of the Senator from Ne-

braska is, as is iviially the case, appropriate, but T just wondered if
there was something there that perhaps we should be aware of.

In checking the paper and what records the staff and I have had
at our disposal there are four or possibly five different Federal grand
jury proceedings now going on in connection with the Watergate and
related events-here in Washington, in Florida, in Houston, New
York, aor. 1,ossibly California. Five individuals have been indicted-
Se-retti. ,itchell, Stani, Vesco, and Sears. Do you think it would be
appropriate for a freeze to be implemented on further indictments, as
well as the grants of imnmunity, until this special prosecutor can begin
operating, since these decisions are critical in the overall, complete
development of the case?

In looking back at some of the questions that I had asked and want-
ing to use this second opportunity to share thoughts with you, I want
to plug up some of the holes in our exchange to make sure that we had
a watertight record. As I recall, you said you thought the special
prosecutor should have-g-r'eat authority in the deisionmaking in
these individual cases. We did not get to the question of whether some-
thin,- done between now and then might prejudice this. Have you
given some thought to that, Mr. Secretary?

Secrietory RicixRiDsoN. Yes, I have, Senator Bayh. I do not see
any way in which this can be done under present circumstances. A
U.S. attorney, for example, who is ready to obtain an indictment is
concerned lest there be leaks. He may feel that it is important for any
of a number of reasons to proceed rapidly. I am certainly not in a
position at this stage to exercise any independent judgment in such
a matter, and I do not think it would be desirable simply to issue a
blanket request to hold things up for an indefinite period. So it seems
to me that the only possible answer is that matters will have to take
their own course until such time as the special prosecutor is appointed
and qualifies and is able to inform himself as to the current situation
in all these cases and then decide what action he believes should be
taken in the light of circumstances as they then exist.

Senator BAYH. Is it necessary to make decisions at the district court
level relative to who should be granted immunity? Perhaps to broaden
the question as well as to ask a specific question, tell us once again the
authority you feel the special prosecutor would have relative to get-
ting involved in the district court cases and seeing that they were han-
dled in such a way that would enhance the chances of his successfully
pursuing his job.

Secretary RiciTAlusoN. The special prosecutor would, in effect, step
into the shoes of the Attorney General and the Chief of the Criminal
Division with respect to these cases. That means he would have the
authority as an original matter if no indictment had yet been returned
in a given case to exercise an independent judgment about whether
or not the evidence was sufficient, and so on. This is the kind of thing
on which routinely, U.S. attorneys consult the Chief of the Criminal
Division, who, of course, is exercising the responsibility delegated to



him by the Attorney General. Once the special prosecutor has been
appointed and his area of jurisdiction has been carved out and trans-
ferred from the Criminal Division to him, he would in effect, therefore,
be doing the kind of job in relation to these cases that I said the Chief
of the Criminal Division ordnarily does. But I do not see any way
that we can or should try to alter the course that events would other-
wise take between now and then.

Senator BAYH. Let me refer to a specific example of the kind of
thing that might take place. Suppose the special prosecutor, on tak-
ing the rolls and looking at a particular indictment that had been
brought against Mr. X in State Y, made the determination that the
facts contained or that the charges made there were not as serious
as they should have been. Would he have the authority to dismiss that
case and bring more serious charges against the defendant?

Secretary RIcilmRDSoN. Yes, he would have that authority.
Senator BAYr. Thank you.
May I go down this road, stepping on a few new stones or on the

same ones revisited after your discussion with Senator Tunney. In the
light of our conversation and our discussion the other day, you had
readdressed yourself to the provisions as to the authority of the special
prosecutor. If there are things that you said in response to the specific
questions that I addressed to you, sir, that may, in the light of the
weekend and everything that has happened, plus a reflection on your
own part, give you the desire to define this authority in a little dif-
ferent manner, I would like to give you that opportunity to do so.
You mention the relationship between you and the special prosecutor
being similar to that between the administrative agency and a -ourt
applying the abuse of discretion standard. There have been a num-
ber of different decisions that have been involved here, but I note that
one widely quoted judicial definition of this standard is that of Judge
Magruder of the sixth circuit in the case of McBee v. Bomar, 296 Fed.
2 295 in 1961. This is a case that I note keeps cropping up as author-
ity. Judge Magruder there said that abuse of discretion is, and I quote,
A clear error of judgment in the conclusion * * reached upon a

weizhing of the relevant factors."
Now, does that accurately reflect the way you really perceive the re-

lationship of the special prosecutor? Does this not su, rest that the
special prosecutor should have a wider discretion than your definition
that you would not intervene as long as the action was one on which
reasonable men can differ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator BAYIH. I am trying to be helpful, although I know sitting

there and answering these questions is not an easy task. but I want to
make sure we know where we are going. You kept coming back to that
trapdoor and using the word "unreasonable." I am not too sure that
Judge Magruder would go that far.

Secretary RICHIARDSON. I am not sure that I understand, Senator
Bayh, what you mean by "not going that far." You mean that he would
give greater or less weight to the administrative agencies

Senator BAYH. It would seem to me that he would give more au-
thority to the special prosecutor than you, by your own definition.

Secretary RICIARDS oN. You think he would give greater weight to



the agency's judgment than I would give according to the formulation
that I previously used?

Senator BA iYi. Well, let me just put it this way: I have read what
Judge Ma-ruder said. I would like to know once again what Elliot
Richardson is saying in the light of that often quoted thing. i will
read it one more time: "A clear error of judgment in the conclu-
sion * * * reached upon the weighing of the relevant factors."

Your words are more important than Judge Magruder's right now,
but von d4 refer to this relationship and that is one case which is
widely quoted relative to that relation.

Sccretry RICHARDSON. Yes. Well, I would expect to give the spe-
cial prosecutor a de,(,rree of authority, if anything, greater than that,
and I think what I have said, although I have expressed it in slightly
different words on different occasions, has been pretty consistent. I
have said that I would not second-guess him, that I would not sub-
stitute my own judgment for his. Now, the phrase "a clear error of
judgment" could be construed to mean that the reviewing court's judg-
ment would be substituted where the reviewing judge simply thought
that the administrative agency was wrong, clearly wrong. I would not
go that far.

In other werds, I might think that the special prosecutor was clearly
wrong and still not substitute my own judgment. I said that he would
have to verge on the point of an arbitrary or capricious or irrational
act before I would do so. So if anything, then, as I visualize it, the
special prosecutor's judgment would carry greater weight than is at-
tributed to the administrative tribunal in the formulation you quoted.

Sc-tor BAY11. I appreciate that appraisal. I must say I concur
with it.

Could I, at the risk of being repetitive, ask you to try to quickly give
us specific examples in the areas which we discussed the other day.
Could you take those one at a time to give us an example of what, how
you define "arbitrary" and "capricious" and "totally unreasonable?"

As I mentioned earlier in the colloquy you were having with Senator
Cook and Senator Kennedy, I really do not have problems, myself,
with the term "ultimate authority," if ultimate authority is more or
less a pro forma maintenance of authority as described in the statute.
There is no way you can shuck it; it is yours. And if all of the deci-
sions, the actual working, operating decisions, are deemed the special
prosecutor's and he makes all those, I am relieved. And I would not
want to play games, I would not want to be semantical about the term
"ultimate authority." It would ease my mind and perhaps others of
those on the committee if they are so concerned.

I would ask you if you could, if you feel it is possible, to give us an
example of when the special prosecutor would go over the line as far
as the nature and scope of grand jury proceedings.

Secretary RICHARDSON. In the case of seeking an indictment, for ex-
ample, he would have full authority to determine whether the evidence
was sufficient to support the indictment of any individual. This is often
a tough judgment call and is a good example of the kind of thing in
which he would have, so far as I was concerned, full authority to make
the call. Now, it is impossible to define a situation where he might be
acting irrationally; but an extreme case, for instance, would be where
he was proceeding on the uncorroborated hearsay of one witness. That
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might seem to me so flagratly insufficient as to amount to an arbitrarv
act. No responsible individual of the kind we are talking about here
would ask a grand jury to indict on that basis, and if he did, the grand
jury, of course, if it understands its function, should refuse to indict.
But that is an example of what I would consider to be an extreme cas-e.

Senator BATR. Then that is very consistent with the response you
gave to me the other day when you said, "In that case, his view would
prevail because I had given him'the job because I had confidence in him
because he knew more about it than I did"

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator BAYH [continuing]. "And because in the setting in which

we would be acting, I think it would be inappropriate for me to sub-
stitute my judgment."

Now are we talking about final authority as to the nature and scope
of the grand jury proceedings?

Secretary RICHArMSON. Yes. To take another example, for example,
the grant of immunity.

Senator BAYti. Please.
Secretary RICHARDSON. Ile should have full and independent au-

thority to determine when, in order to obtain sufficient evidence on
which to proceed, he should seek an order from a court requiring testi-
mony in exchange for immunity. This again is the kind of judgment
that somebody who is in direct charge of a prosecution is uniquely
in a position to make. I would not undertake in any way to look over
his shouldr or to monitor or to seeond-guess h- exerciue of that
judgment.

The question of whether or not to contest the assertion of executive
privilea'e is one we have alreadv covered, I think, very clearly.

Whether to take direct responsibility for the prosecution of a case
in a given Federal district and take it out of the hands of the U.S.
Attorney in that district, would be another kind of judgment in which
he should have the same degree of independent authority. Whether an
understanding of any sort should be communicated to a witness that
in consideration of his giving testimony this would be taken into ac-
count in recommendations made to the judge at the time of disposition,
the same should apply. This is the kind of discretionary judgment that
belongs in the hands of the prosecutor.

Whether to indict for a lesser charge, the same. And, I might add,
too-this is a more recent conclusion that I only began to look at in
the last day or so-we had a colloquy, you will recall. about what cases
would come within his jurisdiction, and I have concluded that with
respect to, for example, all offenses arising out of the 1972 Presidential
election, he should have the opportunity to determine whether or not to
assume the responsibility for such a case.

Senator BATH. All cases arising--
Secretary RIcHArDsoN. All offenses arising out of the 1972 Presi-

dential election.
Senator BAYTI. This would be not only the political espionage, but

the fund raising efforts, as well as the specifics of the Watergate case
and-

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. You will recall that in our colloquy
the other day, I pointed out that there have been at least 3,000--or so
I was told by the Criminal Division-cases involving all political par-



ties in which some question of compliance with the campaign con-
tribution reporting re(luirements had been raised. I said that any that
did not fall under the jurisdiction of the special prosecutor would pre-
sitiinablx reniain within the jurisdiction of the Criminal )ivision. So
you get then the (1 (stion of who decides which cases go to the special
prosecutor and which stay with the Criminal J)ivision. Mv present con-
cusion is that the special prosecutor himself should decide that.

Senator BArh. Would this include, Mr. Secretary, various activities
of the so-called "pl'umbing operation'.'

",ccretaiv RlcuAnnsoN. That phc-ase would not govern that particu-
!ler issue, but it--

Senator BAY1n. Could w\ve just sort of put it in context?
Secretary RICHARD SON. I have previously said, I think, that it

should be understood from the outset that he would have jurisdiction
of any case that arose out of this or any investigation that seemed
indicated. That would have to be dealt with separately, though, not
as a specific delegation from the outset.

Senator BAYn. But in your judgment, the instructions of authority
would give the special prosecutor the opportunity to pursue any vio-
lations that resulted from this so-called "plumbing operation"?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, definitely. As I said the other day, the
common denominators that ought to apply in determining what he
has jurisdiction over would be any involvement by White House per-
sonnel, present or former, any activity relating to the Committee to
Reelect the President, any activity involving a major appointee, past
or present, of this administration which in any way was related to
thp conduct of the campaign.

Senator 13_ v. As I recall it, not to put words in your mouth, but we
also later expanded that definition to include close associates or private
individuals like Mr. Kalmbach or perhaps even personal friends that
do not have an official capacity in any of the previously named or-
ganizations. Is that accurate?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. The phrase I used about the authority
of the special prosecutor over all offenses arising out of the election as
to which he would have unilateral opportunity to exercise or assert
jurisdiction presumably would cover those also.

Senator BATH-. Your redefinition is being very helpful to me, I
may say. I do not know whether it is being helpful to anybody else,
but it is to me. So let me ask one further question.

The special prosecutor would have the determination, then, in look-
ing at the various alleged incidents that have been brought to our
attention to determine what weight to give to national security
and whether to pursue or not to pursue them-that would be his
determination?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator Bxyii. And whether "national security" was a valid excuse

or not on the part of one or more of the participants?
Secretary RICHARDSON. He would determine that in the first in-

stance. If he met an assertion to the contrary by some party to the
case, some actual or potential defendant, then presumably, the issue
might have to be adjudicated by a court. But so far as the prosecution
is concerned, he would make that determination.



Senator BAYH. That has been very helpful, Mr. Secretary. I think
you have really done a creditable job of narrowing the line of final
authority.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, I think it is fair to say that these dis-
cussions have been helpful to me in terms of pointing up issues. I think
that the general line I have taken has been a consistent one in terms of
trying to maintain what I have referred to as the ultimate statutory
responsibility of the Attorney General. On the other hand, I think
we have developed a record that helps to make much more concrete
where the line ought to be drawn than it would have been otherwise.

Senator BAYH. I share your assessment. It has been helpful to me as
well.

Let me deal with two other areas, if I might, Mr. Secretary, that I
think were very much a part of your responsibilities. They are also
very current relative to a vote which I must take tomorrow in the
Appropriations Committee as to funds to participate or permit our
country to continue to participate in certain types of militarv activity.
As I am sure you are aware, the testimony which you made May 6,1973,
before the Senate Defense Appropriations Subcommittee has been
reported rather frequently in the press. I do not remember the specific
quotes, but as I recall at least reading it, the general thrust of your
testimony was reported to have been that regardless of what the Con-
gress does to cut off funds, we are going to be able to and will continue
the bombing in Cambodia, because that is in our national interest and
that the administration would, nevertheless, continue tIo bombing
even if there was denied transfer of authority of the, I think it was
$500 million.

Now, as the Attorney General of the United States, do you person-
ally feel that this kind of defiance of the legally expressed will of the
Congress that munitions not be utilized in pursuit of a certain kind of
foreign policy activity, that it should be flagrantly ignored and that
the present policy should be pursued, that a technicality hould be
sought out that would prohibit the very expressed will of Congress
from being carried out?

To me, let me say as a member of the legislative branch, that issue
and one other issue that I want to touch on very quickly here perhaps
will have a greater consequence on the division of powers in our coun-
try than the Watergate situation. Watergate is front page news right
now but this other business is going on underneath the big headlines
and in the final analysis, they could change the structure of our Gov-
ernment more signifieantly.

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is one of those "I am glad you asked me
that" questions, Senator.

There has been some very bad and inaccurate reporting of what I
said on this score. At least-let's see, looking around this room--one
or two members of this committee are also members of the Appropria-
tions Committee and heard my testimony on this.

Senator BAYH. May I read-just permit me to interrupt-the spe-
cific part of your testimony that concerns me-not what I have read
in the newspaper-is in the last page, on page 8, where it says:



It must be emphasized again, however, that the denial of requested authority
will not impact on U'.S. air operations in Cambodia but across-the-board on oper-
ations of our base line forces worldwide.

Secret:irv Rrcii.uRDSON. Yes: well, as I say. I welcome the oppor-
tunity again to try to clear this up. I was testifying in support of a
request for the transfer authority. That is, for authority to transfer
the power to obligate funds from one account to another within the
DOD budget. For a combination of reasons, including inflation in
food prices, currency devaliation, and a higher than anticipated rate
of activity in Southeast Asia. we had drawn down the operations and
maintemnce and personnel accounts in the Department of Defense at
a rate more rapid than was anticipated when the appropriations were
granted and enacted. So we needed-we now need-tranrfer author-
itv. in effe(,t, to enable us to continue to make obligations of the kind
covered by those accounts-things like fuel necessary for the steaniing
times of naval vessels, for flight training, and so on-and although a
reason why the accounts have been drawn down was, in part, activity
in Southeast Asia, the transfer authority was not in large part needed
for that purpose in the future. As my testimony said, only about $25
million of the total $500 million would be involved in Southeast Asia.

So what I was trying to get across to the Congress is that even if
the transfer authority were denied, that would not in itself stop the
bombing. I did not want there to be any issue of credibility arising
if the transfer authority were denied and then the Congress saw the
bombing was still oin on.

But I also testified that the Congress could, by appropriate lan-
guage, et off funds for bombing. I was saying if that is what you
want to do, you have to do it some other way and that the mere denial
of transfer authority will not in itself accomplish it.

Is that clear?
Senator BAYH. Yes; yes, I understand that. Let me again try to be

specific or get a specific answer to a specific question. Suppose the
Case-Church or Church-Case amendment passed, which denies the use
of any appropriated funds for continuation of the bombing activity
over Cambodia. Would you advise the President of the United States
in the event that passed and became a law, that he should no longer
continue the operation after that had passed and that had become the
law?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I would so advise him, at least as to any funds
that it purported to cover. I have not actually read the language, and
I think language could be written that would wholly cut off the bomb-
ing, and so testified before the Appropriations Committee a week ago
today.

May I, Mr. Chairman, if there is no objection, ask to have inserted
at this point in the record excerpts from that testimony?

Senator HART. It would be very useful.
Secretary RICHARDSON. I said in effect at the time that language

could certainly be written that would do this and on which I would so
advise the President.

[The excerpts referred to follow :1
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Chairman MCCLELLAN. We will come to order.
The Chair will make this brief statement.
The pending supplemental appropriation bill contains an administration

request to increase the transfer authority contained in section 735 of the
Department of Defense Appropriation Act by $500 million, from $750 million
to $1.25 billion.

The Defense Committee has heard testimony in support of this request from
representatives of the Department of Defense. In view of the increasing con-
cern in the Congress over this provision, and particularly with respect to theSoutheast Asia portion of this $500 million, estimated to be from $150 to
$200 million, the Secretary of Defense requested an opportunity to appear before
this subcommittee, along with Adm. Thomas Moorer, Chairman of the Joint
Chiefs of Staffs, to testify in support of this request.

Chairman M[CCLELLAN. I am about through and others will have questions alongthese lines. One other question is this: you are confronted and the administration
is confronted with this reality possibly, and that is that the American people want
our troops out and that the Congress will no longer support appropriations to
fund such operations. Now, where are we if that is the true situation? Will it be
the policy of the administration to proceed anyhow with continuing operations,
as are now in progress, or will it be the administration's considered judgment
to follow the only other alternative of prosecuting the war further with respect
to tryini, to compel Hanoi to abide by the terms of the cease-fire agreement?

Secretary RIClARDSON. I am sure, Mr. Chairman, that the administration
would not proceed in defiance of any clear-cut congressional action intended to
terminate the authority to use funds for continued operations in Cambodia.

I do want to emphasize, as I have earlier, that congressional action on the
transfer authority itself would not be so interpreted by us.

Senator CoTroN. You have said that nothing since January 27 has happened to
change the authority or at least the justification of the President's continuing
hostilities. If Congress did put this limitation on, that would be something that
would happen since January 27 that the President would certainly have to take
into consideration, is it not?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. I am sure that is right, Senator Cotton.



Senator COTTON. Do you think that if we put a limitation on this, that no
money shall be spent of this transfer in Southeast Asia-I know perfectly well
you have to pay your bills over there and I know perfectly well the administration
has to pay up commitments-wouldn't you think that if Congress rather strongly
cast that vote that it would have a very distinct effect on the President?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Ye"s; I think it would, Senator Cotton.
Senator COTTON. What do you think he would do about it?
Secretary RICHARDSON. I probably should not try to pronounce judgments on

lanuage I have not seen. A lot could turn on precisely what it said. I have no
doubt that lancuage could be drawn that would establish a restriction on the
right to obligate funds for the continued support of the air activity. I think it is
important to make clear, though, that a significant portion of the continuing
obligations to support Southeast Asia would not be for the purpose of support-
ing air activities over Cambodia but for the forces that are maintained in air
fields in Thailand and on ships in the area. The:s'e costs, would go on even if there
were no air activity, and it would be iipooriiut in any event to try to assure
that the language did not prevent our supporting those forces.

Senator INOUYE. Knowing what you know about the present military situation,
about their leadership, about their dedication, about their unwillingness to
fight, how long are we willing to continue our air strikes?

General SEIGNIOUS. Mr. Secretary, I think possibly you had better take that
question on.

Secretary RICHARDSON. This is essentially the question that I tried to answer
when it was raised earlier by the chairman.

I can only say that continuing support induces Hanoi to comply with the
agreement, and the prospect of our support will have to be indefinite.

We would, of course, from time to time have to assess the question of whether
or not to continue it, and the Congress would have to be part of that pro.ess.

I think we should develop a periodic accounting to the Congress. Our case
for the moment, at least. re-ts heavily on the current efforts to achieve com-
pliance that are being made through diplomatic channels.

Senator INOUYE. Would y our answer be the same if this Congress of the United
States added perhaps an amendment to this bill which said none of these funds
will be used for the bombing of Cambodia? Would you still continue bombing?

Secretary RICIARDsov. The short ansqwer iq "No." The actual terms of the
language- I am sure that the Senate could write language that had the effect
which was intended, and which would be complied with by the administration to
terminate bombing.

Senator SCIIwEIKER. Since it [the transfer authority bill] won't be determina-
tive in supplying the money you are saying you will bomb anyway whether you
get the gas or not?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is correct. I am not saying we will. I am saying
that the denial of the transfer authority will not control the answer to that
question.

Senator SCHWEIKER.. You may say that, Mr. Secretary. But the courts have
ruled very specifically, in .exact language, that when Congress vote- an appropria-
tion for war they are de facto giving their support to the war and declaring war
by that me.hanism. That is the only reason the administration has been conduct-
ing an allegedly "legal war."

The thing you are discounting is the very way in which the courts have given
you authority to start a war.

., -crtary RICHARDSON. Senator Schweiker, we are asking you to make trans-
fers as between DOD accounts. That is all that is before you. The transfers
would be made into the 0. & M. and personnel accounts. We do not want to mis-
lead you into thinkin-g that the authority we are seeking to make these transfers
is determinative one way or another with respect to the continued conduct of
U.S. air activity in Cambodia. We have never represented that it was, and al-
though this impression has arisen, my statement is directed toward dispelling it.
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Senator SCHWEIKER. If I recall Mr. Secretary, when you came before the
Armed Services Committee, the rationale was that we had troops and prisoners
there. We certainly are not usinz that one any more.

All I am saying is that the courts disagree with your position. The courts
very clearly say when Congress votes this kind of authority they, in essence,
give silent consent or public consent to the war. That is what the courts have
ruled. It may well be different from your position. I think it is a very relevant
point.

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I am sorry, Senator Schweiker. The point is that
if we ask for money for the war and the Congress granted it, then we could say
the Congress had, in effect, ratified, approved, or in some sense created legislative
history acquiescing in the continued conduct of the war. That is the very same
point that Senator Proxmire raised earlier. I said that we would not, in this
instance, try to convert a vote in support of the transfer authority into a vote
in ratification and approval of the war, because the transfer authority has so
little to do with the war.

If, however, an amendment were proposed to the transfer authority which
said you can't transfer any of this money for any purpose associated with the
war, and that was rejected, then we could have a basis in legislative history for
saying that the Congress had, in some sense, ratified or acquiesced in it.

But the approval of the transfer authority would not, in my view, constitute
in itself a significant basis for arguing that the Congress had acquiesced in
what we were doing. I would continue to argue as I said a moment ago that the
President's authority rested on the basis that it had on January 27.

Senator BELLMON. How does the Congress take it [the President's authority to
continue air operations in Cambodia] away?

Secretary RICHARDSON. It could take it away by some action saying that we
could not spend any more money, or obligate any more funds, or use personnel
and so on for the pursuit of continued air activity over Cambodia, or any other
form of combat action in that area. I did not intend to volunteer the language
which you 'ould use, but I am sure you could have derived it from other sources
than myself.

Senator BAYH. Could I ask one other question that is closely related
to this only in the domestic field that deals with the concern some of
us have with regard to the delicate balance of the authority being
tipped rather precipitously? There have been three court decisions, and
I am sure you are aware of them-one is relative to highway funds,
State Highway Commission v. Volpe; one involving OEO, and Federa-
t;on of Government Employees v. Phillips; the most recent one was

relative to EPA funds, the City of New York v. Ruckelshaus-in which
the district court involved ruled against the executive branch's action
to cease one program and to withhold appropriated funds in another.
Could you tell me, if you are the Attorney General of the United
States, given this background of these three courts, how would you
advise the President to proceed in the future on impounding funds
for libraries, for regional mental health centers, in certain other domes-
tic areas without being specific? If you would like, I can give you the
whole shopping list. I do not want to do that. I just want to get your
idea about the general legal advice you are going to give the President
as to whether he should cease and desist this impounding of funds that
had been appropriated. That is question No. 1.

Question No. 2. Do you know if the Government intends to appeal
any of the three cases I just referred to?

Secretary RICIIARDSON. On question No. 1, I really have not had an
adequate opportunity to study the cases to give you an answer as to
what my advice would be. Certainly, it had always been supposed, I
thought, that the President had some power with respect to the rate



of obligation of funds. Now, it would take more knowledge of the
reasoning and the aro-uments and so on that went into these cases and
the statutory language that appropriated the money and so on for me
to answer.

As to the second part of it, I do not know what the present view of
the Justice Department people is on this.

Senator HART. If the Senator could suspend at that point, we could
recess to catch that vote and resume.

Senator BAYn. Mr. Chairman, I will follow you. I have just one
quick question.

Have you had any chance to check the progress of that Department
perjury investigation that I asked you about relative to the ITT hear-
ings? You said we would have it in a few days. I do not want to put
that in with the Watergate situation, but I am very sensitive about it.

Secretary RiIwARDSON. All I have done is get word over there with
respect to the commitment I made to you, but I do not expect to be in
a position to give you any report on that until after I have gotten over
there and have some real right to review the whole record. I am in a
somewhat anomalous position at the present time in terms of dealing
with the Department. I am not in charge. I could ask to have records
available and so on. I am sure they would brief me as requested. But I
have felt that with respect to a matter of this kind, I really ought to be
in a position of some authority.

Senator BAYII. I do not think you ought to be held accountable for
the indiscretion of those who preceded you.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Let's say the clock is running-since I made
thit commitment to you.

Senator BAYH. Fine; I trust you are keeping a different clock than
those who preceded you.

Secretary RICHARDSON. But I have not actually seen anything on
it yet.

Senator BAYH. That is not necessarily comforting, but it is cer-
tainly not your fault if there is nothing there to be seen.

Senator HART. We will recess to resume after we vote.
[Recess.]
Senator HART. The committee will be in order.
Pending the return of the Senator from Indiana, the Senator from

Nebraska is going to question.
Senator HRUSKA. Mr. Secretary, I have listened with interest to the

discussion of the different bodies of Government that are involving
themselves in prosecuting any wrongdoing relating to the Presidential
election of 1972. It was the suggestion of one of our Senators that four
or five grand juries are now working at various locations within the
Republic on different activities and aspects. At least four Senate com-
mittees are working on it-the Ervin-Baker committee, the Appropri-
ations Committee, the Armed Services Committee, this Judiciary Com-
mittee. And out of all -this activity there are a great many decisions
which are being made and events transpiring. The more we move
along in that procession of events, of course, the less there is for anv
special prosecutor to work on if and when he is finally approved,
installed, and empowered to go ahead.

With that as a background, I would like to ask you just what is the
role of urgency in the matter of confirmation of an Attorney General,
whether it is before or after the designation and approval of a special



prosecutor? Is the simple running of the clock of concern to us to the
extent that we should be interested in making as much progress as
quickly as we can in this committee?

Secretary RiciRDsoN. I think very clearly, Senator Hruska, the
situation is urgent, for the reasons you have touched on. A great many
things are underway, gathering momentum. Decisions are being made
from day to day. This means that the special prosecutor, when he is
appointed and when he has received the approval of the Senate, will
have to catch a moving train. So it is important that he get aboard as
soon as possible in order to take charge.

The kind of decisions that are urgent include some we have discussed
already. They include questions of immunity. They include indict-
ments that are in the process of being developed, and there may be
other activities that will require judgment growing out of various
aspects of this whole situation, some of which have come to light
latthl.. So I think clearly the public interest would be served by his
being in a position to act as soon as possible.

Senator HRUSKA. Of course, in due time, with indictments that may
come out-some have already been returned-trials will be scheduled,
and there will come a time when the element of double jeopardy will
come into the picture in the event of another attempted arraignment,
indictment and arraignment upon charges that are now being proc-
essed by other grand juries. Would that also be a factor?

Secretary RTCHAIRDSON. Yes: it would. I think that the double
jeopardv problem. of course, arises with respect to any proceedings
that are initiated and then. for some reason, aborted. If that happened,
the special prosecutor would be barred from taking further action.

Senator HRUSKA. That is right.
Secretary R CTXTDS0N. So he ought to be in a position to exercise

direct responsibility.
Senator HiZuT x. So that unless action is taken fairly promptly, we

will find that the options of a special prosecutor will be considerably
narrowed. He will be precluded from any attempts that he might
make in one dirction or another, because developments have come
and !zone, events have occurred, and certain factors become things of
the past as time goes on.

I sugest that we may find that our present deliberations will be a
contributina factor to a highly impaired functioning of any special
prosecutor that might come along.

Secretary RICTTARDSON. I think this is a matter of serious concern,
Senator Hruska. Of course, as Senator Bavh's earlier questions brought
out. he could go beyond any action that had been taken in the sense
that if he felt that an indictment charged lesser offenses than the evi-
dence warranted or failed to include people who should have been
included, he could seek new indictments. But in the case of the grant
of immunity, for example, he could not undo that. In the case of any
triql that }boefan and resulted in a dismissal after the initiation of the
triil, there would be nothiny he could do to erase the action to that
point and jeopardv would have attached.

So there are a lot of reasons why he should get on the job as soon as
possible.

Senator HRUSKA. Thank you very much.
Mfr. Chairman, I note a vote is 'in progress. Perhaps we had better

respond to it.



Senator HART. Well, what about the opposite of the coin, though, if
indeed there are anticipated problems flowing from action taken before
the special prosecutor is designated? In the charge-if that in fact is
true, what damage would be done if, to forestall the damage that you
and Senator Hruska were talking about, the Department took no
action for the immediate future?

Secretary Rlcumzi)sox. This is a matter that really comes under the
heading that we discussed a little while ago, of whether or not there
should be some sort of freeze. The problem is that there really is no
one in a position effectively to direct this. I certainly do not want to
be in the position of telling the Chief of the Criminal Division or any
K.S. attorney not to go aheaid. That would be presuming, first of all,
ultimate favorable action by the committee and by the Senate.

In the second place, I am not in a position in which I can appro-
priately ask for all the information bearing on the questions of judg-
ment that are currently under consideration.

And finally, even if I were given all the information, I really would
not have time to absorb it, because I still have residual responsibilities
at the Department of Defense.

In one case, for example, where I was asked if I wished to exercise
some judgment of this kind, I said no, I do not; matters must proceed
as thev would in the ordinary course, and the people who have respon-
sibility now will have to exercise that responsibility.

Senator HRT. Well, someone is in charge now?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator HART. And he is aware of the problems, both in going for-

ward and in, as you say, freezing. I am not suggesting that you should
undertake to seek to influence it one way or the other. But someone
is there.

Secretary RiCHARDSON. I do not want to leave the record implying
that what is being done now is being done wrongly. I have no reason to
believe that it is. The point is simply that, as Senator Hruska brings
out, the more judgments and decisions that are made from day to
day, the more we will be beyond the opportunity of the special prose-
cutor to exercise an independent judgment when he does come on
board.

Senator HART. Yes; and while we cannot conclude this and still
catch this vote that has just been signaled for the second time, does
that not suggest to the person in charge the prudence of reserving
judgments for a brief period of time?

Secretary RTC'HARDSON. I would think that that person, whether
Henry Petersen or the U.S. attorney, at least might take this into
account. He would then have to call it as he sees it in the light of the
situation as a whole, including whatever may seem to him considera-
tions of urgency bearing on his going forward promptly.

Senator HART. Mr. Secretary, thank you for your patience today-.
At the direction of the chairman, Mr. Eastland, we are resuming at
10:30 tomorrow morning. We are now adjourned.

Secretary RIC1TARDSON-. Thank you, Senator Hart.
[Whereupon. at 4:25 p.m., the committee was adjourned, to recon-

vene Tuesday. May 15, 1973, at 10:30 a.m.]
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Present: Senators Eastland, Ervin, Hart, Kennedy, Tunney,
Hruska, Scott, Mathias, and Gurney.

Also present: John H. Holloman, chief counsel, and Francis C.
Rosenberger, professional staff member.

The CHAIRMAN. The committee will come to order.
Senator Ervin?
Senator ER M. Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, my question is this: Can you advise the committee

whether or not the Department of Justice and the district attorney
expect to withhold the presentation of indictments to the grand jury
in the pending matter until the special prosecutor is appointed?

TESTIMONY OF ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON-Resumed

Secretary RicnHnDsox. The answer to that, Senator Ervin, is no. As
far as I am aware, the Department and the U.S. attorney will proceed
at their own pace, without regard to the pendency either of my nomi-
nation or the prospect of the appointment of the special prosecutor.

Senator ERVIN. Well, is it not rather difficult to see how the special
prosecutor is going to be independent if he is required to prosecute
indictments drawn by somebody other than himself?

Secretary RICHARDSON. He will have to deal with the situation he
finds in this as in other respects. As colloquy. with Senator iHruska
yesterday developed, a great many things are in process. There is no
way, practically, whereby they can be frozen in place. There is no sure
basis on which to predict either when I will be confirmed and there-
fore in a position to appoint a special prosecutor nor to predict when
I will have a special prosecutor who can be examined by this com-
mittee, no way to predict how rapidly the Senate will act, either upon
my confirmation or upon a sense of the Senate resolution with respect
to the qualifications of the prosecutor.

Senator ERWN Well, as a distinguished lawyer, you know that no
evidence can be presented in a criminal prosecution except evidence
which tends to prove or disprove the allegations of a bill of indict-
ment or evidence which tends to show what the credibility of the
witness is, is that not true?

(111)



Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator ERvIN. Then if the special prosecutor comes in and has to

prosecute cases on bills of indictment returned before he becomes
special prosecutor, he has no independence as to ,the kind of evidence
he is going to present or as to the parties that he is going to prosecute.

Secretary RICTHARDSON. Well, of course, an indictment does not
attach jeopardy to any defendant. An indictment can be withdrawn,
rewritten, re-piresented: new defendants can be added; defendants
c, i be dropped: charges can be increased or reduced depending upon
the judgment of the special prosecutor. It would be awkward, to be
sure, and could create problems, but he would have the power to do
that if, in his judgment, it was required.

Senator ERvTN. He would have the power. But he would start out
with indictments drawn by someone else. If he exercised independent
judgment and decided that there ought to have been different indict-
ment-, drawn than the ones that were drawn, he would be somewhat
embarrassed by having to repudiate the work of those who preceded
him, would he not?

Secretary RTcH, \,sn0. This could happen. On the other hand, the
only alternative is for me, in a position of no direct responsibility over
the Department of Justice whatsoever, to tell a U.S. attorney through
the chief of the Criminal Division that he ought to slow down or not
do something, and I do not know the evidence. I have not asked for
nor do I have any right to see the transcript of the grand jury pro-
ceedinmrs. I do not even know what the considerations of time pres-
sure may be. So it seems to me there is no help for the situation but
to proceed as rapidly as circumstances permit in the selection, exam-
ination, and if possible, the approval of the special prosecutor.

S( nator EivIN. And that leaves the control of affairs until the
special prosecutor is appointed, in the hands of officials who are being
deprived of the authority to act in this field.

Secretary RICHARDSON. The short answer is yes; that is to say, it
leaves it in the hands of the people who have that responsibility now.
I have no reason to believe that the special prosecutor would displace
an U.S. attorney or his staff. He might or might not do so, but his
own responsibilities would extend bevond the Watergate case in the
District of Columbia. and include, as I have indicated earlier, a number
of other cases also. So he could decide that he wished to continue to
work with the U.S. attorneys and their staffs who ar acting now.

Senator ERI.T. Well, if he should decide to do that. I see no value
in appointing a special prosecutor.

Secretary RICHARDSON. He would assume overall responsibilitv,
authority, for the conduct of cases involving allegations against White
House personnel and personnel acting for the Committee to Re-Elect
the President, a- well as certain other matters that might appropriately
be assigned to him. He would have, under the law, the power to assume
the direction of any case. He would have ultimate responsibility for
determinations as to who should be indicted, charges on which they,
are indicted, grants of immunity, and really, all the significant ques-
tions of jud-oment that arise in any one of these cases.

Senator ERV-N. Well, if he were going to exercise independent judx-
ment. it would require a substantial amount of delay, would it not?
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Secretary RICHARDSON. He would have to decide whether or not to
delay, recognizing that at best, he comes in while the things are in
progress, anyway. A lot of water is over the dam no matter what as of
the day he comes in. So he will, for better or worse, have to deal with
these situations as he finds them.

Senator ERVIN. It 'would seem to me that, if he is going to retain
the present personnel that have had charge of this investigation since
the 18th day of June last year, you might as well not appoint a special
prosecutor. I thought that the reason for a special prosecutor was to
preclude those who have been assigned this task by the administration
from continuing with such responsibilities.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, I do not assume that the U.S. attorney
was assigned the task by the administration. He was the U.S. attorney
who happened to be here.

Senator ERvix. The U.S. attorney and his assistants hold office at the
pleasure of the President.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator ERVIN. The President heads the administration.
Secretary RICHARDSON.. That is true. I simply am not in a position to

prejudge the question of whether a special prosecutor would or would
not see fit to supersede the U.S. attorney of the District of Columbia
or the U.S. attorney in any of the other cases over which he would
have

Senator ERVIN. Who is the head of the Justice Department at this
particular moment?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Attorney General Kleindienst is the head of
the Department. He has disqualified 'himself from acting with respect
to any matter involving people with whom he had prior close personal
and professional associations so that for purposes of all these matters,
the acting head is chief of the Criminal Division, Henry Petersen.

Senator ERVIN. And he is the same man who has had direct charge
of this proceeding from the beginning, is he not?

Secretary RICHARDSON. He has exercised, as I understand it, the role
normal to the chief of the 'Criminal Division from the beginning; that
is, I take it, a kind of supervisory role over the work of the U.S. at-
torney s, a source of ultimate judgment, advice, and decision on the
kinds of tough questions that come to him.

Senator ERiN-. I would characterize it-maybe a distinction with-
out a difference-but I would characterize the head of the Criminal
Division as a directing authority rather than a supervising authority,
from my experience and practice in the Federal courts.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I would certainly 'accept that term. 'In any
event, he has the overall responsibility now and that, of course, will
continue to be the case until the special prosecutor takes office.

The Cn unM3IAN. The Senator from Pennsylvania?
Senator ScoTT. Mr. Chairman, I really waited for Senator Mathias.

I did not want him to miss his opportunity, because sometimes San-
ators wait for hours and can only be here at certain times and then
have to go to a committee. He has had to leave for Appropriations,
so I will take up only the brief time it takes to refer again to what
S,cretary Richardson said yesterday about the special prosecutor.
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You used the phrase that the special prosecutor will have to catch
a moving train. I think that is inevitable in the process, but I think
it also stresses the importance of naming a special prosecutor and
having him appear and appear with the written guidelines and then
indicate whether those guidelines meet with his approval or whether
he wishes a different guideline and whether or not he can satisfy the
committee that his authority is such that he could move through every
step of the proceedings without interference with his function, includ-
ing his final action and recommendations. Would it not take, since we
are thinking in terms of the analogy of the moving train, would it
not take a statutory or statutorial created prosecutor that much longer
to catch this moving train so that he might, after the expiration of 8,
10, 1-2. or 14 weeks, probably catch the last car on that train and have
to move up?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I think that is a very vivid way of putting
it, Senator Scott. He might change the image a little bit. He might
say that he would really have to assemble a new group of cars 'and
find an engine and get it going from the freight yard and out on to
the track, really from scratch.

';cntor SCOTT. And thereafter spend most of his time avoiding
collision with other moving trains.

Secretary RIC-IARDSON. Precisely.
Senator SCOTT. I have no other questions at this time, Mr. Secretary.

I simply want to stress the impracticality of pursuing one further
course where we have a course before us and there is a very general
unlikelihood that this committee will be able to satisfy itself through
the character and personality and training of the special prosecutor,
through his commitment and integrity, and through his assurances
that this committee necessarily will have to have. I have no other
questions.

Secretary RICHARDsON. Thank you, Senator Scott.
The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Secretary, what is the background of Warren

Christopher?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Mr. Christopher is a former Deputy Attor-

ney General of the United States, Mr. Chairman, as you know. He
served during the Johnson administration under Attorney General
Katzenback and Attorney General Clark. He served as the Director
of the Commission appoined by the then Governor of California to
investigate the circumstances leading to the Watts riot. He has been
an active trial lawyer and is presently the head of the litigation depart-
ment of the Los Angeles firm of O'Melvenv and Myers. He is, I
believe, an honor graduate of the Stanford Law School.

The CHA IRMAN. Senator Kennedy?
Senator KENNEDY. Thank you.
To whom is the head of the Criminal Division reporting on his in-

vestigations into the Watergate at the present time?
Secretary RicHARDSON. No one. He is in charge.
Senator "KENN-DY. Well, the regulations point out that "subject to

the general supervision and direction of the Attorney General, the
following prescribed matters are assigned to and shall be conducted,
handled, or supervised by the Assistant Attorney General in charge
of the Criminal Divisiom." hut it says "subject to the general super-
vision and direction of the Attorney General."



Secretary RI(ARDSON. Well, of course, Senator Kennedy, as you
recall from the first discussion I had with Senator Hart, this super-
vision ceases when the Attorney General disqualifies himself or recuses
himself on some personal ground. And since Attorney General Klein-
dienst has done that, he is not exercising the role he normally would.

I explained at that time that if I were confirmed and took office, I
would not feel that I could or should disqualify myself. At any rate,
the result of Attorney General Kleindienst's withdrawal of himself
or insulation of himself from all aspects of the Watergate matter and
related matters is that for this purpose, Henry Petersen is, to all prac-
tical purposes, t1je Acting Attorney General.

Of course, the Deputy, Dean Sneed, has some relationship, I sup-
pose, but to the best of my knowledge and belief, he has not been play-
ing an active role in connection with these matters.

Senator K FN-EDY. You have no doubt that you can divest yourself
of all responsibility for a particular matter where for some reason, you
may wish to disqualify yourself ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Oh, I think that is perfectly possible. I re-
member when I was appointed U.S. attorney in Boston, I found that
among the pending cases was an indictment against a man whom I had
represented at an earlier stage in administrative proceedings before
the SEC, so I filed with the judge to whom this case had been assigned
a letter saying, in effect, that I proposed to insulate myself entirely
from any aspect of that case, that the U.S. attorney try ing it would
not communicate with me about it, and so on. And this is possible in a
matter where there is a real conflict of interest.

Senator KENNEDY. You are aware of the fact that John Mitchell
disqualified himself in matters involving the Warner-Lambert firm,
and as I understand it, the Deputy Attorney General had final au-
thority in that case.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. I was not aware of that specific situa-
tion, but when I say yes, I have no doubt.

Senator KNNEDY. And that Mitchell also bowed out of all the ITT
antitrust cases and Kleindienst handled those.

Secretary RICHARDSON. So I understand.
Senator KENNEDY. Now, what would have happened in those cases

if Kleindienst had been disqualified?
Secretary RICHARDSON. If Kleindienst also had been disqualified?
Senator KEND-Y, . Yes.
Secretary RC.ARDSON. Well, I suppose that in the case of the ITT

matter. final responsibilitv would have rested on the shoulders of the
chief of the Antitrust Division.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, in those cases-Warner-Lambert and ITT
and Watergate--where the Attorney General had disqualified him-
self, would the Attorney General still have what you call the ultimate
responsibility, since those with actual responsibility were his sub-
ordinates or were exercising power as delegated by him?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, he would not. This, of course, is the
reason why at the beginning of these hearings, Senator Hart proT)osed
as a solution that I disqualify myself. I explained then why I do not
propose to do that. But it is the only way, other than by statutory
change, that I could escape ultimate responsibility.

Senator KENNEDY. Now. 'd tIe time of the Teapot Dome, they passed
a joint resolution that said in the last paragraph "And the President



is further authorized and directed to appoint by and with the advice
and consent of the Senate special counsel who shall have charge and
control of the prosecution of such litigation, anything in the statutes
touching the powers of the Attorney General of the Department of
Justice to the contrary notwithstanding."

Is your reluctance due to the existing statutes which prohibit you
from doing it, or would you want us if we could-and I imagine it
could be done rather easily and quickly-to pass similar language
saviua that anything in the statute touching the powers of the Attor-
nev General or the Department of Justice to the contrary notwith-
standing?

Secretary RIdnArDSON. I think that the situation would involve a
great many practical problems in applying this. It would be unclear,
for example, what the impact of that was with respect to the respon-
sibilitieo of the Attorney General in cases of the immunization of
witnesses. It would be unclear what was meant by that with respect
to the assignment and direction of agents of the Federal T3ure,-u of
Tnvestigation or the ability to call upon the personnel of the Denart-
ment in order to expedite the handling of a given matter on an ad hoe
basis. It would be difficult to draw with precision in advance a defini-
tion of the areas over which the special prosecutor should have special
jurisdiction-which cases, for example, arising under the campaign
contribution laws. These. I think, are all reasons why the attempt
to carve out a separate statutory function has been up to now gen-
erally felt not to be a practical course. It is obviously a possible course
and vet, I think, on balance, in the present circumstances, it would
create a great many of the kinds of nroblems that Senator Scott
touchld on a few moments ago in referring to the analogy of the mov-
ing train.

You have here a situation where there are cases united only by one
common thread; namely, some sort of relationship to White House
staiT or Committee to Reeleft the President. They are otherwise q, ite
differpnt and this is true with respect, for example. to the Florida
District Court case on Segretti, the New York Southern District case
on Vesco, possible need to follow up disclosures with respect to elec-
tronic sureillant- anld hurf'lar- in the Ellsherg , cse. and so on.

,enator KENNEDY. Of course, von hve, I think, indioc ted in earlier
resonms's th~t vou felt that the snecial prosecutor would h~e making
the decision with regard to immunization and contacting directly the
FBI itself, to the development, of this strike force that you men-
t~onpd, and also to the kind of latitude that would N, given in areas
directly related to the investigation. I am trying to find out whether
that, "ultimate responsilbilitv" is something that yon feel compelled to
accent because of the statutorv responsibility at the present time, or
whether that is something that you want in addition. or whether we
cannot, 1)v adopting language similar to the lango-uage in that resolu-
tion whic!l I mentioned, still maintain for practical purposes the spe-
cial prosecutor within the Justice Department, but to the extent that
vou felt some inhibitions by statute to assume this, as you define it,
"ultimate responsibility." that you would perhaps be relieved of any
responsibility other than that which perhaps you have outlined, the
possibilit- of perhaps firing the special prosecutor for gi'oss malfea-
sance. and limited to that only.



Secretary RICHARDSON. The existing statutory situation is certainly
a major factor and for re:sons that I just tried to explain, because
simply to adopt language comparable to that which you cited from
the Tei pot Dome precedent leaves unresolved a lot of practical ques-
tions as to its 'application.

But beyond that. I do have the feeling that if 'I am to be Attorney
General, it can only be on the basis that I shall be Attorney General
for all the purposes that are presently set forth in the laws. I should
either be confirmed to the job defined in the law or, as far ,as I am
concerned, not become Attorney General.

Now, thlt does not mean, as I have repeatedly explained-and per-
haps the record is overburdened already with this-that I would not
delegate full authority to deal with these cases. As you know, I would
do that. But I do not propose to become Attorney General without
being responsible ultimately for what the special prosecutor does or
does not do. He would be exercising a delegated function, with full
authority to perform that function, but nevertheless, I would expect
to retain ultimate, accountability for what was done by him.

Senator KENNEDY. That is going back to what I know you have
gone into and I know you have been responsive on-questions about
the ultimate accountability or responsibility. I would like to ask you
this: Would it not, meet that particular definition if, say, the special
prosecutor just notified you after he made decisions in relation to
immunization or prosecutorial investigations or other areas of the
conduct of the investigation? Or do you feel that he has to notify
you before? Does it not meet your criterion of ultimate responsibility
if, after he makes a decision, he just notifies you of such decision?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I have already made clear that he would
be under no obligation to inform me in advance of a decision or to seek
my approval of a decision. I would want to be, as I have said, gen-
erally informed. But I would not want him to operate on the basis of
some ground rule that barred him from consulting me in advance if
he saw fit to. He would have to have, as I have said, the understanding
that I would not interpose my own judgment merely because I did not
agree with him. He would know that. But with that awareness, I
think he ought to feel free to communicate with me before or after
the event as he saw fit.

Senator KFNN DY. Should he feel expected to or obligated to com-
municate with you ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. He would be neither. Aside from keeping me
generally informed of what he was doing in the performance of his
delegated authority, the question of when or whether to consult me or
whether to bring to my attention any particular development would be
his responsibility.

Senator KENNEDY. Could he meet that responsibility by just giving
you periodic reports as to ffeneral prozress, or would vou expect more?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That might be adequate for most purposes.
On that score. it seems to me inappropriate to try to prescribe rigidly
in advance. I think that the important thing is that he enter upon his
role with the clear understanding that he has the full authority to
carry it out and in so doing, to make judgments about how best to
do it. including how best to communicate with me.



Senator KENNEDY. Are we any closer to announcement of a special
prosecutor?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, we are somewhat closer, but I cannot
give a precise estimate.

'Senator KENNEDY. Will we have his name within the next couple
of days?

Secretary RIcHARDSoN. Well, I certainly hope so, but I cannot
guarantee it.

Senator KENNEDY. What about the document itself, the working
draft document of the agreement?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is gradually being, I think, clarified
and improved pending the opportunity for the individual finally
selected to have his input.

Senator KENNEDY. Is it your present intention to release publicly
both the document and the name at the same time?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator KENNEDY. And prior to that, will the individual members

of this committee have a chance to examine the document before you
release it in a general manner?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is correct.
Senator KENNEDY. If I could go into just a couple of other areas,

Mr. Richardson. On the question of the warmaking powers-I under-
stand that you touched on it yesterday in the late afternoon. I have
not had a chance to review your complete response, I have just seen
it very briefly.

Is there any question in your own mind that Congress, through ap-
propriate language in an appropriation bill, can end-the financial sup-
port for the bombing in 'Cambodia?

Secretary RICHARDSON. NO.
Senator KENNEDY. On either the present supplemental appropria-

tion or, I believe it is the State Department appropriaion? I do not
know whether you are familiar in detail with the particular language
of the Church-Case amendment. But do you have any question in your
own mind that that would be the effect of -an acceptance by the House
of Representatives and the Senate of the United States?

Secretar v RICHARDSONT. It is true, Senator Kennedy, that I have not
given it any real detailed study-in fact, I am not sure that I have even
seen the language of the Church-Case amendment itself. I have testified
before the Appropriations Committee, however, a week ago yesterday
that in my opinion, language could certainly 'be drawn that would have
the effect of cutting off all funds for the continuation of air activity
over Cambodia 'or any other form of combat activity in Southeast Asia.

Senator KENNEDY. The Church-Case amendment said no appropria-
tion past or future could be used to finance the involvement of military
forces in or over or from the shores of North Vietnam, South Vietnam,
Laos or Cambodia. unless secifically authorized hereafter by Con-
gress. Would vou think that would do the trick?

Secretarv RICHARDSON. It sounds like it.
Senator KrNNEDY. Well, now-
Secretary RICHARDSON. As a lawyer who is sometimes careful, I sup-

pose I should say that that is my horseback reaction to it.
Senator KENNEDY. Now, th- House adooted some language, I believe

it was last Thursday, and Mr. Ziegler said on that, "We, of course,



observed the vote of the Congress yesterday. We will continue with the
policy which we feel is the right policy, and that is to provide support
to the Government of Cambodia at their request. If at some time in the
future, the funds are not available, the Congress will have to assume
the responsibility in that matter."

That comment certainly would not be an accurate-or would you
consider it to be an accurate statement of the authority of the executive
branch if the Church-Case amendments, as I have read them to you,
were accepted by the House and Senate?

Secretary RICHARDSON. In my opinion, no. Mr. Ziegler was referring
to language that was restricted in its application to funds appropriated
under the supplemental bill itself.

Senator KENNEDY. If language of this description were actually in-
corporated into the law, you have indicated that that would be enough
if the language is what it appears to be, to end the authority for the
continuation of bombing in Cambodia. Would you feel that there was
any responsibility or any obligation to end it immediately, given the
view of the Congress and the Senate, or would you feel that the Presi-
dent could continue the expenditures of funding that might exist in
the appropriations from a previous year? Would you feel that there
was a moral obligation on the part of executive, given the clear state-
ment by the House and Senate that there ought to be an ending, a
termination of the funding then? Would you feel, or would you ad-
vise the President, that he should continue, even with this kind of
admonition, because the language itself only applies perhaps to any
supplemental appropriation?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I would have to give that a good deal more
thought, Senator Kennedy. The question in any event, of course, is
subdivisible into the strictly legal question and the question of comity,
for lack of a better word, between the executive ind legislative
branches of the Government. And I think it would need to be looked at
in both lights.

There would, in any case, be purely practical questions arising out
of a question of whether there were in fact funds that could be obli-
gated from any prior appropriation that would have to be looked at.
Because although there might be, for example, munitions acquired
under a previous year's appropriation bill that could be expended, if
the only fuel oil that existed were fuel oil acquired under the current
bill, then the fact that it is possible to use one type of materiel from
an earlier year would not affect the outcome, since without the fuel
to fly the planes, to carry the bombs, nothing could happen.. Se there
are at least these three aspects of it that would have to be looked at
very thoroughly.

Senator KENNEDY. Well, if the Congress made a clear statement
about the ending of any funding for the war in Cambodia, and if it
became law, would you feel that there was an obligation, or would
you at least advise the President that there was an obligation, to
terminate even the funding which could exist in the pipeline-that
this declaration by Congress and the Senate was sufficiently persuasive
that there ought to be an end? Or would your guidance to him be that
he ought to examine all the different kinds of possibilities to see if he
can find some other kind of funding that exists in the pipeline or other
sources so he can continue the policy?



Secretary IC R IARDSON. Well, as I say, I think we tried to identify
the elements of the situation that I would have to look at in giving
any such advice-legal, those of congressional relations, and the con-
duct of government business on a basis in which both branches are
required to work together and certainly, the purely practical adminis-
trative problem. I do not. think I can or should try to frame in a
hypothetical situation at, this point what my ultimate advice would be.

Senator KENNX EDY. If this amendment for one reason or another
were defeated on the floor of the Senate, your purportedly stated
position, and I quote, is that "We then would be justified in viewing
that vote at least to acquiesce in the policy of bombing of Cambodia."

Secretarv RIclARDSON. I think that is a fair conclusion. I made that
statement originally in trying to get across the point that a vote
g'anting transfer authority, which we were seeking and are seeking,
should not be construed by the administration as affecting authority
to continue bombing one way or another. I made that point because
although the need for the transfer authority arose in large part be-
cause of a higher than anticipated rate of 'activity in Southeast Asia,
the actual use of the transfer authority would not significantly affect
Southeast Asia. So it was for this reason that I said that, I did not
believe that the enactment or granting of the transfer authority could
fairly be used as a basis for resting the claim that the 'Congress had
acquiesced.

But I went on to say that if an amendment were proposed to restrict
the use of funds for the war and that were rejected, then there would
be some basis for using that legislative history as indicative of con-
gression-al acquiescence. And I think that is a fair conclusion.

Senator KNN EDY. But again, just to repeat an earlier question,
there is no doubt in your own mind of the ability or the power of
Congress to terminate the funding for that specific effort in Cam-
bodia on the supplemental, by the language of the Case-Church
amendment, or by any other. You do not question in your own mind
the power of Congress to do it in the Cambodia situation?

Secretary RICHARDSON. That is correct.
Senator KENNEDY. Another matter, Mr. Secretary. As you remem-

ber. Senator Hughes was very much concerned about the way that
General Lavelle's case was handled by the Defense Department, and
,I believe in an exchange with you, he asked that the case be reviewed.
In the course of the hearings on that case in the Committee on Armed
Services on -March 2 and 9. Senator Hughes mentioned that he thought
the Air Force had identified at least five unauthorized missions in
which false reports had been confirmed and that there had been clear
violations of the Uniform Code of Military Justice. Then he went
into considerable specificity on the particular charges that had been
made and the violations of the Code of Militarv Justice. He asked
you to review that case and how it had been handled. Then in the
report, there is a letter from you to Senator Hughes.

I would ask that both Senator Hughes' statement and the Secre-
tarv's response be included in the record. Mr. Chairman.

The CHAIRMAN. Without objection, so ordered.
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[The above referred to statements follow:]
THE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE,

11'ashingion, D.C., March 20, 1973.
Hon. HAROLD E. HuGHES,
U.S. , ctiate, Washi,igton, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR HUGHES: As you requested during the Senate hearings on my
confirmation, I have reviewed the Department's handling of the case of General
Lavelle and the matters associated therewith.

Mv review reveals that the question of disciplinary action under the Uniform
Code -of Military Justice (UCMJ) was considered by appropriate authorities
three separate times.

Initially, when the Air Force Inspector General made his initial report to the
Chief of Staff of the Air Force in March 1:972, General Ryan considered a range
of types of action which might be appropriate. One of the courses considered
was charges under the U('CIJ against General Lavelle. General Ryan recol-
mended rejection of this course, and his recommendation was considered and
approved by both the Secretary of Air Force and the Secretary of Defense.

Subsequently in June 1972. formal charges were preferred against General
Lavelle by other members of the Air Force. These charges were carefully eval-
uated by the Secretary of Air Force against all of the information then available
from the full investigation conducted between early April 1972 and October
1972. Based on this evaluation, the Secretary of Air Force dismissed the charges
on October 24, 1972.

On November 3, 1972, Air Force Sergeant Lonnie Franks filed formal charges
against General Lavelle and 23 other Air Force personnel. For the third time the
matter was reviewed, a supplemental investigation conducted and the charges
re-evaluated. The charges filed by Sergeant Franks were dismissed on November
21, 1972.

My review revealed no indication that there was other than a thorough, objec-
tive handling of the matter on each occasion it was considered. I have concluded
that it would be neither appropriate nor useful to reopen this matter.

With kindest regards,
Sincerely,

ELLIOT RICHARDSON.

STATEMENT BY SENATOR HAROLD E. HUGHES BEFORE THE ARMED SERVICES
COMMITTEE, MARCH 29, 1973

I deeply appreciate the committee's patience in allowing me time to review the
pending nominations and the testimony which has been taken in this case.

The Lavelle case brought to light two grave issues of command and control-
first, the violation of clear standing orders regarding protective reaction strikes;
and second, the attempt to conceal these violations by making false official state-
ments and reports.

While I am still troubled at the breakdown in command and control which per-
mitted pilots to violate the "crystal clear" rules of engagement, I think that in
considering men for promotion we have to pay special attention to the issue of
false reports-a clear violation of Article 107 of the Uniform Code of Military
Justice.

Last week, Mr. Buzhardt told the committee that men who made false reports
cannot now be punished because of the difficulty in proving an "intent to deceive."
Nevertheless, some men did sign false reports, while at the same time approving
true reports for back-channel communication.

I can appreciate the technical legal problems which make prosecution difficult,
but I, for one, could not rest easy if I thought that one of these men who know-
ingly made a false report might one day become Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of
Staff.

Consequently, I want to examine and make an individual judgment on the pro-
motion of any man who did knowingly make a false report or statement, regard-
less of whether he could be prosecuted. To decide not to punish a man for his
actions is one thing, but it is quite another thing to reward him with higher rank
and our confidence.

During the past week, my staff and I, with the assistance of the committee staff,
have gone over in some detail many of the documents that were made available to
the committee, and this is what we found.
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1. The Air Force has identified at least five unauthorized missions in which
false reports have been confirmed.

2. Sergeant Lonnie Franks told this committee that falsification extended to
the types of targets, the coordinates, the time, and the bomb damage assessment.
The committee has several of the admittedly falsified reports in its files-and I
can show you where the reports contain the accurate BDA of, say, trucks, while
triple-A is listed in parentheses for inclusion in the subsequent reports.

3. My staff compared the names of the available reports with those on the
identified list of 160 Air Force men and concluded that probably none of them
signed a false report. Ten of them might have been pilots or back-seaters on
unauthorized missions, but we had only last names on the reports and needed
further information on this point.

In any event, apparently none of these men whose names are before us actually
signed or initialed one of the false reports.

It was my opinion, however, that this tentative conclusion required confirma-
tion by the Defense Department since only the Department has access to all of
the relevant information.

Accordingly, I wrote to the Secretary of Defense, asking him to certify that
none of these men did knowingly sign or initial a false report or make a false
official statement.

In order to examine more closely and accurately the involvement of any future
nominees, I also asked him to provide the Committee with the names of all those
who participated in the five missions identified as ones in which false reports
were definitely made.

In addition, I asked him to identify present and future nominees who served
in the 432nd Tactical Reconnaissance Wing during the period in question. This
is the only unit known to have falsified operational reports.

This morning. I received a letter from Mr. Buzhardt answering in detail my
letter of yesterday. I am grateful for the prompt reply.

Since Mr. Buzhardt says that the Defense Department "has no information
that any of the nominees signed or initialled a false official report or made a false
official statement," I support prompt committee and Senate approval of these
nominations, provided there are no other objections which have come to the
committee's attention.

I am pleased to note that Mr. Buzhardt will continue to furnish the committee
with information on this matter, which presumably means certification of future
nominees in the same manner he has given us a certification with respect to those
pending before us. If this is done, we shall be in a much better position to evaluate
the merits of men whom we are asked to confirm.

I have bad time only to glance over the reports regarding what organizational
and procedural changes have been made by DOD to prevent a recurrence of
similar incidents in the future. My tentative judgment is that additional steps
are imperative to insure adequate command and control and discipline. I hope
to consult with you further about this at some other time.

U.S. SENATE,
COMMITTEE ON ARMED SERVICES,

Washington, D.C., March 28, 1973.
Hon. ELLIOT L. RICHARDSON,
Secretari of Defcnse, Department of Defense,
The Peptagon, Washingtoe. D.C.

DEAR AIR. SECRETARY: I have your letter of March 20, 1973. in which you state
that you have concluded that it would be neither appropriate nor useful to reopen
the Defense Department's investization into unauthorized air strikes in Southeast
Asia and falsification of reports and documents to conceal them.

The authority to bring charges against members of the military for violation
of the Uniform Code of Military Justice lies with the Department of Defense.
The Senate. on the other hand, has a duty under the Constitution to examine the
qualifications of military officers for promotion to higher rank and to advise and
consent to each promotion. To assist me, the Armed Services Committee, and the
Senate in carrying out this responsibility. I request your cooperation in providing
us with certain information, in addition to the assistance you are already pro-
viding in this regard.



You have identified for the Committee, at my request, 185 officers nominated
for promotion who participated in combat air operations of the Air Force and
Navy in Southeast Asia during the period of acknowledged unauthorized air
strikes, from November 1, 1971, to April 1, 1972. As to these nominees, I would
appreciate having the following:

1. A list of those who served with the 432nd Tactical Reconnaissance
Wing at Udorn Royal Thai Air Force Base, Thailand; and

2. Your certification as to which, if any, of the 185 officers knowingly
signed or initialed a false offliml report or made false official statements in
connection with the unauthorized air strikes.

Testimony by Defense Department witnesses divulged that at least five un-
authorized air strikes have been identified by your investigation. General Ryan
is quoted in the hearing record of the House Armed Services Investigating Sub-
committee on June 12, 1972, as follows:

"I know of four in which the results were not as reported on the Op Rep-3s
and Op Rep-4s that were submitted ... One on February 25, 1972, four F-As,
another on February 25, 1972, eight F-4s. Another on February 25, 1972, five
F-4s ... One on March 4, 1972, nine F-4s."

In a written report submitted to the Senate Armed Services Committee by
General Ryan, another instance of falsification was reported as follows:

"On the 23 January 1972 mission to Dong Hoi Airfield, the evidence appears
to establish rather conclusively that no enemy reaction was observed, and that
the initial voice (Pinnacle) report so indicated. The Op. Rep. 3, as well as the Op.
Rep. 4 and 5, however, reported enemy AAA fire and SAM radar activation."

Since your investigation has confirmed false reporting in these instances, I
request that you identify for the Committee the members of the Air Force who
participated in these missions and, in addition, those whose names or initials
appear on the false official reports which you have confirmed.

To further confirm the sufficiency of the Department's Investigation, I would
appreciate knowing how many depositions and written statements were taken
from witnesses and the dates on which they were signed by the witnesses. In
addition, I request that you provide the Committee with copies of such statements,
to the extent that doing so would not violate the confidentiality of the Inspector
General's investigation or impair his ability to carry out the duties and responsi-
bilities of his office.

I want to emphasize that receipt of this information will not conclude my
efforts to insure that the Senate has all possible information about officers nomi-
nated for promotion before consenting thereto.

Therefore, I request that you arrange to continue furnishing the Committee
the reports from the Air Force and Navy as to which, if any, officers on any pro-
motion list participated in combat air operations in Southeast Asia during the
period of November 1, 1971, to April 1, 1972. In addition, I request that, in con-
nection with these reports, you certify as to which, if any, of the officers so listed
knowingly signed or initialled a false official report or made false official state-
ments in connection with unauthorized air strikes. Further, I would appreciate
your identifying which, if any, of such officers served with the 432nd Tactical
Reconnaissance Wing during the period in question.

I will be grateful for your continued assistance in this regard.
Sincerely,

HAROLD E. HUGHES.

GENERAL COUNSEL OF THE DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE,
Washington, D.C., March 28, 1973.

Hon. HAROLD E. HUGHES,
U.S4. Senate,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR HUGHES: Secretary Richardson has asked me to respond to
your letter of Mlarch 28, 1973.

Among the nominees for promotion pending before the Senate Armed Services
Committee who were previously designated as having been assigned to a position
involving air operation in Southeast Asia during the period November 1, 1971,
to April 1, 1972, those assigned to the 432nd Tactical Fighter Wing were the
following :
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ON LIST FOR PROMOTION TO TEMPORARY RANK OF COLONEL

[Names on file with Committee.]

ON LIST FOR PROMOTION TO PERMANENT RANK OF 1ST LT.

[Names on file with Committee.]
We have no information that auy of the nominees signed or initialed a false

official report or made a false official statement in connection with the unauthor-
ized air missions in question.

A brief review of the procedures may be useful to you in understanding the
reporting system, and -the data which are available to us. Two types of formated
operational reports are involved-Operation Reports No. 3 (01). Rep. 3's) and
Operational Reports No. 4 (Op. Rep. 4's). The Op. Rep. 3's, sometime referred
to as "Pinnacles" were oral reports radioed from the pilot of the lead aircraft of a
flight on exiting the target area to the 7th Air Force command center. This was a
brief, code(!, initial report which indicated whether ordnance was expended on
the mission, whether there was enemy reaction, and whether all aircraft in the
flight were returning. Upon recovery of the flight, one, two or three of the partici-
pating crew members (depending on the number of aircraft in the flight) reported
to the intelligence center of the organization located on the base at which the
mission recovered. The crew member, or members, were interrogated by either
an officer or enlisted intelligence specialist. The answers were noted on a mission
sheet in pen or pencil by the interrogator. Upon completion of the debriefing,
the crew member debriefed usually initialed the mission sheet. The intelligence
office then prepared a formated report from which showed, largely by symbol
and abbreviation, the originating unit, addresses and pertinent data aibout the
misin. This report, an Op. Rep. 4, was then transmitted electrically to a large
number of addressees. At 7th Air Force, the data from the Pp. Rep. 4 was com-
puter formated and fed into a computer. The Op. Rep. 4 was not signed or
initialed by any one. The Op. Rep. 3's were "perishable." that is. usually retained
for only a short time by recipients, as the Op. Rep. 4s provided more complete
data. The mission sheets prepared by the debriefers were used only as work~sheets,
and are also normally retained for only brief periods. The "permanent" records
are the data base extracted from the Op. Rep. 4's and stored in a computer.

When the investigation was made of allegations of unauthorized -missions,
some mission debriefing sheets covering some of the missions in question were
extant, but most had been destroyed in the normal course. Copies of -the mission
debriefing sheets available were provided the Committee on Armed Services
during the hearings last year. As an examination of these mission debriefing
sheets show, the full and complete data on these missions were on the mission
debriefing sheets, and in fact, -the supplementary reports (SPEOATS) submitted
to the Commander, 7th Air Force, during this period were obviously also pre-
pared from the same mission debriefing sheets.

With respect to the missions cited by General Ryan which you quote in your
letter, mission debriefing sheets were available. As noted above, these sheets
contain the full and complete information about the missions involved insofar
as we have been able to ascertain. Also, these mission debriefing sheets are the
only remaining documentary evidence extant of the personnel who participated
in the particular missions. These sheets indicate that the personnel participating
in the missions cited 'by General Ryan were the following: (None of these persons
are on a pending promotion list.)

NAME, MISSION DATE, AND NUMBER OF AIRCRAFT

[Names on file with Committee.]
The mission debriefing sheets for the missions cited by General Ryan were

initialed by the following: (None of these persons are on a pending promotion
list.)

[Names on file with Committee.]
With respect to the 23 January 1972 mission to Dong Hol Airfield, no mission

debriefing sheet was available. We were to establish from the statements of
General Lavelle and from interrogation of other personnel, particularly General
Slay, what happened in connection with the "Pinnacle" report (General Lavelle's
testimony on this point appears at page 7 of your Committees hearings and that



of General Slay appears at page 290-'-91.) General [avelle had ordered a strike
on Dong Hoi Airfield. As I pointed out in my testimony before the Committee
list week, the liules of Engagement were issued over the signature and by an-
thrity of the Commander, 7th Air Force. and, insofar as operating personnel
were aware, the Commander, 7th Air Force, could have had authority to suspend
the rules for spev.ially authorized strikes, as had been the case earlier for opera-
tions PRIZE BULL (Sept., 1971) and PROUD DEEP (Dec. 26-30, 1971). Upon
exiting the target at Doug Hoi, the leader of the flight made his "Pinnacle" report
to 7th Air Force Headquarters Command Post, 'where General Lavelle was
sitting and listening. The report indicated that the flight had expended its ord-

ance and that there had been no enemy reaction. General Lavelle testified that
he then directed that the report be "corrected" to indicate an enemy reaction.
Ih, also( dire'ted that any time a flight flew over targets in North Vietnam, there
was an enemy reaction and that all reports filed would so indicate. General
Lavelle's orders were communicated to the Commander of the 432nd Tactical
Reconnaissance Wing. As is clearly indicated in 'the testimony, the report of the
January 23, 1972. mission to Dong Hoi was aecurately and correctly reported by
the mission leader and was ordered changed by General Lavelle when 'he received
it at 7th Air Force.

The investigation conducted by the Air Force Inspector General and the in-
ve4i)'zation conducted jointly by the offices of the Secretary of Defense, Secretary
of A!r Force and the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff were factual inquiries,
l)t criminal investigations. Accordingly, depositions or signed statements were
not normally taken from the many personnel interrogated. In the initial stages of
hi; investigation, the Air Force Inspector General obtained signed statements
frolm three persons: (olonel Gabriel, Lt. Colonel Glendenning and Captain
\lurray. zill on Mairch 14. 1)72. As you know, both Colonel Gabriel and ('aptain
Murray t,-tilied before tie Senate Armed Services Committee. Lt. Colonel Glen-
denning was interviewed here in Washington by the Committee staff. As you
recognize in your letter, and as was previously determined by the Committee
(luring the course of its hearings, release of these statements would operate to the
prejudice of the Inspector General's system. Had the facts elicited 'by these in-
v(sftigations provided evidence that offenses under the Uniform (ode of Military
Justice should 1be pursued, criminal investigators would have been assigned to
the case. As we have previously indicated, however, such was not the case, and no
criminal investigation techniques were employed. Subordinates to the Commander,
7th Air Force, bad no basis upon which to question either the legality of the orders
issued by General Lavelle for missions or the authority of General Lavelle from
his superiors to isshe such orders. General Lavelle's orders did not violate the
laws of war. such as those contained in the Geneva and Hague Conventions.
Nor is there evidence of an intent to deceive by the crews who were debriefed
folloving the missions in question, as evidenced by the fact that they provided
accurate information on thle missions in which they participated.

As von know, the testimony by the Senate Armed Services Committee, con-
firmed by the Department's investigations, indicates that although as many as
2S escorted reconnaissance strikes were flown under directions which were not in
accord with the operating authorities given the Commander, 7th Air Force, there
iq no evidence that all. or even a majority of them were actually flown in violation
of those operating authorities, since an enemy reaction was experienced on many
of them. There is no way to determine exactly on how many or on which specific
missions there was in fact no enemy fire.

The Department will continue to furnish to the Committee any information
requested in connection with this matter to the extent it is available to the
Department.

We sincerely hoiw that the information furnished herein and the large volume
previously provided, together with the extensive testimony taken by the Com-
mittee will make it possible for the Committee expeditiously to act favorably on
the nominations pending before the Committee.

Sincerely,
J. FRED BuzHARDT.

SeMtor KENNEDY. You have indicated that "I have concluded that
it would be neither appropriate nor useful to open up this matter."
I was wondering how you reached that decision. Your letter in re-
sponse to Mr. Hughes is rather a brief one.
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Secretary RI('T-IARDSON. In order to reply to ena(tor Hughes, the
course I followed was generally this: First, I as-ked for :t summar y
of the procedures that had been followed: that is, the successive stages
that the case had been through. I also asked for a summary of what
the evidence showed, what had happened, what he was charged with
or alleged to have done wrong.

I concluded on the basis of the first of these steps that, roughly
speaking, what had happened was that successive authorities had
reviewed the allegations or charges against him and had concluded
that they would be unlikely to stand up in terms of the proof of viola-
tion of any criminal provision of the Military Criminal Code. This
was, in effect, like reviewing the work of a grand jury that had refused
to indict and it seemed to me in the circumstances that for a new Secre-
tarv of Defense, in the face of these successive reviews of the evidence,
to undertake to develop a purely independent judgment on this evi-
den ce would not, as'I said, be appropriate.

It, was a matter that, so far as I could see, had been correctlv
handled in the procedural sense. All aspects of it had been fully con-
sidered, and there was no basis on the facts whereby it was possible
t,) say that the people who had looked at it before were so far off
base that I would be justified in reopening it.

Senator KEN-NEDY. But there had been -the violation of clear stand-
ing orders regarding the protective reaction strikes, as I understand
it. There were two charges and that was one. The second was attempts
to conceal these violations by making false official statements to the
courts. Those were the. two.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Those were the charges and those were the
charges that, were. examined, but it is very easy to state a charge
simply, but the evidence to sustain it by no means is so simple. They
were unable to establish, for example, whether a plane picked up on
the radar screen of the North Vietnamese forces automatically was
in a situation where protective reaction was justified. This involves
the ranges of the radar screen and whether or not you are talking
about the perimeter acquisition radars or whether you are talking
about the localized radars that lock on to the plane for purposes of
directing fire from ground batteries against it. The contention of
General Lavelle was that protective reaction was justified whenever
the wider range radar screen picked up the plane. He essentially based
his defense on this interpretation of the ground rules.

Well, now, I do not think many people agreed with his interpreta-
tion, but the issue was whether or not he was subject to criminal
prosecution.

That is the kind of thing-that is just a glimpse of the kind of
issue-that was examined here. It seemed to me that after three or
four or two, whatever it was-I do not now remember exactly, but
there were exhaustive examinations of the issue by the people respon-
sible for determining whether or not criminal proceedings should go
forward-that for me, at that late date, to start it all over again was
not justified.

Senator KENNEDY. You say that you applied a presumption of
regularity?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, I did not. I said that the first question
was whether or not there had been regularity in the manner in which



the case was handled and I could find no indication to the contrary.
I did not say that there was a presumption of legularity, but I looked
to d(etelmine whether or not thwre was aiy apparent irregularity and
could not find any.

Senator Kr x 'rv. You will remember that, the sergeant, Lonnie
Francis, I believe, told the committee that falsification extended to
the types of targets, coordinates, and bomb damage assessment and
other testimony as well. But you were convinced that there was not
sufficient evidence to move ahead on any other basis against General
Lavelle other than his retirement ?

Secretary RtcI'.\]msoN. Yes. I would have to check the chronology
of this-I do not have it vividly in mind-but at any rate, I think it
was after the two reviews of the evidence, one of thein accumulated
by the charges filed by the sergeant himself. The Office of the Secre-
tary of Defense undertook its own very intensive fact-gathering effort
and personnel were dispatched to Vietnam who compiled detailed
summaries of all the records involving each of these flights, just the
manner in which they were reported and so on. There is no question
that there were departures from normal practice in the manner of
reporting.

As I understand it, General Lavelle's counsel had a lot of reasons
for this. I did not feel that, in the circumstances, it was my role to try
to make up my own mind whether the reasons were good or not.

Senator KENNEDY. Are you, as you assume this ultimate responsi-
bility on the Wateroate affair, starting off with any kind of presump-
tion of regularity on Watergate? Would you have applied that pre-
sumption last summer? Would you say that if there had ever been
such a presumption, it has been rebutted by the recent revelations?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I was among the many people who did not
take it very seriously at first. It looked to me, as I remarked publicly
at the time, like a bush league operation.

And I think I thought of it very much in terms that many people
did as the Watergate caper. My own sense of the seriousness of that
situation has certainly deepened in the meanwhile, as disclosures have
come about and as it has been identified as a situation belonging in a
larger setting. And this state, it has, of course, reached a point where
serious issues of confidence in political and governmental processes
have 'been raised. It is therefore, on that basis now that the matter
must be pursued and it would be on that basis that I would exercise
that kind of ultimate role that we have been talking about.

I would not, of course, as you know, be directing activity in the
prosecutorial sense. I would, however, as my approach to the selection
of the special prosecutor I hope indicates, charge that person with the
undertaking of a very far-reaching public responsibility.

Senator KENNEDY. Is the person that you intend to select examining
the guidelines now, at the present time?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. At least one of them is.
iSenator 'KENNEDY. Would that be the one that is on the top of your

list?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes. My assumption has been that I would

approach these people in turn.
Senator KENNEDY. Will you let us know if he turns it down because

he does not feel that the guidelines give him sufficient flexibility?



Secretary RicHJ:av(,,. Y. I would do that. Tlat has not been a
problem, to my knowledge. And of course, each of the individuals I
approached in the first instance, each of these four people, were in
general aware of the overall position that has emerged from these
hearings. None of them raised any question on that score, nor did any
of the individuals who for various personal reasons asked not to bIe
considered at all. So I am not aware of this as an obstacle at the present
time.

'Senator KENN., -EDY. As we go through the consideration of the guide-
lines with the prospective special prosecutor, if there are several
changes that seem to be desirable, at least from his view)oit, would
you have any hesitancy in makino" adjustniints or changes that lie
thought would be useful or helpful to him in fulfilling, those respon-
sibilities ?

Secretary RICHARDSON. I lo.t the last part of the question.
Senator KE--NNEDY. Well, if lie thought that such changes would be

helpful to him in fulfilling his grant of power or his responsilbilitv.
Secretai'r RICHARDSON. The individual I already approached made

what I thought were good suggestions. I think they will have been
useful in the improvement of the document whether or not he turns
out to accept the appointment. I think they would be regarded as good
changes by any other person, including this committee.

Whatevocc helps to clarify and make more specific the general under-
standing that has emerged from these hearings would be not only
acceptable but welcome, from my point of view. I think it should be
clear, however, that the documnent will track the general framework
that we Iiave been discussing. It has gone through successive stages,
or at least editorial revisions, sometimes taking directly into account
discussions with members of this committee.

Senator KYNNEDY. Well, I suppose that there may be some useful
suggestions by the members of this committee just as there have been
useful and constractive suggestions by the mersons that you have
talked to about the prospective nominee. Do I understand your view
that if this helps to clarify the responisibility as far as this committee's
understanding, tha t vei would not have any hesitancy in making those
kinds of adjnstmients or changes?

Secretary RicTARD scN. No: I prefer, as I said yesterday, to wait
before making the paper publicly available until 'after I have been
able to announce the selection of the special prosecutor. At that point.
it may turn out that individual members of the committee will have
useful suggestions. It may be that the hearing that is held for the
special prosecutor and the discussion between members of -the com-
mittee, and that individual will develop ideas that could improve it
further. Anid as I said, meanwhile, any member of the committee who
particularly wants to see the paper before then can have it. I would
rather not extend a general invitation because of the problems that
are always inherent in trying to draft things on the basis of involv-
ing participation by a large group, particularly before it is in a form
that I feel )ersonalv satisfied with and that I know the special prose-
cutor is satisfied with.

Senator KENNEDY. Have' you represented to the special prosecutor
that there has been a meeting of the minds, on this particular issue of
responsibility, between the Judiciary Committee and yourself?



Se cretarv RICHARDSON. I haven't-no, I haven't felt that I was in
al position'to draw that conclusion. 1 have said that the paper has
been clarified mnd made more specific, and in some respects, more in-
elusive as a consequence of discussions with the committee. But I
haveii't tried to reach any general verdict as to the committee's views-

Seniator iENXEDY. Just one other area. Mr. Richardson, are you.
aware of the 1)li'ht of the Fort Worth Five. the citizens that are now
spending time-I think they are into approximately the 9th month-
in jail in Texas on the questions of their alleged involvement in some
kind of illegal activity supposedly in New York City? I have not
had a chance to inquire at meetings with yon, when we did have a
chance to talk, about some of the Indian legal questions, some of your
views on wiretapping, and also about the Fort Worth Five. But I will
write you a note. I have had the opportimitv to do so with Mr. Peter-
sen and others, but I think it is really quite clear that this certainly
would apicar ai.s one of the violations of the whole grand jury process.
I would like to have your personal attention on that particular ques-
tion. But I will elicit your views on it at another time.

Secretary ThRICITADSON. I would be glad to, but I do not know
enough about it to give any worthwhile comment at this point.

Senator KrENXEDY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator Gur YFY. Mr. Chairman, may I ask a question?
The CHAIm .IAN. Certainly.
Senator GurNEY. Mr. Secretary, I wonder if we can go back over

this Lavelle question a little bit. I do not quite understand it. Did this
all begin when the Sergeant accused the General of unauthorized
bombing?

Secretary Rwli.\unsox. I honestly do not remember, Senator Gurney,
which came first. There was an official Air Force examination of the
question of whether he should be tried on any criminal charge and
then the Sergeant filed charges, as he was within his right to do, under
the Uniform Code of Military Justice. So that involved a second re-
view of the charges and of the evidence alleged to sustain those charges.
But I do not remember for sure which came first. I think the Air Force
proceeding was first and then charges. In any event, the matter was
reviewed twice, I think.

Senator GURNEY. When did this occur, the approximate time?
Secretary RTC'IARDSON. Well, I guess it was in 1971 or 1972.
Senator GuiP,-ry. Can you tell the committee generally the proce-

dures involved and what witnesses were called--I mean numbers?
What I am interested in is the scope of the inquiry, the whole inquiry.

Secretary RIciIARDSON. I do not have any idea of the number of
witnesses. It was certainly a very thorough inquiry. Then when con-
aressional committees became interested in whether or not justice had
been carried out, a new and extremely exhaustive review or compila-
tion of all the facts was undertaken. All I saw. really, was a summary
which detailed sortie bv sortie exactly what happened, in all sorties
flown under General Lavelle's comm'land-what the munition was,
the report of the aircraft commanders. and a lot of other details for
each sortie flown, all with an effort to determine whether or not he was
observing the rules of engagement. This is really all I can tell you
clearlv at this point.



I might add that congressional committees, both the Senate A rnwd
Services Committee and the House Armed Services Committee, did
go into all this at great length, as I think you know, and I think in
general, although there were some differences between the branches
on this, at least there is now before each Committee a very full record.

Senator GURNEY. That actually was one of the questions I had in-
tended to ask you. Mv recollection is that both the Senate and the
House Committees looked into this not only to find out what hap-
pened, but also to determine whether the Air Force and the Defense
Department had made a proper judgment and disposition of the ca,,.
Is not that your recollection, too?

Secretary RicHARDSOx. Yes.
Senator GrzR1NEY. And there was no recommendation-well, let me

ask you. Did either committee of the House or Senate, Armed Services
Committee, make any recommendation to the Air Force or the Defense
Department or any criticism of the course of action that they did
pursue ,and the decision that they made?

Secretary RICHARDSON. No, not to my knowledge.
I think my recollection is that the I-Iouse committees concluded that

the matter had been properly handled. My impression is that there was
a less clear-cut affirmative reaction on the part of the Senate, but f am
sure there was no finding or conclusion that the matter had been im-
properly handled and clearly no impression of the judgment that the
Air Force should proceed further.

Senator Gu-Nxliv. A nd as I understand your answers to the questions
posed by Senator Kennedy, in view of your review of the file and of
your informing yourself of the exhaustive study by the Air Force
and the Defense Department, as well as the two congressional com-
mittees of the Senate and House, it did not occur to you that it was
proper to reoinen this whole thing all over again. Is that true?

Secretary RIci.kDSOX. That is exactly right, yes, sir.
Senator G RXEY. Thank you.
That is all. Mr. Chairman.
The CHAIRMAN. Senator Tune 0.
Senator TU\ xix. Thank von, Mrl Chairman.
The CI AIAmI Nx. We are going to recess at 12 o'clock until 2.
Senator Tux-\EY. Mr. Attorney 'General, did President Nixon. in

yomr conversation with him when he asked you to be Attorney 'General,
ask you to retain ultimate responsibility for the investigation ?

Secretary RICHTARDSON. No, he did not. The kind of discussion we
have had to this point during this hearing on relative responsibilities
and so on, has been the result of, I think, a good deal more examination
,of the implications of my doing this job than either the President or
I went into at that point.

Senator TuNiy. Did you suggest to him then or at any subsequent
time that You would in fact retain the ultimate responsibility as a
basic criterion for ervice as AttorneY General?

'Secretary Riciixprsox. No. The matter came up in the Cabinet meet-
in of last week, after these hearings were underway, but I had no
discussion before that. He did, at the very first meetinf, f had with him,
the only meeting I have had alone with him or at which nv beeomini
Attorney General was the princiDal subiect of discussion, he did make
clear that he expected me to deterimne whether or not, in my Ieft
Judgment. a special prosecutor should be appointed.



Senator T1,NNEY. Butr when you discussed with him the question of
whether or not a special prosecutor should be appointecl, was it sub-
sumied that, you would retain ultimate responsibility.

Secretary RiciLAPnsnN-. Well, I think while it wasn't expressed, I
ertainly understood that he felt that by appointing me as Attorney
(General, there would be some contribution to public confidence in the
integrity of whatever investigations or prosecutions were undertaken
by the 1)epartnient, merely because he thought that I would be re-
garded as a person of integrity. So it was certainly implicit in our
conversation that the question of whether or not to appoint a special
prosecutor was to be looked at in terms of the -additional contribu-
tion to public confidence that that could bring about. Had he sug-
&ested to me that he would like to have me succeed an Attorney Gen-
eral who had resigned because of prior associations w ,th individuals
implicated in these charges and substitute myself for him under the
same limitations on his role, I would have said in that case that it
would seem to me pointless to appoint me. No such suggestion was
inade.

Senator TtxxvEY. So in other words, it is your feeling now that if
you were to give ultimate responsibility to the special prosecutor for
the purposes of investigating matters related to Watergate and pros-
ecuting of individuals who are considered to be sufficiently suspect,
that, in some way, you would be breaking faith with the President
insofar as your understanding of what your responsibilities were to
be as Attorney General?

S(eretary RiciT.I.msoN. I would not put it quite that way, Senator
Tunney. I would feel that whatever expectation he had that I would
contribute something to public confidence in this process would have
been disappointed. This would be true both as to him and as to
myself. But I would not and I do not think he would look 'at it as
breaking faith. It. would mean simply the failure of an objective in
the appointment. There would remain the legal problem, of course.
Let me say, lest the record be unclear, the question of ultimate re-
sponsibility rests in the first instance -on the fact that it would require
a change of law for the Attorney General to be divested of it.

The CH\IRMAN. We will recess until 2 o'clock.
[Whereupon at 12 noon. the committee was recessed until 2 p.m.

of the same day.]
AFTERNOON SESSION

The CIIAir:irxN. The committee will come to order.
Senator Mathias.
S'enator MATIHas. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. S(ecretary, in the several days of these hearings, there has been

a considerable amount of conversation about the guidelines under
which the special prosecutor would. operate. As I .have reviewed the
transcript of the record, it would appear to me that you have described
yourself as being in substantial agreement with most of the Stevenson
formula. But I think you have said that there were some minor excep-
tions in which you did not agree to the Stevenson formula. I wonder
if yon could be specific as to what those exceptions may be.
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Secretary RICHARDSON. I would be glad to, Senator Mathias. I would
have to amend that because of the language of your question.

The CHAiMNIAx. Just a moment. There is a vote. It is the Itathawaiy
amendment. You can answer it when we get back.

[Recess.]
The CHAIRAJEAN. Let's have order.
Senator Mathias?
Senator MATHIAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Secretary, when the bell rang, I had raised the question of your

agreeniiit with principles set forth in the Stevenson formula in Senate
Resolution 109 and had raised with you the question as to whether Vou
had any exceptions to that formula?

Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes, Senator -Mathias. I will be glad to
respond to that.

I have only one significant problem with the terms of the resolution
and that is with respect to the use of the word "final" as applied to
authority in the first operative clause. This, of course, brings into
question the very issues that have been the subject of prolonged dis-
cussion before this committee. I have really nothing new to say on that.

The problem of the use of the word -'final" is that it would seem to
me to require a new statute conferring such authority. This would not
be a simple statute. It would require straightening out authorities with
regard not only to the direct responsibility of the special prosecutor
for these investigations, it would require also finding what the investi-
gations are. It would require dealing with the resources available to
him in terms of both the money and people; it would require dealing
also with relations between the special prosecutor and the U.S. at-
torneys. It might well require dealing with particular issues like the
power to grant immunity. All of this, in turn, would lead to intolerable
delay independent of the question of who ultimately is Attorney
General.

And finally, it would, I think, raise a significant question with re-
spect to the issue of to whom the special prosecutor would be ultimately
responsible. In the case of the Teapot Dome matter, the legislation
adopted by the Congress provided for the special prosecutors to be
responsible to the President and under the Constitution, if the special
prosecutor were not responsible to the Attorney General in some ulti-
mate way or to the Deputy Attorney General, then he could, I believe,
be responsible only to the President constitutionally, since Executive
power is vested in the President, and since it has been ruled by the
Supreme Court that the conduct of investigations and prosecutions
as defined by the law are executive branch functions. These are all
reasons why, in my view, the word "full" should be substituted for the
word "final", in order to make clear that full authority had been dele-
gated to the special prosecutor, subject, however, only to the role vested
by statute in the Attoriey General. as I have previously tried to
explain.

There are some administrative respects in which I think the ]an-
guage could be clearer. but these are not of major importance.

Senator MATTI\K. Well, then, what you re really saving is that
under our constitutional system, it is not po ,sible just to launch this



special prosecutor into space and have him orbiting around com-
pletely on his own, but that if he is to be responsible to someone, it
will be either to the President or to the Attorney General and Congress
then must make up its mind as to which it thinks is preferable.

Secretary Ricii.\ia)sox. Yes, Senator MAathias, I think that states
the matter very succinctly and accurately.

Seiaor MATIIAS. And in no other major respect do you differ from
the Stevenson formula'?

Secretary RICHRDSOY. That is correct.
Senator MATHIAs. Now. turning to some of the other departmental

business, it seems to me extremely important, not only in its long-term
aslpects but in the light of developments of recent months. I am
wondering if you could describe for the committee your feeling about
the proper relationship between the Department of Justice and the
Federal Bureau of Investigation and particularly your feeling about
steps that can be taken to insure on the one hand the independence
of the FBI and on the other hand, its accountability.

Secretary RicHAR DSON. Certainly those two words, Senator Mathias,
..independence" and "accountability" are important in trying to define
the role of the FBI and its relationship to the Attorney General.
The FBI is, of course, in the Department of Justice and the statute
would seem to give the Attorney General again an ultimate responsi-
bility over the role of the FBI. He presumably has a relationship to
the FBI and to its Director comparable to the normal relationship
between a department head and the head of an agency within that
department. In the case, however, of -the FBI, there is a need for
public confidence in the independence of the investigative process.
There should be confidence that it is conducted without any flavor
of partisan bias, that it should be not only professionally competent
bmut, fair. It should be scrupulously conscientious where the rights of
individuals are concerned. And all of these are considerations that
make it important that the Director be and feel -and be perceived as
an individual of courage as well as personal integrity. He must be a
standup guy and he must inculcate within the FBI as an investigative
service a sense of pride in fulfilling these professional standards.

The Attorney General, I think, can help by giving the Director
of the FBI the feeling that lie is so regarded by backing him up in
situations where he perhaps, under public criticism, is 'adhering to
what lie considers to be standards that ought to govern the institution.

The Attorney General can help in terms of strengthening -the con-
ditions of employment internally within the FBI that can help to
enl nce morale.

Where specific investigations are concerned, there has to be full
mutual understanding and cooperation between the Director of the
FBI, the Attorney General, the heads of the various divisions of the
Department of Justice, and the U.S. attorneys. As you know, of course.
a great deal of investigation is conducted in the field in aid of matters
being handled directly by U.S. attorneys, with very little immediate
involvement, if any, by the Department in Washington. The FBI
is the investigative ann of the whole Department, including U.S. at-
tornevs. So unless there is close cooperation and mutual confidence,
this simply cannot work effectively.
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Senator -MATHI.\S. Well, if the relationship existed as you describe
it, I am not sure that the hypothetical case that I outlined wouhl occur.
But if there were a situation in which the Director of the FBI per-
ceived a problem, a serious problem, and he reported it to the Attorney
General, who did not agree with him either as to the facts or as to the
magnitude of the problem, but the Director was so convinced that he
was right that he thought the President should be apprised of it, would
you feel that the Director should have an opportunity to communicate
his concern to the President?

Secretary RICHARDSON. In the ordinary course. certainly. I think
that any individual who is a Presidential appointee, and of course.
Directors by law after .T. Edgar Hoover will now be Presidential ap-
pointees, should have the opportunity to report to the head of the
executive branch, in this case, the man who appointed him. Now, as a
matter of practice, in an executive department where things are work-
ing as they should, the head of the FBI would presumably inform the
Attorney General in the first instance that he proposed to see the
President. An Attorney General in those circumstances who tried to
deter him from doing so, I think, would create an internal crisis in the
Department which presumably would have to come to some form of
showdown between them.

Senator MATHIAS. I would agree with you. It seems to me that if
that situation should develop, the Attorney General, however strongly'
he might disagree, would want the Director to take his views to the
President and then he might offer a conflicting opinion which he
might have of his own.

Secretary RICHARDSON. I agree. The situation is somewhat analogous
to the relationship between the Secretary of Defense and the chief of
one of the uniformed services, except that in that instance, it is clear
by statute that the head of one of the uniformed services has the right
to go directly to the President. If things are working as they should,
he would inform the service Secretary and the Secretary of Defense.
But in any event, it is clearly desirable that the Chief of Staff of the
Army or Air Force or the Chief of Naval Operations or the Chairman
of the Joint Chiefs should have the opportunity to deal directly with
the Commander in Chief. I think that essentially is the understanding
you should also apply to the Director of the FBI.

Senator MATHIAS. I agree with you and I am questioning whether
or not the same sort of statutory guarantee should not exist in this
case, not only for this particular kind of circumstance, but whether
there oughtn't to be a firm statutory basis for the FBI and several
other areas. Let me suggest two of them.

One is the question of domestic surveillance. There is some dispuite
as to the authority of the FBI to conduct domestic surveillance.

Secretary RICHARDSON. You are speaking of electronic surveillance?
Senator MATHI S. Yes. There is very clear authority for the FI I

to undertake surveillance in the case of espionage and crime and violent
unrest, attempts to overthrow the Government by violence. There is,
however, no clear statutory authority for domestic surveillanc,,; that
is, political activities which may be suspect but which are not overt
attempts to overthrow the Government bv violence. Atcording to some
constitutional and legal authorities, the FBI's activities in the area
of such domestic surveillance is based solely upojn Executiv e ordeis



that were issued during the state of emergency which was declared by
President Roosevelt in 1939.

Now, 'this takes some historical research and I am not asking you
to give us any opinion off the cuff, but I would like to call your atten-
tion to this situation and to suggest that you consider what legislal ion
might be necessary if in fact, these domestic activities of the FBI are
lased solelv on an Executive order of 1939 based upon the state of
emergency which existed prior to World War 1].

Sec'retarv RIc\rDSON. Had you finished?
Senator MATIII\S. Yes. If yon have any comment on that-
Secretary Ric isoN. Onilv that I think that the point is clearly

an iml)ortant one. You are correct in your surmise that I do not know
enough about it to have an immediate opinion to offer. It certainly is
an area that deserves consideration.

I am aware, of course, of the work you have been doing yourself
with respect to emergency powers and the question of what 'powers
ha, e been exercised pursuant to the declaration of -the state of emer-
gencv that ought to be continued as part of the normal basis under
which Government business is conducted on and after the end of the
emergency has been promulgated. This. of course, is a question that
arises under that heading.

Senator M.TH1TAS. Assming these facts are correct as I have stated
them, would not you think it would be desirable to regularize this
situation so that there are progressive standards, statutory standards,
which assist the FBI by advising them where they are and where they
can go, which I think can help the Congress to do its job of overseeing
tle activities of the FBI, because there is a known standard to which
it is expected to adhere.

Secretary RTCITARDSON,,. The answer to that, I think, is clearly '"Yes."
I jiaeber very well, inst to int,,rject one personal experience, the

one time I ever visited .1. Ed'ar Hoover in his office. I was T.S. at-
tornev for Massachusetts at the time and it was essentially a courtesy
call. but lie made two points that I remember very vividly. The first
was that it was essential to kee) the FBI out of the business of evalu-
ntini" informatio- develoned hv its investio'ations and from drawing
le,,al conclusions from this information: that to undertake to do that
cot d distort the investiaative process.

Th- second i)oint he made was that the FBI should never become
a national police force. And he pointed to a list of statutes he had on
his desk. each of which specifically conferred investigative authority
o,) the FBI with respect to a particular criMic under the I.S. Penal
Code. And he thoufght that was the way it should be. He thought

erbaps the list. if anything, was too long but that in any event, iuris-
diction of the FBI should be conferred on an ad hoc, case-by-case basis
;11 rder to insure that it did not become an investigative agency with,
in finct, a roving commission.

That. of course, is consistent with your point.
Senator MATHIAS. That is exactly the point I am making. I think

there ought to be very precise statutory authority.
Secretary RICHARDSON. I think the people would be somewhat sur-

prised to know how concerned ,T. Edgar Hoover was lest 'a national in-
vestigative agency acquire or have thrust upon it excessive power.
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Senator MTvriAs. Mr. Chairman, do you want to proceed for a few
more minutes or shall we wait until the 5-minute warning?

Senator HART [presiding]. I did not realize there was a vote. Let us
suspend and vote and we will return.

[Recess.]
The CHAIIMAN. Let's have order.
Senator MATHIAS. Arl'. ,ecretarv, in pursuing further the question

of a bette' statutory basis for the FBI. let me turn your attention to
the criminal intelligence data bank. This is, as you know, a com-
puterized body of information into which there can be inputs and
from which there can be readouts of various stations around the
country by the various Federal. local, and State police authorities and
which has a very large number of profiles of individuals. I have been
concerned for a long time that there is no philosophical guideline as
to who holds the key to the data bank, who can use the key and with-
draw information from it. I have felt that the Congress, very frankly,
was delinquent in its duty to oversee this important function which
can affect the right of privacy of every citizen in the country. And there
are, of course, cases where employment agencies, credit bureaus, and
other nonofficial private institutions have gotten information of this
sort. I wonder what steps you would take as Attorney General to safe-
,uard the right of the public?

Secretary RICHARDSOX. First, Senatoi Mathias, I need to know more
about what the present ground rules are and whether even what
ground rules do exist are being stretched or used. This is a subject
that I hare had a considerable amount of interest in. because as at-
torney general of Massachusetts, I worked then with the law enforce-
ment a aencies of the State and registry of motor vehicles in setting
up a computerized data bank of this kind and we ran right off into
problems of the access to the information and potential abuses of
access.

Since then, as Secretary of HEW, I established a committee of
prominent people from all over the country to explore the problems
,of automatic data processing of information about people. This was
triggered by concerns about the potential abuses of social security
numbers, but we decided to broaden the scope of the committee to
include all of the questions of access to personal information stored
in data banks.

'There is. of course, an opportunity for s afeguarding such informa-
tion that does not exist with respect to ordinary typed or handwritten
files, because no one who looks at a tape can get anv information from
,it. This means in turn that it is possible to provide keys, coded keys
-to the tape that can be made available only to those who have a genuine
need or justification to know. I think it is by that route that it should
be possible to safeguard information in the criminal intelligence files
from unauthorized access.

There is on the othier hand. I think, a real public interest in the
-utilization of automatic data processing systems for law enfo-cemrnit,
Tbecause not only of their comi)rehensiveness but the speed with which
:access to information can be obtained and because they offer the means
of correlating information that can be much more effective than cor-
relatinL information in ordinary files.



Senator ATHIIAS. 1 recently visited the M 'aryland State Police and
saw one of their units which connects them into the system. They were
describing its usefulness and its value in police work.

Secretary RIICIARDSON. There is one respect, of course, in which the
rights of individuals can be enhanced through real time access to in-
formation; for exaniple, if a motorist is stopped or if someone has been
observed running down a back alley under what is to police officers
suspicious circumstances. If you have a, fullv automated real time sys-
tem, it is possible for the police officer in a minimm amount of time
to find out whether such an individual may be wanted.

Senator MATIIIAS. Then I would assume that you would be willing to
appoint a similar citizens' committee to examine the Federal system
and its links with State and local systems to insure that there were
guarantees of that sort .

Sec,'etary RICHARDSON. Yes, I would.
Senator MATHIAS. All right, just finally, to make assurance doubly

sure, I am going back for a minute to the question of the special pros-
ecutor. As I review the record, you seem to have said that having once
delegated the powers that are described in the Stevenson formula to
the prosecutor, you will not intervene except in one of three instances:
where the prosecutor was-I think you used the word egregiously-
wrong, where he was arbitrary, or where he was acting capriciously.
Is that still your view?

Secretary RIcHARDSON. Yes, it is.
Senator MATIAS. And you would not intervene under other cir-

cumstances?
Secretary RiciVRIDSORN. That is correct.
Senator MATHIAS. Thank you very much, M'. Secretary.
Senator HART. Mr. Chairman?
The CHAIRMAN. Senator Hart?
Senator HART. What is 'arbitrary? Who decides? You are reserving

the right to make that decision?
Secretary RICHARDSON. Yes.
Senator HART. Is that creation of a free agent to investigate the

White House?
Secretary RICHARDSON. I am sorry, I did not get the last part of that

question.
Senator HART. Well, the last part was sort of oratorical.
If you reserve the right to determine what is or is not arbitrary on

the part of the special prosecutor, you are removing from him his free-
dom-you would say freedom to be arbitrary. I would say his freedom
to do what he thought the facts required of him.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, we would be going, I think, back over
a ood dedl of ground. If it is a question of judgment, falling any-
where within the range between arbitrary and capricious conduct at
one end or sheer irrationality at the other, the mere fact that I dis-
agreed with him would not, it seems to me, justify intervention. So, as
you pointed out yesterday, what, we are really talking about is a kind
of situation in which intervention would only occur as a practical
matter where the role or the relationship had been so severely strained
as to result either in his resignation or his dismissal.



As I said earlier, this is an exceedingly remote circumstance, becai.,e
by definition, the man will be, in the first instance, as has been estab-
li'shed by my own inquiries and by this committee's inquiries, a man
of high integrity, strength of character, professional experience, and
judgment, and that any such individual would behave arbitrarily or
capriciously is so unlikely as, I think, that the possibility wvould be
virtually disregarded.

We are only having to go into this, after all, because it bears on
the question of what do I mean by ultimate responsibility. It is for
that reason solely that we need to explore the matter. But as I have
repeatedly emphasized, the special prosecutor would be within the
range of his delegative authority free to exercise independent
judgment.

Senator MATHIAS. Let me suggest to the Senator from Michigan that
there may be a way in which we could resolve this, and I think it is
a very useful quesiion you raise. "'Arbitrairy" is a word of art which
has beei defined by the courts a number of times; actions of officials
have been held to be invalid because they were arbitrary. Now, is that
the kind of definition of "'arbitrary' we are talking about .

Secretary RICnARDSOX. That is, Senator Mathias. I used the words
"arbitrarv" and "capricions" because they are words of art. They
apply in situations, for example, where an extraordinary writ will lie
and where a court wvill intervene to compel or to restrain action other-
wise normally vested in a public official. And, of course, it is called
an extraordinary writ because it is designed for extreme circumstances.

Senator HART. Well. normally. the suggestions from the Senator
from Maryland are very helpful, but perhaps not in this case. I will
try to explain why.

Sure, "arbitrar'" is defined by the courts on a case-by-case, argu-
ment-by-argumeit, disaitreement-by-disagrcement basis. It is sort of
sui generis. And what I want to find out is, if the man that is 1,ropo~(d
to investigate Watero'ate and its ramifications is going to be able to
operate freely up to thw point that either the President or his Attorney
General feels they want to can him, or whether they are going to argue
about who is arbitrary and reserve to either the President or the At-
tornev General the right to override him.

Se nator MATHIAS. We are right back, really, at the point that the
Secretary described the one divergence with the Stevenson formula,
which was the difference between complete authority and final
authority.

Senator HART. Would the Senator from Marvland a-ree that
there could be no more significant agreement than the one we are now
developing?

Senator 'MATHIAs. And it is the one that the Secretarv has. I think,
himself signaled to us as the key to the whole business.

Senator HAnT. All right. And as I get the Secretary. in part. let me
say, he has ihis concern because of the restrictions he rieads in the law,
that the statute, unless changed-well, it says that you will be the
final-the conduct of litigation is reserved to the Department of Justice
under the direction of the Attorney General. And in reply to Senator
Mathias' question, as you have on other occasions, you have explained
that you feel this bars you from creating a special assistant with full
power. final power.



Now. I sense this may be regarded by inany as repetitious, and
perhaps we can resolve it when we are presented the specific proposal
that you offer to the person who will be designated the special assistant.
I suppose that out exchanges may have been helpful, as you have
indicated, in sharpenino up, making more precise that written agree-
ment. But we will continue, I suppose, to have to dance around this
thing until we see it in writing. I would want to see it in writing before
I assimied the responsibility of confirming.

I would think that anyone you go to with the offer of the job would
want to, if not see it in writing, have a verv clear understanding of
what authority to have.

Well. to test whether the law in fact prevents you creating a special
assistant with full and final authority, let me go through it this way:
That statute that I just read from, excerpted from, has been on the
books for a considerable period of time.

Senator HIustAi. What is its citation?
Senator HaRT. It is 516 of title 28. Reference also should be made to

515 and 510.
But it was clear that one of your predecessors, John Mitchell, dele-

gated full and final responsibility in the ITT antitrust case to Mr.
Kleindienst. Now, he did that because of a conflict. I want to emphasize
that I am not now talking about whether you should regard yourself
as having a personal conflict because of associations with persons in the
administration or not. I am simply citing that instance of an Attorney
General who stepped aside completely, and o\er the years, that has
occurred-I would guess, over a 10-year period it probably occurs a
dozen times. That is a wild guess and I am subject to be corrected if
anybody can find the records. But there have been instances, and let
us examine the particular MNitchell-Kleindienst-ITT one, probe this
duty of the Attorney General to retain final control.

Mr. Secretary, is it your understanding that even though John Mit-
chell had taken himself out of the ITT antitrust litigation, that lie
did or was required to retain the power to override decisions made by
Kleindienst if lie thought them arbitrary, beyond the pale, stupid?
Or was the only thing he could do about it removing Mr. Kleindienst ?

Secretary RICHARDONx. I think that where you have a basis for di -
qualification, whatever it is, the necessary practical consequence is to
give final authority to the next person in the chain of command, sub-
ject, of course, to the President of the UTnited States. In the case of
Attorney General Mitchell and the ITT, the second man in line was
the Deputy. Mr. Kleindienst, and in normal situations where the See-
retarv or rather, the Attorney General, disqualified himself, it would
bp the Deputy who, under departmental regulations, at least, becomes
acting for that purpose. And if there were a basis for disqualification
or if I were in effect to disqualif" myself in this matter, then pre-
sumably, under existing regulations, the Deputy would be acting. If
he disqualified himself, and I do not know any reason why lie should,
then presumably the special prosecutor would be responsible only to
the President. I know of no way constitutionally whereby any individ-
ual who has been vested with prosecutorial responsibility can be re-
moved from responsibility to a superior within the executive branch.
There is at least one :Supreme Court decision which holds the functions



of investigation and prosecution to be executive branch functions. Paul
Bator in a piece in the New York Times today, raises the same point.
I think these are facts also which need to be considered.

Senator HART. Well, Professor Bator. all he was reminding us today
was that we cannot create a prosecutor outside the Executive. But I
return to the Mitchell-Kleindienst-ITT thing and ask if that does not
represent an example in support of the proposition that one is not re-
quired to retain final decision in a matter before the Justice Depart-
ment as a matter of law.

Secretary RICHARDSON. One could renounce it, and where he is dis-
qualified, there really is no alternative. But this brings us, really, back
to the beoinning of our colloquy on the first day. I really have to
examine the question of whether I should be disqualified, and I have
f-iven the answer, essentially, that the law reouires the Attorney Gen-
eral, as I understand it, unless he is disqualified, at least to exercise
some form of ultimate responsibility. In any event, if I felt that I
should be wholly barred from any communication in this matter or
any ultimate responsibility at all, even in this statutory sense, then I
should neither have been proposed for this nomination nor should I
be confirmed.

Senator HART. Well, that does bring us back to our very first few
minutes of exchange.

Make an assumption that the people of this country are not sure
what went on, that some of them indicate they believe that the Presi-
dent himself was either careless or callous following upon the break-in
of Watergate. Inescapably, the Attorney General of that President
would not be regarded by a person with those reservations and concerns
as one on whom they could connt'to develop an answer to their problem
and their concern. That the President's Attorney General is part of the
institution of the Executive. I do not know whether there has ever
been a disoualification that could be described as an institutional one,
but I think there should be, because the appearance makes unlikely
the acceptance by that very large segment of the public that I have
described of a finding that the President was neither callous nor care-
les;. I believe that if the facts led to the involvement of the President.
Elliot Richardson. whether he had a special prosecutor or not, would
name, the President. The real problem is if the facts do not involve the
Presiripnt, who will believe Elliot Richardson when he says they do
not? What we are after, and I think there is no more serious duty on
this Senate. is t o attemut to create the apnearance that will provide
acceptance by the people of this country of this kind of conclusion.

Now, I ask you a,ain if there is anything under the law that would
prevent vou describin!r this problem, establishing a special prosecutor
who will have full and final authority to seek the answer to the prob-
lem I have named without any veto power by you, without any in-
fluence by you. without any suggestion or direction? And if lie goes
off the deep end, fire him.

Secretary RICHARDSON. Well, I have already said. Senator, that the
measure of the ultimate responsibility I am talking about is the respon-
sibility in the first instance for selecting him and commending him
to this committee and the Senate. and for taking action should he in
effect go off the deep end. The kinds of action that I have characterized
as arbitrary or capricious or irrational or egregiously wronq are all



actions which are symptoinatic of going off the deep end and it would
only 'be in that event that any action on MNI part would be called for,
except to the extent that the man chooses to consult me and to the
extent that, I would feel some obli'gation to keep informed. If it is a
question of total insulation, then it would seem to me that there has
been no purpose served by the effort. to bring to bear what I have
referred to as in effect a three-layered insurance policy-a four-layered
one if you add the Ervin committee-the elements of which are my-
self, the full authority conferred on the special prosecutor, and the
character of that individual himself. I think that is in a way a greater
measure of assurance of integrity and fairness in the ultimate result
than might be reached in some other way.

In any event, it is important to consider the alternatives. I do not
see how, practically, a totally indemendent authority can be created.
We have discussed that before. If it were and if it is, as I believe it
would be, part of the executive branch, it would in any event be respon-
sible to the President, in whom ultimate Executive authority is vested.

So, then, the question is, How is the public to have confidence? I
have alreadv referred to what it seems to me is a combination of safe-
guards sufficient to provide that confidence. Beyond that, when it comes
to a question of whether or not a negative can be proved-that is, that
an accused is not guilty-it is one thing to have a standard of proof
that has to be overcome in order for a guilt to be established. Many
people, however, of course, confuse a not guilty verdict with a declara-
tion of innocence. It is not.

Now, if what is needed here is a declaration of innocence, no special
prosecutor can provide that. There has to be then invoked some other
mechanism. The Ervin committee could he such a mechanism. I heard
yesterday the possibility that it might be desirable at some subseouent
stage when the special prosecutor has substantially completed or fully
completed his job, that some panel be created that could review the
whole record of what he did, and I think that that might be desirable
no matter how his function is constituted or to whom he reports.

Anr man given that job is going to face the difficult decision
whether, in a given instance, a particular nerson suspected or alleged
to be involved in wrongdoing should not be indicted or whether, in-
dictment having, been brought, the case ought later to be dismissed
because the evidence anticipated did not add up or because more effec-
tive rebuttal witnesses were produced than anticipated. It is much
easier for a prosecutor to seek and get indictments nd t o hare abed
without re.ard to the reputations and rights of individuals then it is
for him to decline prosecution or to stop further progress of a criminal
Droceedin r. Even a special prosecutor, even one operating under an
inderendent agency, who had to take that decision in a given case,
mi&ht in time come to be regarded as in some wav subject to suspicion.
So if it is a negative that has to be proved in the end, then, as I say,
it mav remire some eventual separate, new mechanism to approximate
tht result.

The CHAIRMAN. We are going to recess subject to the call of the
Chair.

Senator HART. Could I ask that there be printed in the record Pro-
fessor Bator's article?

The CHAIRMAX. We will put that in the record.
95-389-73-10
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[The above referred to article follows:]

A W ATERGATE 'WARREN COMAIISSION"

(By Paul M. Bator)

CAMBRIDGE. MASs.-Ambiguities and confusions abound in the dis(ussiins of
an independent prosecutor in the Watergate case.

There is, first, the question of what it is that we want. Is it simply an impartial
and independent investigation and airing of the facts? If so, what we need is not
a special prosecutor appointed by the Attorney General but a person or group
appointed to function as a commission of inquiry as, for instance, the Warren
Commission. Such a person or group can be made completely independent of the
executive branch and given subpoena and other necessary powers.

But this it not what is primarily talked about. What is sought is, a prosecutor
whose purpose in making- an investization would be to determine whether
criminal charges should be brought and, in the event, to press them.

But if this is what is in mind. then the extent to which we can or should
demand independence may be limited. It is highly doubtful that the function of
bringing criminal prosecutions on behalf of the United States can be taken away
from the executive branch of the Government. The Constitution vests executive
power in the President and commands him to take "care that the laws be faith-
fully executed." The enforcement of Federal criminal law is a central part of the
function of executing the laws. For the Congress or anyone else to purport to
create an agency wholly independent from the executive branch with power to
enforce the criminal law would probably be unconstitutional. It may also be
unwise.

The Watergate prosecutor should be independent but he must also be ac-
countable. There sbould be someone to pass on his performance with power (to
put it brutally) to fire him. Until impeached, the President (or his officers) must
retain that authority.

Elliot Richardson. nominated to be Attorney General, is therefore on sound
ground when he insists that the independent prosecutor must ultimately lie
accountable to and subject to the authority of the Attorney General and the
President.

But this does not mean that the prosecutor cannot be given wide de facto
independence. Mr. Richardson should draft instructions which make it clear
that the prosecutor may proceed to subpoena (and procure immunity for) wit-
nesses and to seek indictments without advance clearance from him. Indeed, it
would be quite legitimate and desirable to instruct the prosecutor to engage in
no advance consultations witl Ml. Richardson. But this is not the equivalent of
total independence. The prosecutor should be required to report from time to
time to the Attorney General, who must retain the power to appraise his per-
formance and to fire him if necessary.

I appreciate that even this creates an uncomfortable dilemma. Many do not
trust the President in this matter: how can they trust the prosecutor if he i
in any wa, accountable to the Presi(lent? My answer is that to some extent the
dilemma is unsolvable: under our Constitution. lack of confidence in the Presi-
dency does not justify creating an extraconstitutional independent nrosecuting
authority. Notice, however, that the solvent of public opinion alleviates the
dilemma: the best guarantee of the prosecutor's independence will be his ability to
say to the public that tbe President (or Mr. Richardson) is interfering with the
imnartial execution of his functions.

And one asnect- ierhaps the most significant aspect-of the dilemma is. I
believe, solvable. The executive branch is not the proper authority to pass on the
question whether the President should be impeached. It would be proper. I believe.
to insulate from the executive's authority eviden-e discovered by the prosecutor
bearing on Presidential misconduct. Mr. Richardson should instruct the prose-
cutor to transmit any such evidence directly to the House of Representative.
which should authorize its Judiciary Committee (or create a select committee)
to receive and consider it.

The CH M\N . We are recessed to the call of the Chair now. It
won't be tomorrow.

[Whereupon at -1:15 p.m.. the committee recessed subject to the call
of the Chair.]


